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Under the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the ñProgrammeò) described in this Base Prospectus (as defined below), each of Mediobanca - 

Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. (ñMediobancaò) and Mediobanca International (Luxembourg) S.A. (ñMediobanca Internationalò) (each, an ñIssuerò and 

together the ñIssuersò) may from time to time issue senior preferred notes (the ñSenior Preferred Notesò) and Mediobanca may from time to time issue senior non 
preferred notes (the ñSenior Non Preferred Notesò and, together with the Senior Preferred Notes, the ñSenior Notesò) and subordinated notes (ñSubordinated 

Notesò and, together with the Senior Notes, the ñNotesò), subject in each case to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives. The payment of all 

amounts due in respect of any Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Mediobanca (in such 
capacity, the ñGuarantorò) under a deed of guarantee and subject to the limitations thereof executed by the Guarantor and dated 16 December 2019 (the ñDeed of 

Guaranteeò) (see ñGeneral Description of the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programmeò ï ñStatus of the Guaranteeò on page 29). Notes issued 

under the Programme (other than the Senior Non Preferred Notes) will have denominations of not less than EUR 1,000 (or, where the Notes are denominated in a 
currency other than Euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency), while Senior Non Preferred Notes issued under the Programme will have a denomination of 

at least EUR 250,000 (or, where the Senior Non Preferred Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency). 

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of these risks, see ñRisk Factorsò beginning on page 2. 
This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank of Ireland (the ñCentral Bankò) as competent authority under the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the 

ñProspectus Regulationò), the Central Bank only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed 
under Irish and EU law pursuant to the Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuers or of the quality of the Notes 

that are the subject of this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes. Such approval relates only to the 

Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (the "MiFID II ò) and/or which are to be 
offered to the public, in any Member State of the European Economic Area. Application will be made to the Irish Stock Exchange plc trading as Euronext Dublin 

(ñEuronext Dublinò) for Notes issued under the Programme during the period of 12 months after the date hereof to be admitted to the official list (the ñOfficial Listò) 

of Euronext Dublin and to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Dublin, which is a regulated market for the purpose of MiFID II.  
The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading (as the case may be) on such other or further stock exchange(s) or market(s) as may be 

agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) and the relevant Dealer (as defined in ñPlan of Distributionò). Unlisted Notes or Notes not 

admitted to trading on any market may also be issued. This Base Prospectus comprises two base prospectuses (one for each Issuer, each of which referred to herein as 
the ñBase Prospectusò) for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation. 

The Central Bank may, at the request of the relevant Issuer, send to the competent authority of another European Economic Area Member State (i) a copy of this Base 

Prospectus; and (ii) a certificate of approval pursuant to Article 25 of the Prospectus Regulation attesting that this Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance 
with the Prospectus Regulation (a ñCertificate of Approvalò). 

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not 

contained herein which are applicable to each Tranche (as defined below) of Notes will be set out, in the final terms (the ñFinal Termsò) which, with respect to Notes 
to be listed on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin, will be delivered to the Euronext Dublin. 

For the terms and conditions of the Notes governed by English law to be issued under the Programme (the ñEnglish Law Notesò) see ñTerms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notesò below (the ñTerms and Conditions of the English Law Notesò) and for the terms and conditions of the Notes governed by Italian law to be 
issued under the Programme (the ñItalian Law Notesò) see ñTerms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notesò below (the ñTerms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notesò). References to the ñNotesò shall be to the Notes governed by English law and/or Italian law, as appropriate and references to the ñTerms and Conditionsò or 

the ñConditionsò shall be to the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and/or the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, as appropriate.  
The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the ñSecurities Actò), or any state securities laws, and may not 

be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, any U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) except pursuant 

to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Notes will be offered and sold in offshore transactions 
outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. The Notes will be in bearer form and as such are subject to certain U.S. tax law 

requirements. 

Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to EURIBOR, LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN or CMS which are respectively provided by the European 
Money Markets Institute (ñEMMIò) for EURIBOR and ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (ñICEò) for LIBOR and CMS. as specified in the relevant Final 

Terms. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, both EMMI and ICE appear on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by European 

Securities and Markets Authority (ñESMAò) pursuant to Article 36 of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011(the ñBenchmarks Regulationò). 
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IMPORTANT NOTICES  

This document constitutes a Base Prospectus for each Issuer for the purposes of the Prospectus 

Regulation. 

Responsibility for this Base Prospectus 

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the information contained in this 

document and, to the best of the knowledge of each of the Issuers and the Guarantor (which have taken 

all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Base Prospectus is 

in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries confirms that (i) this Base 

Prospectus contains all information with respect to each of the Issuers, the Guarantor, and their 

subsidiaries taken as a whole (the ñGroupò or the ñMediobanca Groupò), the Notes, and the deed of 

guarantee executed by the Guarantor and dated 16 December 2019 with respect to Senior Preferred 

Notes issued by Mediobanca International (the ñDeed of Guaranteeò) which is material in the context of 

the issue and offering of Notes, (ii) the statements contained in this Base Prospectus relating to each of 

the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Group are in every material respect true and accurate and not 

misleading, the opinions and intentions expressed in this Base Prospectus with regard to the Issuers, the 

Guarantor and the Group are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant 

circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions, (iii) there are no other facts in relation to each 

of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Group, the Notes or the Deed of Guarantee the omission of which 

would, in the context of the issue and offering of Notes, make any statement in this Base Prospectus 

misleading in any material respect and (iv) all reasonable enquiries have been made by each of the 

Issuers and the Guarantor to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and 

statements. 

Final Terms/Drawdown Prospectus 

Each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will be issued on the terms set out hereunder ñTerms and 

Conditions of the Notesò (the ñConditionsò) and in a document specific to such Tranche called final 

terms (the ñFinal Termsò) or in a separate prospectus specific to such Tranche (the ñDrawdown 

Prospectusò) as described under ñFinal Terms, Supplements and Further Prospectusesò below. 

Public Offers of Notes in the European Economic Area and in the United Kingdom 

Certain Tranches of Notes (other than the Senior Non Preferred Notes which shall have a denomination of 

at least EUR 250,000) with a denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other 

currency) may, subject as provided below, be offered in any Member State of the European Economic 

Area or in the United Kingdom in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under 

the Prospectus Regulation to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to in this Base Prospectus as 

a ñPublic Offerò. This Base Prospectus has been prepared on a basis that permits Public Offers of Notes 

in Ireland (a ñPublic Offer Jurisdictionò). Any person making or intending to make a Public Offer of 

Notes in a Public Offer Jurisdiction on the basis of this Base Prospectus must do so only with the consent 

of the Issuer ï see ñConsent given in accordance with Article 5(1) of the Prospectus Regulation (Retail 

Cascades)ò below. 

If after the date of this Base Prospectus the Issuer intends to add one or more Member States to the list of 

Public Offer Jurisdictions for any purpose, it will prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus specifying 

such Member State(s) and any relevant additional information required by the Prospectus Regulation. 

Such supplement will also set out provisions relating to the consent of the Issuer to the use of this Base 

Prospectus in connection with any Public Offer in any such additional Public Offer Jurisdiction. 

In the context of any Public Offer of Notes in a Public Offer Jurisdiction, the Issuer accept responsibility 

in that Public Offer Jurisdiction, for the content of this Base Prospectus in relation to any person (an 

ñInvestorò) who purchases any Notes in that Public Offer Jurisdiction made by a Dealer or an Authorised 

Offeror (as defined below), where that offer is made during the Offer Period (as defined below). 

Except in the circumstances described below, neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor has authorised the 

making of any offer by any offeror and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor has consented to the use of 

this Base Prospectus by any other person in connection with any offer of the Notes in any jurisdiction. 
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Consent given in accordance with Article 5(1) of the Prospectus Regulation (Retail Cascades) 

Any offer made without the consent of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) is unauthorised 

and neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor (as applicable), nor, for the avoidance of doubt, any of 

the Dealers accepts any responsibility or liability in relation to such offer or for the actions of the persons 

making any such unauthorised offer. 

If, in the context of a Public Offer, an Investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an Authorised 

Offeror, the Investor should check with such person whether anyone is responsible for this Base 

Prospectus for the purpose of the relevant Public Offer and, if so, who that person is. 

If an Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible 

for its contents, the Investor should take legal advice. 

Consent to the use of this Base Prospectus 

Common conditions to Consent 

The conditions to the consent of the Issuers and the Guarantor are (in addition to the conditions described 

in either sub-paragraph (a) (Specific Consent) or sub-paragraph (b) (General Consent) under ñSpecific 

Consent and General Consentò below) that such consent: 

(i) is only valid in respect of the relevant Tranche of Notes; 

(ii)  is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(iii)  only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Public Offers of the relevant Tranche of 

Notes in such of the Public Offer Jurisdictions as are specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

The consent referred to above relates to Public Offers occurring within twelve months from the date of 

this Base Prospectus. 

Specific Consent and General Consent 

Subject to the conditions set out above under ñCommon Conditions to Consentò, each of the Issuers and 

the Guarantor consents to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of Notes in 

any Public Offer Jurisdiction by: 

(a) Specific Consent: 

(i) the Dealers specified in the relevant Final Terms; 

(ii)  any financial intermediaries specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(iii)  any financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms and 

whose name is published on the website of the Issuers (https://mediobanca.com) and 

identified as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the relevant Public Offer; and 

(b) General Consent: 

if General Consent is specified in the relevant Final Terms as applicable, any other financial 

intermediary which: 

(i) is authorised to make such offers under Directive 2014/65/EU of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments, as 

amended, including under any applicable implementing measure in each relevant 

jurisdiction (ñMiFID II ò); and 
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(ii)  accepts such offer by publishing on its website the following statement (with the 

information in square brackets duly completed with the relevant information) (the 

ñAcceptance Statementò): 

ñWe, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the [insert title of relevant 

Notes] (the ñNotesò) described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] (the ñFinal 

Termsò) published by [ISSUER] (the ñIssuerò) and [GUARANTOR] (the 

ñGuarantorò). 

In consideration of the Issuer [and the Guarantor] offering to grant their consent to our 

use of the Base Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in connection with the offer of 

the Notes in [insert name(s) of relevant Public Offer Jurisdiction(s)] during the Offer 

Period in accordance with the Authorised Offeror Terms (as specified in the Base 

Prospectus), we accept the offer by the Issuer [and Guarantor]. We confirm that we are 

authorised under MiFID II to make, and are using the Base Prospectus in connection 

with, the Public Offer accordingly. 

Terms used herein and otherwise not defined shall have the same meaning as given to such terms in the 

Base Prospectus.ò 

Any financial intermediary falling within this sub-paragraph (b) who wishes to use this Base Prospectus 

in connection with a Public Offer is required, for the duration of the relevant Offer Period specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, to publish a duly completed Acceptance Statement on its website. 

Authorised Offerors 

The financial intermediaries referred to in sub-paragraphs (a)(ii) and (a)(iii) and sub-paragraph (b), above, 

are together referred to herein as the ñAuthorised Offerorsò. 

Arrangements between an Investor and the Authorised Offeror who will distribute the Notes 

Neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor (nor, for the avoidance of doubt, any of the Dealers) has any 

responsibility for any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including compliance by an Authorised 

Offeror with applicable conduct of business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other 

securities law requirements in relation to such offer. 

AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO ACQUIRE OR ACQUIRING ANY NOTES IN A PUBLIC OFFER 

FROM AN AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH NOTES 

TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH ANY TERMS AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH AUTHORISED 

OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS, EXPENSES AND 

SETTLEMENT ARRANGEMENTS. NEITHER THE ISSUERS NOR THE GUARANTOR WILL BE A 

PARTY TO ANY SUCH ARRANGEMENTS WITH SUCH INVESTORS IN CONNECTION WITH 

THE PUBLIC OFFER OR SALE OF THE NOTES CONCERNED AND, ACCORDINGLY, THIS 

BASE PROSPECTUS AND ANY FINAL TERMS WILL NOT CONTAIN SUCH INFORMATION. 

THE INVESTOR MUST LOOK TO THE RELEVANT AUTHORISED OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF 

SUCH OFFER FOR THE PROVISION OF SUCH INFORMATION AND THE AUTHORISED 

OFFEROR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH INFORMATION. NONE OF THE ISSUERS, THE 

GUARANTOR AND THE DEALERS HAS ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN 

INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF SUCH INFORMATION. 

IN THE EVENT OF AN OFFER BEING MADE BY A FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY, SUCH 

FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY WILL PROVIDE INFORMATION TO INVESTORS ON THE 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER AT THE TIME THE OFFER IS MADE. 

Public Offers: Issue Price and Offer Price 

Notes to be offered pursuant to a Public Offer will be issued by the relevant Issuer at the Issue Price 

specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Issue Price will be determined by the relevant Issuer and the 

Guarantor (as applicable) in consultation with the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of the relevant Public 

Offer and will depend, amongst other things, on the interest rate applicable to the Notes and prevailing 

market conditions at that time. The offer price of such Notes will be the Issue Price or such other price as 
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may be agreed between an Investor and the Authorised Offeror making the offer of the Notes to such 

Investor. Neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor will be party to arrangements between an Investor and an 

Authorised Offeror, and the Investor will need to look to the relevant Authorised Offeror to confirm the 

price at which such Authorised Offeror is offering the Notes to such Investor. 

Other relevant information 

The language of this Base Prospectus is in English. Any foreign language text that is included with or 

within this Base Prospectus has been included for convenience purposes only and does not form part of 

this Base Prospectus. 

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed with any supplement hereto and with any other 

documents incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, should be read and 

construed together with the relevant Final Terms. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject 

of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or 

identified in the relevant Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to such information 

being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise. 

Purchases of Notes may be made through a duly appointed Dealer of the relevant Issuer. The relevant 

Issuer may also offer and sell Notes directly to investors without the involvement of any Dealer. 

The Issuers and the Guarantor will enter into a Dealer Agreement with the Dealers in connection with 

the issue of Notes for the purpose of the distribution of the Notes to prospective investors. Pursuant to the 

terms of the Dealer Agreement, the relevant Issuer may appoint one or more Dealer(s) under the 

Programme to subscribe or procure subscribers for all or part of the Notes of the relevant Series. See the 

section on ñPlan of Distributionò in this Base Prospectus for further details. This Base Prospectus does 

not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of either the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of 

the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes. 

The Dealers and PricewaterhouseCoopers, as auditor to Mediobanca International, have not separately 

verified the information contained in this Base Prospectus. None of the Dealers makes any representation 

express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of 

the information in this Base Prospectus. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any financial statements are 

intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a 

recommendation by either of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this 

Base Prospectus or any financial statements should purchase any Notes. 

Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained 

in this Base Prospectus and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems 

necessary. None of the Dealers undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuers or 

the Guarantor during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus nor to advise 

any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the 

Dealers. 

Unauthorised information 

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or 

not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme 

or any information supplied by any of the Issuers or the Guarantor or such other information as is in the 

public domain and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as 

having been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers. 

Neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates have authorised the whole or any part of this 

Base Prospectus and none of them makes any representation or warranty or accepts any responsibility as 

to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Base Prospectus. Neither the 

delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, 

under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of any of the 

Issuers or the Guarantor since the date hereof or the date upon which this document has been most 

recently supplemented or that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve 

any adverse change, in the financial position of any of the Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof 

or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that any other 
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information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date 

on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. 

Restrictions on distribution 

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering or sale of Notes in certain jurisdictions may be 

restricted by law. Each of the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Dealers do not represent that this Base 

Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any 

applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption 

available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. No 

Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, to the public, and neither this Base Prospectus nor 

any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except 

under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons 

into whose possession this Base Prospectus, any Notes may come must inform themselves about, and 

observe any such restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of 

Notes. In particular, the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and are 

subject to U.S. tax law requirements. 

This Base Prospectus has been prepared by the Issuers and the Guarantor for use in connection with the 

offer and sale of Notes in reliance upon Regulation S of the Securities Act outside the United States to 

non-U.S. persons or in transactions otherwise exempt from registration. Its use for any other purpose in 

the United States is not authorised. It may not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part nor may it be 

distributed or any of its contents disclosed to anyone other than the prospective investors to whom it is 

originally submitted. 

The Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, any 

state securities commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor have any of 

the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of the Notes or the accuracy 

or the adequacy of this Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the 

United States. 

For a description of additional restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or 

sale of Notes in the United States, the European Economic Area (including the United Kingdom and 

Italy) and other jurisdictions, see ñPlan of Distributionò. 

PRIIPs/ IMPORTANT - EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any 

Notes includes a legend entitled ñProhibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investorsò, the Notes are 

not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or 

otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (ñEEAò) or in the 

United Kingdom (ñUKò). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: 

(i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, ñMiFID 

IIò); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU, (as amended, the ñInsurance 

Distribution Directiveò), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in 

point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 

2017/1129 (the ñProspectus Regulationò). Consequently, no key information document required by 

Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014 (as amended, the ñPRIIPs Regulationò) for offering or selling the Notes 

or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and 

therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the 

EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation. 

MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Final Terms in respect of any Notes 

may include a legend entitled ñMiFID II Product Governanceò which will outline the target market 

assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any 

person subsequently offering, selling or recommending such Notes (a ñdistributorò) should take into 

consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for 

undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the 

target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. A determination will be 

made at the time of issue about whether, for the purpose of the product governance rules under EU 

Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the ñMiFID Product Governance Rulesò), any Dealer subscribing for a 

Tranche of Notes is a manufacturer in respect of that Tranche, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the 
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Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product 

Governance Rules. 

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore 

(the SFA) - Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms in respect of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be 

issued under the Programme shall be prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities 

and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as 

defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-

N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). 

Benchmarks Regulation - Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to 

EURIBOR, LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN or CMS which are respectively provided by the European Money 

Markets Institute (ñEMMIò) for EURIBOR and ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (ñICEò) for 

LIBOR and CMS. At the date of this Base Prospectus, both ICE and EMMI have been authorised as 

regulated benchmark administrators pursuant to Article 34 of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the 

ñBenchmarks Regulationò) and appear on the public register of administrators established and 

maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ñESMAò) pursuant to Article 36 of the 

Benchmarks Regulation.  
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STABILISATION  

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the 

Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s) (the ñStabilising 

Manager(s)ò)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to 

supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. 

However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date 

on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made 

and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue 

date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche 

of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising 

Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager) in accordance with all applicable 

laws and rules. 

*****  

Notes may be issued on a continuous basis in series (each, a ñSeriesò) having one or more issue dates 

and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the 

Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series 

may be issued in tranches (each, a ñTrancheò) on different issue dates. The specific terms of each 

Tranche (which, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and principal 

amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set 

forth in the relevant Final Terms, the form of which is set out in ñForm of Final Termsò below. 

The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time under the Programme 

will not exceed Euro 40,000,000,000 (and for this purpose, any Notes denominated in another currency 

shall be translated into Euro at the date of the agreement to issue such Notes calculated in accordance 

with the provisions of the Dealer Agreement, as defined under ñPlan of Distributionò). The maximum 

aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be outstanding at any one time under the Programme 

may be increased from time to time, subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Dealer 

Agreement. 

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires: references to 

ñMember Stateò are references to Member States of the European Economic Area, references to the 

ñUKò are references to the United Kingdom; references toò$ò, ñU.S.$ò, ñUSDò and ñUS Dollarsò are 

to the lawful currency of the United States of America; references to ñEuroò are to the single currency 

introduced at the start of the third stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the 

Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended; references to ñ£ò ñGBPò and ñPounds 

Sterlingò are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom; and references to ñYenò are to the lawful 

currency of Japan. 

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is 

rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating(s) described herein or the rating(s) 

assigned to Notes already issued. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to a 

relevant Tranche of Notes will be (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA or in the UK 

and registered under the CRA Regulation, or (2) issued by a credit rating agency which is not established 

in the EEA but will be endorsed by a credit rating agency which is established in the EEA or in the UK 

and registered under the CRA Regulation, or (3) issued by a credit rating agency which is not established 

in the EEA or in the UK but which is certified under the CRA Regulation, will be disclosed in the Final 

Terms. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, 

reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 
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RISK FACTORS 

Any investment in the Notes is subject to a number of risks. In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk 

that the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable) may become insolvent or otherwise be unable to 

make all payments due in respect of the Notes.  

The Issuers have identified and described in this section a number of factors which could materially 

adversely affect their businesses and ability to make payments due under the Notes. Most of these factors 

are contingencies that may or may not occur.  However, the inability of the relevant Issuer or the 

Guarantor to pay interest or repay principal on the Notes may occur for other reasons which may not be 

considered significant risks by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor based on the information currently 

available to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate. 

The risks that are specific to the Issuer are presented in 3 categories, and those specific to the Notes are 

presented in 2 categories, in each case with the most material risk factor presented first in each category 

and the remaining risk factors presented in an order which is not intended to be indicative either of the 

likelihood that each risk will materialise or of the magnitude of its potential impact on the business, 

financial condition and results of operations of the Issuers. 

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere and incorporated by 

reference in this Base Prospectus and consider carefully whether an investment in the Notes is suitable 

for them in the light of the information in this Base Prospectus and their personal circumstances, based 

upon their own judgement and upon advice from such financial, legal and tax advisers as they have 

deemed necessary, prior to making any investment decision. 

Words and expressions defined in ñTerms and Conditions of the English Law Notes" and "Terms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes" or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus have the same meaning in this 

section. Prospective investors should read the whole of this Base Prospectus, including the information 

incorporated by reference. Unless otherwise specified, the term "Terms and Conditions" shall refer to 

both the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notes and any reference to a "Condition" shall be to both a Condition under the Terms and Conditions of 

the English Law Notes and a Condition under the Terms and Conditions of the Italian. 

1. MATERIAL RISKS THAT ARE SPECIFIC TO THE ISSUER S AND THAT MAY AFFECT 

THE ISSUERSô ABILITY TO FULFIL THEIR  OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE NOTES  

The risks below have been classified into the following categories: 

(A) Risks relating to the Issuersô activities and the market where the Issuers operate; 

(B) Risks relating to the Issuersô financial situation; 

(C) Risks relating to the legal and regulatory framework. 

(A) RISK FACTORS RELATING  TO THE ISSUERSô ACTIVITIES AND THE MARKET WHERE THE ISSUERS 

AND THE GROUP OPERATE.  

Systemic risks in connection with the economic/financial crisis and the Covid-19 Pandemic 

The evolution of the macroeconomic scenario could negatively affect the economic and financial situation 

of the Issuer and/or of the Mediobanca Group, and in particular its liquidity, profitability and capital 

solidity, leading the Issuers and/or the Mediobanca Group to incur losses, increase the cost of financing 

and reduce the value of assets held.  

The Issuersô performance is also influenced by the general economic situation, both national and for the 

Eurozone as a whole, and by the trend on financial markets, in particular by the solidity and growth 

prospects of the geographical areas in which the Issuers operate. The macroeconomic scenario currently 

reflects considerable areas of uncertainty, in relation to: (a)  the trends in the real economy with reference 

to the prospects of recovery and growth in the national economy and/or resilience of growth in the 

economies of those countries, such as the United States and China, which have delivered growth, even 
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substantial, in recent years; (b) future developments in the monetary policy of the European Central Bank 

for the Eurozone area, and the U.S. Federal Reserve Board for the US dollar area, and the policies 

implemented by various countries to devalue their own currencies for competitive reasons; (c) the 

sustainability of the sovereign debt of certain countries, and the tensions noted more or less frequently on 

financial markets. 

In this respect, the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic, which began in China at the end of January 2020 and 

expanded globally in a few months, has had and is still having significant negative consequences on the 

overall scenario and in turn on the Italian banking sector in which the Issuer operates. Furthermore, the 

measures implemented by the competent authorities, and mainly the Italian Government, on the one side, 

helped facing the health emergency, while on the other had massive negative consequences in human, 

social and economic terms. Indeed, such measures led to a reduction in revenues on the majority of the 

corporate customers, an increase of costs related to the actions necessary to contain and prevent the 

spread of Covid-19 and, in turn, on the ability to pay existing debt (potentially also vis-à-vis the Issuer) 

and on current employment levels. Any of such circumstances may have an impact on the Issuersô results 

and, in turn, on the Issuersô ability to pay interest or repay principal under the Covered Bonds. 

Despite the actions taken so far by the Italian government, the regulatory bodies of the European Union 

and the relevant member states to mitigate the negative impacts of the anti-Covid-19 measures and 

support the economic recovery, significant uncertainties still remain about the evolution, severity and 

duration of the pandemic.Should the Covid-19 pandemic and the consequent economic crisis situation 

persist in the forthcoming months, further negative impacts may arise on the Issuersô business situation, 

also due to the fact that such crisis situation increase the materiality of most of the risks to which the 

Issuer is exposed to, which are detailed below, and in turn the Groupôs results and financial condition 

might be materially adversely affected. 

The Issuersô financial results are affected by changes in interest rates 

Fluctuations in interest rates in Italy and in the other markets in which the Mediobanca Group operates 

influence the Mediobanca Groupôs performance. The results of each Issuerôs banking operations are 

affected by its management of interest rate sensitivity (i.e. Interest rate sensitivity refers to the 

relationship between changes in market interest rates and changes in net interest income. A mismatch of 

interest- earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities in any given period, which tends to accompany 

changes in interest rates, may have a material effect on the Issuersô financial condition or results of 

operations. 

The Issuers' financial results may be affected by market declines and volatility 

The results of the Issuers may be affected by general economic, financial and other business conditions.  

During recessionary periods, there may be less demand for loan products and a greater number of the 

Issuers' customers may default on their loans or other obligations.  Interest rate rises may also impact the 

demand for mortgages and other loan products. The risk arising from the impact of the economy and 

business climate on the credit quality of the Issuers' borrowers and counterparties, including sovereign 

states, can affect the overall credit quality and the recoverability of loans and amounts due from 

counterparties. 

The Issuers are therefore exposed by its very nature to potential changes in the value of financial 

instruments, including securities issued by sovereign states, due to fluctuations in interest rates, exchange 

rates and currencies, stock market and commodities prices and credit spreads, and/or other risks. 

The Issuers are subject to credit risk and market risk 

Credit risk relates to the risk of loss arising from counterparty default or, more generally, from 

counterparties failure to perform their contractual obligations. Therefore, the Issuersô business depends 

on the creditworthiness of its borrowers and counterparties, including sovereign states, which can affect 

the recoverability of loans and amounts due to the Issuers. 

Notwithstanding any policy implemented to hedge or otherwise manage their exposure to credit risk, the 

Issuers may not have access to all relevant information regarding its customers and their financial 

position, before granting loans. Any failure to properly understand the financial and economic profile of 



 

 

4 

 

 

their customers could have an adverse effect on the Issuersô business and financial results. 

In addition, during recessionary periods, there may be less demand for loan products and a greater 

number of the Issuers' customers may default on their loans or other obligations.  Interest rate rises may 

also impact the demand for mortgages and other loan products. The risk arising from the impact of the 

economy and business climate on the credit quality of the Issuers' borrowers and counterparties, 

including sovereign states, can affect the overall credit quality and the recoverability of loans and 

amounts due from counterparties, with a consequent negative impact on the Issuersô business and 

financial results.  

Market risk relates to the risk arising from market transactions in connection with financial instruments, 

currencies and commodities.  The Issuers' trading revenues are dependent upon its ability to identify 

properly, and mark to market, changes in the value of financial instruments caused by changes in market 

prices or interest rates.  The Issuers' financial results also depend upon how effectively the Issuers 

determine and assesse the cost of credit and manages their credit risk and market risk concentration. In 

addition, due to market fluctuations, weak economic conditions and/or a decline in stock and bond prices, 

trading volumes or liquidity, the Issuersô financial results may also be affected by a downturn in the 

revenues deriving from their margin interests, principal transactions, investment banking and securities 

trading fees and brokerage activities. 

The credit and capital markets have been experiencing extreme volatility and disruption in recent months. 

To the extent that any of the instruments and strategies the Issuers use to hedge or otherwise manage their 

exposure to credit or capital markets risk are not effective, the Issuers may not be able to mitigate 

effectively their risk exposures in particular market environments or against particular types of risk. The 

Issuersô trading revenues and interest rate risk are dependent upon their ability to identify properly, and 

mark to market, changes in the value of financial instruments caused by changes in market prices or 

interest rates. The Issuersô financial results also depend upon how effectively the Issuers determine and 

assesse the cost of credit and manage their credit risk and market risk concentration. In addition, due to 

market fluctuations, weak economic conditions and/or a decline in stock and bond prices, trading volumes 

or liquidity, the Issuersô financial results may also be affected by a downturn in the revenues deriving 

from its margin interests, principal transactions, investment banking and securities trading fees and 

brokerage activities. 

Risk relating to the Issuers investment banking and financial advisory activities 

The Issuersô investment banking revenues, in the form of financial advisory and debt and equity 

underwriting fees, are directly related to the number and size of the transactions in which the Issuers 

participate and may be impacted by continued or further credit market dislocations or sustained market 

downturns. Sustained market downturns or continued or further credit market dislocations and liquidity 

issues would also likely lead to a decline in the volume of capital market transactions that the Issuers 

execute for their clients and, therefore, to a decline in the revenues that it receives from commissions and 

spreads earned from the trades the Issuer executes for its clients. Further, to the extent that potential 

acquirers are unable to obtain adequate credit and financing on favourable terms, they may be unable or 

unwilling to consider or complete acquisition transactions, and as a result the Issuersô merger and 

acquisition advisory practice would suffer. 

In addition, declines in the market value of securities can result in the failure of buyers and sellers of 

securities to fulfil their settlement obligations, and in the failure of the Issuersô clients to fulfil their credit 

obligations. During market downturns, the Issuersô counterparties in securities transactions may be less 

likely to complete transactions. Also, the Issuers often permit their clients to purchase securities on 

margin or, in other words, to borrow a portion of the purchase price from the Issuers and collateralize the 

loan with a set percentage of the securities. During steep declines in securities prices, the value of the 

collateral securing margin purchases may drop below the amount of the purchasersô indebtedness. If the 

clients are unable to provide additional collateral for these loans, the Issuers may lose money on these 

margin transactions. In addition, particularly during market downturns, the Issuers may face additional 

expenses defending or pursuing claims or litigation related to counterparty or client defaults.  

Risks connected to the presence of OTC derivatives in the Groupôs portfolio 

The investors should note that the portfolio of the Group contains so-called ñover the counterò (ñOTCò) 
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derivatives. The fair value of these OTC derivatives depends upon both the valuation and the perceived 

credit risk of the instrument insured or guaranteed or against which protection has been bought and the 

credit quality of the protection provider. Market counterparties have been adversely affected by their 

exposure to residential mortgage linked products, and their perceived creditworthiness has deteriorated 

significantly since 2007. Although the Group seeks to limit and manage direct exposure to market 

counterparties, indirect exposure may exist through other financial arrangements and counterparties. If 

the financial condition of market counterparties or their perceived creditworthiness deteriorates further, 

the Group may record further credit valuation adjustments on the underlying instruments insured by such 

parties. 

Any primary or indirect exposure to the financial condition or creditworthiness of these counterparties 

could have a material adverse impact on the results of operations, financial condition and prospects of the 

Group. 

Risk relating to intense competition, especially in the Italian market, where the Group has the largest 

concentration of its business 

Competition is intense in all of the Mediobanca Group's primary business areas in Italy and the other 

countries in which the Mediobanca Group conducts its business. The Mediobanca Group derives most of 

its total banking income from its banking activities in Italy, a mature market where competitive pressures 

have been increasing quickly.  If the Mediobanca Group is unable to continue to respond to the 

competitive environment in Italy with attractive product and service offerings that are profitable for the 

Mediobanca Group, it may lose market share in important areas of its business or incur losses on some or 

all of its activities.  

The Issuers are subject to operational risk 

The adverse effects on the Issuers may impact on whether they can make the payments due on the Notes 

issued under the Programme. The Issuers, like all financial institutions, are exposed to many types of 

operational risk, including the risk of fraud by employees and outsiders, unauthorised transactions by 

employees or operational errors, including errors resulting from faulty computer or telecommunication 

systems. The Issuers' systems and processes are designed to ensure that the operational risks associated 

with the Issuers' activities are appropriately monitored.  Any failure or weakness in these systems, 

however, could adversely affect the Issuers' financial performance and business activities.  

The Issuersô operation is dependent upon the correct functioning of the IT systems, which might 

expose the Group to certain risks  

The financial losses or impacts on the Issuersô operations that may arise may impact on whether they can 

make the payments due on the Notes issued under the Programme. The Issuersô operation depends on, 

among other things, the correct and adequate operation of the Issuersô IT systems, as well as their 

continuous maintenance and constant updating. 

Although the Issuers have always invested significant resources in upgrading its IT systems and 

improving its defense and monitoring systems, possible risks remain with regard to the reliability of the 

systems (e.g. disaster recovery), the quality and integrity of the data managed and the threats to which IT 

systems are subject, as well as physiological risks related to the management of software changes (change 

management), which could have negative effects on the Issuersô business, results of operations and 

financial condition. 

Among the risks that the Issuers might face relating to the management of IT systems are the possible 

violations of its systems due to unauthorized access to the Issuersô corporate network or IT resources, the 

introduction of viruses into computers or any other form of abuse committed via internet. Like attempted 

hacking, such violations have become more frequent over the years throughout the world and therefore 

can threaten the protection of information relating to the Issuers and their customers and can have 

negative effects on the integrity of the Issuersô IT systems, as well as on the confidence of their customers 

and on the Issuers reputation, with possible negative effects on the Issuersô business, results of operations 

and financial condition. 

In addition, the Issuersô substantial investment in resources in software development creates the risk that 
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when one or more of the above-mentioned circumstances occurs, the Issuersô may suffer financial losses 

or impacts on the Issuersô operations if the software is destroyed or seriously damaged, or will incur 

repair costs for the violated IT systems. 

(B) RISKS RELATING TO THE  ISSUERSô FINANCIAL SITUATION  

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Issuers will be unable to meet their obligations as they fall due, because 

of their inability to obtain funding (i.e., funding liquidity risk) and/or because of their difficulties to sell 

assets without incurring in a capital loss due to the illiquid nature of the market (i.e., market liquidity 

risk). 

The liquidity of the Issuers may be affected by (i) national and international marketsô volatility; (ii) 

potential adverse developments of general economic, financial and other business conditions; (iii) 

circumstances making the Issuers temporarily unable to obtain access to capital markets by issuing debt 

instruments; (iv) credit spreads; (v) regulatory developments in the prudential requirements field; and (vi) 

variations in the Issuersô creditworthiness ï which may affect the aforementioned market liquidity risk. 

All the above circumstances may derive from factors ï as market disruptions ï which do not depend on 

the Issuersô will, but may adversely affect their liquidity profile. 

Risks in connection with the exposure of the Group to Eurozone sovereign debt 

In carrying out its activities, the Group holds substantial volumes of public-sector bonds, including bonds 

issued by European countries. The Groupôs total exposure in this respect as at 30 June 2020 is set out in 

the tables A.1.2a and A.1.2b of Part E on page 273 of the audited consolidated annual financial 

statements of Mediobanca as at and for the year ended 30 June 2020 incorporated by reference into this 

Base Prospectus. This could give rise to operational disruptions to the Groupôs business. 

Risks connected to a potential rating downgrade 

At the date of this Prospectus, Mediobanca is rated (i) by A-2 (short-term Issuer Credit Rating ñICRò), 

BBB (long-term ICR), BBB (long-term ICR) and negative (outlook) S&P, (ii) F3 (short-term Issuer 

Default Rating ñIDRò), BBB- (long-term IDR) and stable (outlook) by Fitch and (iii) P-2 (short-term 

Counterparty Risk and Deposits Rating), Baa1 (long-term Counterparty Risk and Deposits Rating) and 

stable (outlook) by Moodyôs. Each of S&P, Fitch and Moodyôs are established in the European Union and 

registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies, (as amended from time to 

time) (the ñCRA Regulationò) as set out in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with 

the CRA Regulation published on the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant 

to the CRA Regulation.  

A downgrade of Mediobancaôs rating (for whatever reason) might result in higher funding and 

refinancing costs for Mediobanca in the capital markets. In addition, a downgrade of Mediobancaôs rating 

may limit Mediobancaôs opportunities to extend mortgage loans and may have a particularly adverse 

effect on Mediobancaôs image as a participant in the capital markets, as well as in the eyes of its clients. 

These factors may have an adverse effect on Mediobancaôs financial condition and/or the results of its 

operations. 

In addition, Mediobancaôs credit ratings are potentially exposed to the risk of reductions in the sovereign 

credit rating of the Republic of Italy. On the basis of the methodologies used by rating agencies, any 

downgrades of Italyôs credit rating may have a potential knock-on effect on the credit rating of Italian 

issuers such as Mediobanca and make it more likely that the credit rating of Notes issued under the 

Programme are downgraded. 

(C) RISK FACTORS RELATING  TO THE LEGAL AND RE GULATORY FRAMEWORK  

Changes in the Italian and European regulatory framework could adversely affect the Issuerôs 

business 
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Mediobanca is subject to extensive regulation and supervision by the Bank of Italy, the Commissione 

Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa (the Italian securities market regulator or ñCONSOBò) the European 

Central Bank and the European System of Central Banks. Mediobanca International is subject to 

extensive regulation and supervision by the CSSF, the European Central Bank and the European System 

of Central Banks . 

The banking laws to which the Issuers are subject govern the activities in which banks and foundations 

may engage and are designed to maintain the safety and soundness of banks, and limit their exposure to 

risk. In addition, the Issuers must comply with financial services laws that govern their marketing and 

selling practices. The regulatory framework governing the international financial markets is currently 

being amended in response to the credit crisis, and new legislation and regulations are being introduced in 

Italy and the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and could significantly alter the Issuersô capital requirements. 

The supervisory authorities mentioned above govern various aspects of the Issuers, which may include, 

among other things, liquidity levels and capital adequacy, the prevention and combating of money 

laundering, privacy protection, ensuring transparency and fairness in customer relations and registration 

and reporting obligations. In order to operate in compliance with these regulations, the Issuers have  in 

place specific procedures and internal policies. Despite the existence of these procedures and policies, 

there can be no assurance that violations of regulations will not occur, which could adversely affect the 

Groupôs results of operations, business and financial condition. The above risks are compounded by the 

fact that, as at the date of this Base Prospectus, certain laws and regulations have only been approved and 

the relevant implementation procedures are still in the process of being developed. 

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Package is intended to enable a range of actions to be taken in 

relation to credit institutions and investment firms considered to be at risk of failing. The 

implementation of the directive or the taking of any action under it could materially affect the value of 

any Notes 

Directive 2014/59/EU (the ñBRRDò) as amended by Directive 2017/2399 (the ñBRRD Amending 

Directiveò) and Directive 2019/879 (the ñBRRD IIò and, jointly with the BRRD and the BRRD 

Amending Directive, the ñBRRD Packageò) provides for the establishment of an EU-wide framework 

for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms. The BRRD has been 

implemented in (i) Italy through the adoption of the Legislative Decrees No. 180/2015 and 181/2015 and 

(ii) the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg through the adoption of the Law of 18 December 2015. 

The BRRD Package contains four resolution tools and powers which may be used alone or in 

combination where the relevant resolution authority considers that: (a) an institution is failing or likely to 

fail, (b) there is no reasonable prospect that any alternative private sector measures would prevent the 

failure of such institution within a reasonable timeframe, and (c) a resolution action is in the public 

interest: (i) sale of business - which enables resolution authorities to direct the sale of the firm or the 

whole or part of its business on commercial terms; (ii) bridge institution - which enables resolution 

authorities to transfer all or part of the business of the firm to a ñbridge institutionò (an entity created for 

this purpose that is wholly or partially in public control); (iii) asset separation - which enables resolution 

authorities to transfer assets to one or more publicly owned asset management vehicles to allow them to 

be managed with a view to maximising their value through eventual sale or orderly wind-down (this can 

be used together with another resolution tool only); and (iv) bail-in - which gives resolution authorities 

the power to write down certain claims of unsecured creditors of a failing institution and to convert 

certain unsecured debt claims into shares or other instruments of ownership (i.e. shares, other instruments 

that confer ownership, instruments that are convertible into or give the right to acquire shares or other 

instruments of ownership, and instruments representing interests in shares or other instruments of 

ownership) (the ñGeneral Bail-in Toolò), which equity could also be subject to any future application of 

the General Bail-In Tool. 

In addition to the General Bail-in Tool, the BRRD Package provides for resolution authorities to have the 

further power to permanently write-down or convert into equity capital instruments such as subordinated 

notes at the point of non-viability and before or concurrently with any other resolution action is taken 

(ñnon-viability loss absorptionò). Any shares issued to holders of the Notes upon any such conversion 

into equity capital instruments may also be subject to any application of the General Bail-in Tool. 
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For the purposes of the application of any non-viability loss absorption measure, the point of non-viability 

under the BRRD Package is the point at which the relevant authority determines that the institution or its 

group meets the conditions for resolution (but no resolution action has yet been taken) or that the 

institution and/or its group will no longer be viable unless the relevant capital instruments are written-

down or converted or extraordinary public support is to be provided and the appropriate authority 

determines that without such support the institution would no longer be viable. 

In the context of these resolution tools, the resolution authorities have the power to amend or alter the 

maturity of debt instruments and other eligible liabilities issued by an institution under resolution or 

amend the amount of interest payable under such instruments and other eligible liabilities, or the date on 

which the interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period, except for 

those secured liabilities which are subject to Article 44(2) of the BRRD. 

Moreover, the European Commission has proposed a harmonised national insolvency ranking of 

unsecured debt instruments to facilitate credit institutionsô issuance of such loss absorbing debt 

instruments, by creating, inter alia, a new asset class of ñnon-preferredò senior debt instruments with a 

lower rank than ordinary senior unsecured debt instruments in insolvency. In such perspective, the 

proposed amendments to Article 108 of the BRRD aim at enhancing the implementation of the bail-in 

tool and at facilitating the application of the ñminimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilitiesò 

(ñMRELò) requirement concerning the loss absorption and recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions 

and investment firms. As such, the amendments provide an additional means for credit institutions and 

certain other institutions to comply with the forthcoming MREL requirement and improve their 

resolvability, without constraining their respective funding strategies. 

The powers set out in the BRRD Package and the application of the MREL requirement will impact credit 

institutions and investment firms and how they are managed as well as, in certain circumstances, the 

rights of creditors under the Programme. 

Risk related to major regulatory changes 

In the wake of the global financial crisis that began in 2008, the Basel Committee on Banking 

Supervision approved a number of capital adequacy and liquidity requirements (ñBasel IIIò) aimed at 

reaching higher and better-quality capital and risk coverage and at implementing measures to promote the 

build-up of capital that can be drawn down in periods of stress, the introduction of a leverage ratio as a 

backstop to the risk-based requirement as well as two global liquidity standards. The Basel III framework 

adopted a gradual approach, with the requirements to be implemented over time, with full enforcement in 

2019.  

Moreover, the Basel Committee has embarked on a very significant risk weighted assets (ñRWAsò) 

variability agenda. This includes the Fundamental Review of the Trading Book, revised standardised 

approaches (e.g.credit, market, operational risk), constraints to the use of internal models as well as the 

introduction of a capital floor. The regulatorôs primary aim is to eliminate unwarranted levels of RWA 

variance. The new setup will have a significant impact on risk modelling. From a credit risk perspective, 

an impact is expected both on capital held against the exposures assessed via standardised approach and 

on those evaluated via an internal ratings based approach (ñIRBò), due to the introduction of capital floors 

that, according to the new framework, will be calculated based on the revised standardised approach. 

Implementation of these new rules on risk models will take effect from 1 January 2022. 

At the European level, the Basel III rules have been implemented through two separate legislative 

instruments: Directive 2013/36/EU of 26 June 2013, as amended (the "CRD IV Directive ") and 

Regulation (EU) No. 575 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential 

requirements for credit institutions and investment firms (the "CRR" and together with the CRD IV 

Directive, the "CRD IV "). 

The CRD IV has been recently, as well as the BRRD and the SRM Regulation, following the adoption of 

a comprehensive reform package first announced by the European Commission in November 2016 (the 

ñEU Banking Reformò). In particular, the EU Banking Reform consists of: 

¶ Directive (EU) 2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending 

the CRD IV Directive as regards exempted entities, financial holding companies, mixed financial 
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holding companies, remuneration, supervisory measures and powers and capital conservation 

measures (the "CRD V"); 

¶ Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 

amending the CRR as regards the leverage ratio, the net stable funding ratio, requirements for own 

funds and eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposures to central 

counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings, large exposures, reporting and 

disclosure requirements (the "CRR II "); 

¶ Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending 

the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation 

capacity of credit institutions and investment firms and Directive 98/26/EC (the "BRRD II "); and 

¶ Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 

amending Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014 as regards the loss absorbing and recapitalisation capacity 

of credit institutions and investment firms (the "SRMR II "). 

Risks related to changes in fiscal law 

These recently introduced banking reforms as well as other laws and regulations that may be adopted in 

the future could adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 

flow. 

The Issuers are subject to risks associated with changes in tax law or in the interpretation of tax law, 

changes in tax rates and consequences arising from non-compliance with procedures required by tax 

authorities. Any legislative changes affecting the calculation of taxes could therefore have an impact on 

the Issuers' financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. 

With particular refrence to Mediobanca, Mediobanca is required to pay Italian corporate income taxes 

(ñIRESò) pursuant to Title II of Italian Presidential Decree no. 917 of 22 December 1986 (i.e. the 

Consolidated Income Tax Law, or ñTUIRò) and the Italian regional business tax (ñIRAPò) pursuant to 

Legislative Decree no. 446 of 15 December 1997, and the amount of taxes due and payable by 

Mediobanca may be affected by tax benefits from time to time available. 

Mediobanca currently benefits from the stimulus provisions introduced by way of article 1 of Italian 

Law Decree no. 201 of 6 December 2011, as amended and converted into Law no. 214 of 22 December 

2011, concerning ñeconomic-growth allowancesò (aiuto alla crescita economica, or ñACEò). The ACE 

rules allow for a deduction from net income for the purposes of IRES of an amount computed by 

applying a notional yield at a rate of 1.3% from 2019 onwards to the increase in net equity (the ñACE 

Baseò). The ACE base is, for the first year of application of ACE (i.e. 2011), the amount of equity 

existing at close of that year less the amount of equity as of 31 December 2010 (excluding profits earned 

in 2010) and, for subsequent years, the base carried forward from the previous year as adjusted 

(increased and reduced) to reflect components affecting equity. 

In accordance with article 3 of the Italian Ministerial Decree of 3 August 2017 revising the 

implementing provisions of the ACE legislation, if the amount of the notional yield (i.e. the ACE 

deduction) exceeds net income declared for a given tax year (the ñExcess ACEò), such excess (i) may 

increase the amount deductible from income in subsequent tax years without time or amount limits, or 

(ii) may be converted into a tax credit calculated by applying the IRES tax rate, as per article 77 of the 

TUIR, to the Excess ACE amount and then utilised in five annual instalments of equal amount as an 

offset to IRAP up to the amount of tax due for the period.  

From time to time, the Italian budget law may also include provisions that affect the deductibility of 

particular items that could result in an increase in the taxable income of the Issuer for IRES and/or IRAP 

purposes, either in general or for specific tax period(s). 

The Issuer may be affected by new accounting and regulatory standards 

The potentially negative effects on the estimates contained in the financial plans for future years may 

impact on whether the Issuers can make the payments due on the Notes issued under the Programme. 
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Following the entry into force and subsequent application of new accounting standards and/or regulatory 

rules and/or the amendment of existing standards and rules, the Issuer may have to revise the accounting 

and regulatory treatment of some operations and the related income and expense, with potentially 

negative effects on the estimates contained in the financial plans for future years and with the need to 

restate already published financial statements. 

The transposition of the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive in Luxembourg law could have an impact on 

the tax position of Mediobanca International (including its performance) 

As part of its anti-tax avoidance package, the EU Commission published a draft Anti-Tax Avoidance 

Directive on 28 January 2016, which was formally adopted by the EC Council on 12 July 2016 in Council 

Directive (EU) 2016/1164 (the "ATAD 1"). 

In this respect, the Luxembourg law dated 21 December 2018 (the "ATAD 1 Law ") transposed the 

ATAD 1 into Luxembourg legislation. The ATAD 1 Law may have an impact on the tax position of 

Mediobanca International (including on its performance). Amongst the measures contained in the ATAD 

1 Law is an interest deductibility limitation rule.  

The interest deduction limitation rule set out by ATAD 1 has been implemented in article 168bis of the 

Luxembourg income tax law (ñLITL ò) effective as of 1 January 2019, which restrict, for a Luxembourg 

taxpayer (such as Mediobanca International), the deduction of net interest expenses qualifying as ñexcess 

borrowing costsò to the higher of (i) 30 per cent. of the taxpayerôs EBITDA (defined as the taxpayerôs 

total net income increased by the amount of its excess borrowing costs, depreciation and amortisation), 

and (ii) ú3 million.  

Excess borrowing costs are defined as the amount by which the deductible borrowing costs of a taxpayer 

exceeds the taxpayerôs taxable interest revenues and other economically equivalent taxable income of the 

taxpayer. Excess borrowing costs not deductible in a tax period can be carried forward indefinitely. The 

same applies to a taxpayerôs excess interest capacity which cannot be used in a given tax period 

(however, such excess interest capacity can only be carried forward for a maximum period of 5 years). 

If ATAD should result in the refusal of the tax deductibility of a portion of the interest accrued or paid 

under the Notes, the tax position as well as the performance of Mediobanca International as Issuer could 

be impacted due to the potential increase of its taxable basis. 

2. MATERIAL RISKS THAT ARE SPECIFIC TO THE NOTES 

The risks below have been classified into the following categories: 

(A) Risks which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes; 

and 

(B) Risks related to the market. 

(A) R ISKS WHICH ARE MATER IAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MAR KET RISKS 

ASSOCIATED WITH THE NOTES  

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 

circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should: 

(i) proceed with investment only after fully appreciating the risks inherent in the nature of the Notes; 

(ii)  have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the 

merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by 

reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(iii)  evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the 

impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio; 
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(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behavior of any relevant 

indices and financial markets; 

(v) consider all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with payments thereunder 

payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for payments thereunder is different 

from the potential investorôs currency; 

(vi) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 

Notes; and 

(vii)  be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 

economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the 

applicable risks. 

In addition, an investment in Senior Non Preferred Notes may entail significant risks not associated with 

investments in conventional securities such as debt or equity securities, including, but not limited to, the 

risks set out in ñRisks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notesò set out below. 

The Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not 

purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. 

They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an 

understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. 

A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the 

expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing 

conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the 

potential investorôs overall investment portfolio. 
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U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) Withholding 

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, 

a ñforeign financial institutionò may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes (ñforeign 

passthru paymentsò) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. 

The Issuer is a foreign financial institution for these purposes. 

A number of jurisdictions, including Ireland, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and the Republic of Italy, 

have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to 

implement FATCA (ñIGAsò), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. 

Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction 

would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. 

Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, 

including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to 

payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if 

withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments 

such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019 and Notes characterised as 

debt (or which are not otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax 

purposes that are issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations 

defining ñforeign passthru paymentsò are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be 

ñgrandfatheredò for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date. 

However, if additional notes (as described under ñTerms and Conditions of the NotesðFurther Issuesò) 

that are not distinguishable from previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the 

grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all 

Notes, including the Notes offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to 

withholding under FATCA. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may 

apply to their investment in the Notes. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to 

FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on the Notes, no person will be required to pay additional 

amounts as a result of the withholding. 

Risks related to the structure of a particular Issue of Notes 

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features 

which contain particular risks for potential investors. This section contains risk factors which are material 

to the Notes being offered and/or admitted to trading. 

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer 

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the 

Issuer may elect to redeem Notes or may be perceived to be able to redeem the Notes, the market value of 

those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also 

may be true prior to any redemption period. The relevant Issuer may redeem Notes when its cost of 

borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. 

At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective 

interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a 

significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in the light of other 

investments available at that time. In addition, if the relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at 

its option, the exercise of such right is subject to the previsions set forth in Conditions 4(l) (Special 

provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification 

of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be) and, in any case, 

the relevant redemption amount of the Notes to be redeemed may be lower than the amount 

corresponding to the then current market value of such Notes as of the relevant redemption date. 

Redemption for taxation reasons 

Unless in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant Final Terms specifies otherwise, in the 

event that the relevant Issuer (i) would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes 

due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments 
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or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on 

behalf of Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or Italy (as appropriate) or any political subdivision thereof or any 

authority therein or thereof having power to tax or (ii) would become subject to additional amount of 

taxes due to limitation to the deductibility of payments under any Notes), the Issuer may redeem all 

outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions .  

At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective 

interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a 

significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in the light of other 

investments available at that time. In addition, if the relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at 

its option, the exercise of such right is subject to the previsions set forth in Conditions 4(l) (Special 

provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification 

of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be) and, in any case, 

the relevant redemption amount of the Notes to be redeemed may be lower than the amount 

corresponding to the then current market value of such Notes as of the relevant redemption date. 

Regulatory Call 

Subject to Conditions 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the 

Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special provision in relation to 

redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes 

(as the case may be), if  Regulatory Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Senior Notes and 

the Subordinated Notes may be redeemed at the option of the relevant Issuer, in whole, but not in part, at 

any time (if the Subordinated Note is not a Floating Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if the 

Subordinated Note is a Floating Rate Note) (i) upon the occurrence of a MREL/TLAC Disqualification 

Event (as defined in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms 

and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) 

of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes) with respect to the relevant Series of Senior 

Preferred Notes and/or Senior Non Preferred Notes and (ii) in case of Subordinated Notes, the 

Subordinated Notes cease to qualify (in whole or in part) as ñTier II Capitalò on a consolidated or non 

consolidated basis, as a result of changes after the date of issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes in the 

standards and guidelines of the Bank of Italy or in the applicable legal or regulatory provisions (including 

legal or regulatory provisions adopted by the European Union).  

At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective 

interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes or Subordinated Notes (as the case may be) 

being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should 

consider reinvestment risk in the light of other investments available at that time. In addition, if the 

relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, the exercise of such right is subject to the 

previsions set forth in Conditions 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special 

provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be) and, in any case, the relevant redemption amount of the 

Notes to be redeemed may be lower than the amount corresponding to the then current market value of 

such Notes as of the relevant redemption date. 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the relevant Issuer may elect to convert, in 

accordance with the provisions of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and/or the Terms 

and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be), from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from 

a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuerôs ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary 

market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is 

likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating 

rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on 

comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any 

time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, 

the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes. 
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To the extent that Multiplier or Reference Rate Multiplier applies in respect of the determination of the 

Interest Rate for the Floating Rate Notes, investors should be aware that any fluctuation of the underlying 

floating rate will be amplified by such multiplier. Where the Multiplier or Reference Rate Multiplier is 

less than 1, this may adversely affect the return on the Floating Rate Notes. 

Maximum/Minimum Interest Rate 

Potential investors in the Senior Preferred Notes and the Subordinated Notes should also consider that 

where the underlying interest rate does not rise above the level of the Minimum Interest Rate, comparable 

investments in notes which pay interest based on a fixed rate which is higher than the Minimum Interest 

Rate are likely to be more attractive to potential investors than an investment in the Senior Preferred 

Notes and the Subordinated Notes. Under those conditions, investors in the Senior Preferred Notes and 

the Subordinated Notes might find it difficult to sell their Senior Preferred Notes and the Subordinated 

Notes on the secondary market (if any) or might only be able to realise the Senior Preferred Notes and the 

Subordinated Notes at a price which may be substantially lower than the nominal amount. 

To the extent a Maximum Interest Rate applies, investors should be aware that the Interest Rate is capped 

at such Maximum Interest Rate level. Consequently, investors in the Senior Preferred Notes and the 

Subordinated Notes may not participate in any increase of market interest rates, which may also 

negatively affect the market value of the Senior Preferred Notes and the Subordinated Notes. 

The interest rate on Reset Notes  

If the Senior Preferred Notes and the Subordinated Notes are issued as Reset Notes, then such Reset 

Notes will initially bear interest at the Initial Rate of Interest from and including the Interest 

Commencement Date up to but excluding the First Reset Date. On the First Reset Date, the Second Reset 

Date (if applicable) and each Subsequent Reset Date (if any) thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to 

the sum of the applicable Mid-Swap Rate and the First Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable) as 

determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date (each such interest rate, a 

ñSubsequent Reset Rate of Interestò). The Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest for any Reset Period could 

be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest for prior Reset Periods and 

could affect the market value of an investment in the Reset Notes. 

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium 

The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend 

to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than to prices for conventional interest-

bearing notes. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the Notes, the greater the price volatility as 

compared to conventional interest-bearing notes with comparable maturities. 

Senior Notes as eligible for the purposes of the MREL/TLAC Requirements is subject to uncertainty 

The Senior Notes are intended to be eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements 

(as defined in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be). However, there is uncertainty 

regarding the final substance of the applicable MREL/TLAC Requirements, and the Issuer cannot provide 

any assurance that the Senior Notes will be or remain eligible for the purposes of the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements. The European laws and regulations implementing the TLAC concept may turn out to be 

more restrictive than the provisions set forth in the Final TLAC Standard, and some of the provisions in 

the Final TLAC Standard require further definition or interpretation. In addition, any changes to MREL 

under the European Commissionôs combined legislative proposal may be more restrictive than the 

European Commissionôs initial proposals or current regulations. The requirements for an instrument to be 

TLAC-eligible and MREL-eligible may not ultimately converge or be consistent under the final European 

laws and regulations. Because of the uncertainty surrounding the substance of the final regulations 

implementing the TLAC requirements and any potential changes to the regulations giving effect to 

MREL, the Issuer cannot provide any assurance that the Senior Notes will ultimately be eligible for the 

purposes of the MREL/TLAC Requirements. If they are not eligible for the purposes of the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements (or if they initially are compliant with the MREL/TLAC Requirements and subsequently 

become ineligible due to a change in the relevant final regulations implementing the MREL/TLAC 
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requirements), then an MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event will occur, with the consequences indicated 

in the risk factor above and in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons 

(Regulatory Call) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be).  

Variation of the terms and conditions of the Senior Notes 

In relation to any series of Senior Notes, if Modification following a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event 

is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Issuer may upon the occurrence of a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event modify the terms and conditions of such Senior Notes without any 

requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders to the extent that such modification is 

reasonably necessary to ensure that no MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event would exist after such 

modification, provided that the relevant conditions set forth in Condition 9(d) (Modification following a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 9(d) 

(Modification following a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian 

Law Notes (as the case maybe) are satisfied. For details, see Condition 9(d) Terms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notes and 9(d) (Modification following a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event) of the Terms 

and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case maybe). 

Investors should be aware that, where the terms and conditions of such Senior Notes are varied, 

Noteholders may, as a result, among other things, be assessed as a class rather than individually, and any 

tax consequences may be borne by the Noteholder. 

Italian laws and regulations applicable to the Senior Non Preferred Notes  

On 1 January 2018, the Italian law No. 205 of 27 December 2017 (so-called ñLegge di Bilancio 2018ò) 

came into force introducing certain amendments to the Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 

(the ñItalian Banking Actò), including the possibility for banks and companies belonging to banking 

groups to issue senior non-preferred securities (the so-called ñstrumenti di debito chirografario di 

secondo livelloò).  

In particular, the so-called ñLegge di Bilancio 2018ò introduced, inter alia, a new provision in the Italian 

Banking Act (i.e., Article 12-bis (Strumenti di debito chirografario di secondo livello)) providing that 

securities (obbligazioni and altri titoli di debito) with a senior non-preferred ranking issued by banks and 

companies belonging to banking groups shall comply with the following requirements: 

 

(i) the original maturity period is at least equal to twelve months; 

(ii)  are not derivative securities (strumenti finanziari derivanti) (as defined in Article 1, paragraph 3 of 

the Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the ñFinancial Services Actò)), 

are not linked to derivative securities, nor include any caratheristics of such derivative securities;  

(iii)  the minimum denomination is at least equal to EUR 250,000;  

(iv) may be offered only to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as referred to in Article 100, letter 

a), of the Financial Services Act as implemented by Article 34-ter, first paragraph, letter b) of 

Regulation No. 11971/1999 and the relevant applicable provisions set forth in CONSOB Regulation 

No. 20307 of 15 February 2018; 

(v) the prospectus and the agreements regulating the issuance of senior non-preferred securities 

expressly provide that payment of interests and reimbursement of principal due in respect thereof are 

subject to the provisions set forth in of Article 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking 

Act.  

According to Article 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act, in case an issuer of senior 

non-preferred securities is subject to compulsory liquidation (liquidazione coatta amministrativa), the 

relevant payment obligations in respect thereof will rank in right of payment (A) after unsubordinated 

creditors (including depositors), (B) at least pari passu with all other present and future unsubordinated 

and non preferred obligations obligations which do not rank or are not expressed by their terms to rank 
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junior or senior to such senior non-preferred securities and (C) in priority to any present or future claims 

ranking junior to such senior non-preferred securities and the claims of the shareholders.  

Furthermore, Article 12-bis of the Italian Banking Act also provides that:  

(A) the provisions set forth in Article 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act shall 

apply to such senior non-preferred securities only to the extent that the requirements described in 

paragraphs (i), (ii) and (v) above have been complied with; any contractual provision which does not 

comply with any of the above requirements is invalid but such invalidity does not imply the 

invalidity of the entire agreement; 

(B) the senior non-preferred securities, once issued, may not be amended in a manner that the 

requirements described in paragraphs (i), (ii) and (v) above are not complied with and that any 

different contractual provision is null and void; and 

(C) the Bank of Italy may enact further regulation provding for additional requirements in respect of the 

issuance and the characteristics of senior non-preferred securities. 

Any prospective investor in the Senior Non Preferred Notes should be aware that with reference to 

Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act, as at the date of this Base 

Prospectus, no interpretation of the application of such provisions has been issued by any Italian court or 

governmental or regulatory authority and no regulation has been issued by the Bank of Italy in respect 

thereof. Consequently, it is possible that any regulation or official interpretation relating to the above will 

be issued in the future by the Bank of Italy or any different authority, the impact of which cannot be 

predicted by the Issuer as at the date of this Base Prospectus. 

Risk of classification of the Senior Non Preferred Notes  

The intention of Mediobanca is for Senior Non Preferred Notes to qualify on issue as ñstrumenti di debito 

chirografario di secondo livelloò pursuant to and for the purposes of Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-

bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which may be 

enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority and also qualify as eligible liabilities available to 

meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements. Current regulatory practice by the Bank of Italy (acting as lead 

regulator) does not require (or customarily provide) a confirmation prior to the issuance of the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes that the Senior Non Preferred Notes will comply with such provisions. 

Although it is Mediobancaô expectation that the Senior Non Preferred Notes qualify as ñstrumenti di 

debito chirografario di secondo livelloò pursuant to and for the purposes of Articles 12-bis and 91, 

paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which 

may be enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority and also qualify as eligible liabilities 

available to meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements (as defined in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notes (as the case may be) there can be no representation that this is or will remain the case during the 

life of the Senior Non Preferred Notes. Upon the occurrence of a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event (as 

defined in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be), Mediobanca will have the right 

to redeem the Senior Non Preferred Notes in accordance with Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory 

reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption 

for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the 

case may be). Any redemption of Senior Non Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca is subject to the 

provisions of Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the 

Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special provision in relation to 

redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an 

effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Senior Non Preferred Notes being redeemed and 

may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment 

risk in the light of other investments available at that time. In addition, if the relevant Issuer has the right 
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to redeem any Senior Non Preferred Notes at its option, the exercise of such right is subject to the 

previsions set forth in Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special 

provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the Italian Law Notes and, in any case, the relevant redemption amount of the Senior Non Preferred 

Notes to be redeemed may be lower than the amount corresponding to the then current market value of 

such Senior Non Preferred Notes as of the relevant redemption date. 

The Senior Non Preferred Notes are complex instruments that may not be suitable for certain investors 

Senior Non Preferred Notes are novel and complex financial instruments and may not be a suitable 

investment for certain investors. Each potential investor in the Senior Non Preferred Notes should 

determine the suitability of such investment in light of its own circumstances and have sufficient 

financial resources and liquidity to bear the risks of an investment in the Senior Non Preferred Notes, 

including the possibility that the entire principal amount of the Senior Non Preferred Notes could be 

lost. A potential investor should not invest in the Senior Non Preferred Notes unless it has the 

knowledge and expertise (either alone or with a financial advisor) to evaluate how the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the market value of the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes, and the impact of this investment on the potential investorôs overall 

investment portfolio. 

Senior Non Preferred Notes are new types of instruments  

Market participants, including credit rating agencies, are in the initial stages of evaluating the risks 

associated with senior non-preferred obligations. The credit ratings assigned to senior non-preferred 

securities such as the Senior Non Preferred Notes may change as the rating agencies refine their 

approaches, and the value of such securities may be particularly volatile as the market becomes more 

familiar with them. It is possible that, over time, the credit ratings and value of senior non-preferred 

securities such as the Senior Non Preferred Notes will be lower than those expected by investors at the 

time of issuance of the Senior Non Preferred Notes. If so, investors may incur losses in respect of their 

investments in the Senior Non Preferred Notes. 

The Senior Non Preferred Notes are senior non-preferred obligations and are junior to certain 

obligations 

In order to be eligible to satisfy the provisions of Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of 

the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which may be enacted for such 

purposes by any Relevant Authority and also qualify as eligible liabilities available to meet the 

MREL/TLAC Requirements (as defined in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons 

(Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case 

may be), Senior Non Preferred Notes will be subordinated to existing senior debt and Senior Preferred 

Notes in the event that Mediobanca is subject to compulsory liquidation (liquidazione coatta 

amministrativa). As a result, the default risk on the Senior Non Preferred Notes will be higher than the 

risk associated with preferred senior debt (such as Senior Preferred Notes) and other senior liabilities 

(such as wholesale deposits). 

Although Senior Non Preferred Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Senior 

Preferred Notes which are not issued on a senior non preferred basis, there is a greater risk that an 

investor in Senior Non Preferred Notes will lose all or some of its investment should Mediobanca 

become subject to compulsory liquidation (liquidazione coatta amministrativa). Thus, such holders of 

Senior Preferred Notes face an increased performance risk compared to holders of Senior Preferred 

Obligations. 

If a judgment is rendered by any competent court declaring the judicial liquidation of Mediobanca, or if 

Mediobanca is liquidated for any other reason, the rights of payment of the holders of Senior Non 

Preferred Notes will be subordinated to the payment in full of the senior preferred creditors of 

Mediobanca and any other creditors that are senior to the Notes. In the event of incomplete payment of 

senior preferred creditors and other creditors ranking ahead of the claims of the holders of Senior Non 

Preferred Notes, the obligations of the Issuer in connection with the principal of the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes will be terminated. The Noteholders shall be responsible for taking all steps necessary 

for the orderly accomplishment of any collective proceedings or voluntary liquidation in relation to any 
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claims they may have against the Issuer. 

Credit rating which may be assigned to the Senior Non Preferred Notes  

The Senior Non Preferred Notes, upon issue, may be rated by one or more credit rating agencies. Such 

credit rating may be lower than the Mediobancaôs credit rating, since reflect the increased risk of loss in 

the event of the Mediobancaôs insolvency. As a result, Senior Non Preferred Notes are likely to be rated 

by one or more credit rating agencies close to the level of subordinated debt and as such may be subject 

to a higher risk of price volatility than the Senior Preferred Notes. 

In addition, the rating may change in the future depending on the assessment, by one or more credit 

rating agencies, of the impact on the different instrument classes resulting from the modified liability 

structure following the issuance of the Senior Non Preferred Notes. 

Moreover, rating organisations may seek to rate any Senior Non Preferred Notes on an ñunsolicitedò 

basis and, if such ñunsolicited ratingsò are lower than the comparable ratings assigned to such Senior 

Non Preferred Notes on a ñsolicitedò basis, such shadow or unsolicited ratings could have an adverse 

effect on the value of any Senior Non Preferred Notes. 

 

Subordinated Notes 

If Mediobanca is declared insolvent and a winding up is initiated, or in the event that the Issuer becomes 

subject to an order of ñliquidazione coatta amministrativaò as defined in Italian Banking Act, it will be 

required to pay the holders of senior debt (including the holders of the Senior Preferred Notes and the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes) and meet its obligations to all its other creditors (including unsecured 

creditors) in full before it can make any payments on the Subordinated Notes. If this occurs, Mediobanca 

may not have enough assets remaining after these payments to pay amounts due under the Subordinated 

Notes, in addition, the timing of any such payment may not be forecasted at the date of this Base 

Prospectus. 

For a full description of the provisions relating to Subordinated Notes, see Condition 2 (Status of Notes 

and Guarantee) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 2 (Status of Notes 

and Guarantee) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

In addition the Subordinated Notes expose investors to higher risks compared with certain other 

investments such as government bonds. Investors should therefore be aware that a comparison between 

the yield offered by the Subordinated Notes and those offered by other securities may not be meaningful 

or appropriate. 

Regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes  

The intention of Mediobanca is for Subordinated Notes to qualify on issue as ñTier II Capitalò. Current 

regulatory practice by the Bank of Italy (acting as lead regulator) does not require (or customarily 

provide) a confirmation prior to the issuance of Subordinated Notes that the Subordinated Notes will be 

treated as such. 

Although it is Mediobancaôs expectation that the Subordinated Notes qualify as ñTier II Capitalò there 

can be no representation that this is or will remain the case during the life of the Subordinated Notes or 

that the Subordinated Notes will be grandfathered under the implementation of future EU capital 

requirement regulations. If the Subordinated Notes are not grandfathered, or for any other reason cease to 

qualify (in whole or in part) as ñTier II Capitalò, Mediobanca will have the right to redeem the 

Subordinated Notes in accordance with Condition 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory 

Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory 

reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be). 

Any redemption of Subordinated Notes issued by Mediobanca is subject to the prior approval of the Bank 

of Italy. 

At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective 

interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Subordinated Notes being redeemed and may only be able 

to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in the light of 

other investments available at that time. In addition, if the relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any 
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Notes at its option, the exercise of such right is subject to the previsions set forth in Condition 4(l) 

(Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, 

purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes and, in any 

case, the relevant redemption amount of the Subordinated Notes to be redeemed may be lower than the 

amount corresponding to the then current market value of such Subordinated Notes as of the relevant 

redemption date. 

Notes may be subject to loss absorption 

Investors should note that, in certain circumstances, Senior Notes may be the object of resolution tools. 

Investors should also be aware that, in addition to the general bail-in-tool, the BRRD contemplates that 

Subordinated Notes may be subject to a write-down or conversion into common shares at the point of 

non-viability should the Bank of Italy, the Central Bank of Ireland or other authority or authorities having 

prudential oversight of Mediobanca at the relevant time be given the power to do so. The BRRD is 

intended to enable a range of actions to be taken in relation to credit institutions and investment firms 

considered to be at risk of failing.  

Moreover, in the context of these resolution tools, the resolution authorities have the power to amend or 

alter the maturity of certain debt instruments (such as the Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes) issued by 

an institution under resolution or amend the amount of interest payable under such instruments, or the 

date on which the interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period. As 

a result, the implementation of the directive or the taking of any action under it, as well as any perceived 

increase likelihood of application of such powers, could materially affect the value of any Notes. 

Variation of the terms and conditions of Subordinated Notes 

In relation to any series of Subordinated Notes, if Modification following a Regulatory Event or a Tax 

Event is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Issuer may upon the 

occurrence of a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event modify the terms and conditions of such Subordinated 

Notes without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders to the extent that such 

modification is reasonably necessary to ensure that no Regulatory Event or Tax Event would exist after 

such modification, provided that the relevant conditions set forth in Condition 9(e) (Modification 

following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 

Condition 9(e) (Modification following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the Italian Law Notes are satisfied. For details, see Condition 9(e) (Modification following a 

Regulatory Event or a Tax Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 

9(e) (Modification following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the 

Italian Law Notes. 

Pursuant to Condition 9(f) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 9(f) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, in case the Notes have been distributed to a single 

holder (the ñSingle Holderò), the approval for the amendments under Condition 9(a),(b),(c),(d) and (e) 

above shall be given by the Single Holder by way of binding approval letter with prior delivery of the 

relevant proof of ownership of the relevant Note.  

Investors should be aware that, where the terms and conditions of such Subordinated Notes are varied, 

Noteholders may, as a result, among other things, be assessed as a class rather than individually, and any 

tax consequences may be borne by the Noteholder. 

No gross up on withholding tax 

To the extent that the relevant Issuer is required by law to withhold or deduct any present or future taxes 

of any kind imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Republic of Italy or the Grand Duchy of 

Luxembourg (as appropriate), the Issuer may not be under an obligation to pay any additional amounts to 

Noteholders according to and subject to the provisions set forth in Condition 6(a) (Gross Up) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 6(a) (Gross Up) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 
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Waiver of set-off 

If waiver of set-off rights is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, each holder of a Senior 

Preferred Note will unconditionally and irrevocably waive any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement 

or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have under the laws of any jurisdiction in respect of 

such Senior Preferred Note. As specified in Condition 2(c) (Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes) and 

Condition 2(d) (Status of the Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes 

and Condition 2(c) (Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes) and 2(d) (Status of the Subordinated Notes) 

of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, each holder of a Senior Non Preferred Note and of 

a Subordinated Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement 

or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of 

such Senior Non Preferred Note and Subordinated Note. 

Risks related to Notes generally 

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally: 

Change of law 

The English Law Notes and the Italian Law Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 

connection with the relevant Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 

respectively, English law or Italian Law, in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus, provided that (I)  

in case of Notes issued by Mediobanca, Conditions 2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred Notes), 2(c) 

(Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes), 2(d) (Status of the Subordinated Notes), 4(b) 

(Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), 8(b) (Events 

of Default of the Senior Non Preferred Notes), 8(c) (Events of Default of the Subordinated Notes) and 16 

(Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) of the Terms and Conditions of the English 

Law Notes, are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Italian law; (II)  in case of Senior 

Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, Conditions 2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred 

Notes), 4(b) (Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) 

and Condition 16 (Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes or Conditions 2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred Notes), 4(b) 

(Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) and 

Condition 15 (Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) or the Terms and Conditions 

of the Italian Law Notes, are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Luxembourgish 

law. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law 

and/or Italian law, or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus. 

Call options are subject to the prior consent to the Relevant Authority 

The Notes may also contain provisions allowing the relevant Issuer to call them upon the occurrence of 

certain events, including, inter alia, in case of MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event (in case of the Senior 

Preferred Notes and the Senior Non Preferred Notes) or after a period of, for example, twelve months (in 

case of the Senior Non Preferred Notes) and five years (in case of the Subordinated Notes). To exercise 

such a call option, the relevant Issuer must obtain the prior written consent of the Relevant Authority in 

accordance with applicable laws and regulations, including article 77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV, and the 

provisions of Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the 

Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special provision in relation to 

redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

Holders of such Notes have no rights to call for the redemption of such Notes and should not invest in 

such Notes in the expectation that such a call, based upon its evaluation of the regulatory capital position 

of the relevant Issuer and certain other factors at the relevant time and in accordance with applicable laws 

and regulations, including Article 77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV. 

There can be no assurance that the Relevant Authority will permit such a call. Holders of such Notes 

should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of an investment in such Notes for a 

period of time in excess of the minimum period. 
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At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective 

interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes and/or the Subordinated Notes (as the case 

may be) being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors 

should consider reinvestment risk in the light of other investments available at that time. In addition, if the 

relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, the exercise of such right is subject to the 

previsions set forth in Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) (Special 

provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the Italian Law Notes (as the case may be) and, in any case, the relevant redemption amount of the 

Senior Notes and/or Subordinated Notes to be redeemed may be lower than the amount corresponding to 

the then current market value of such Senior Notes and/or Subordinated Notes as of the relevant 

redemption date. 

There may be limited or no event of defaults under the Senior Preferred Notes 

 

Pursuant to Condition 8(a) (Events of Default of the Senior Preferred Notes) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the English Law Notes and Condition 8(a) (Events of Default of the Senior Preferred Notes) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, if the applicable Final Terms specifies that one or more 

of the Events of Default are not applicable to the Senior Preferred Notes of any Series, then such relevant 

Events of Default shall not apply to such Series of Senior Preferred Notes.  

 

If no Events of Default are specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, Noteholders will not be 

able to accelerate the payment of principal in respect of the Senior Preferred Notes if the relevant Issuer 

fails to meet any obligations under such Senior Preferred Notes, including the payment of any interest. 

Upon a payment default, the sole remedy available to holders of such Senior Preferred Notes will be the 

institution of proceedings to enforce such payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in any case a 

Noteholder may, upon written notice to the Fiscal Agent, cause such Senior Preferred Notes to become 

due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon, if any, as of the date on which said notice is 

received by the Fiscal Agent, upon the occurrence of the Event of Default listed in Condition 8(a), 

paragraph (vii) (Winding-up) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 8(a), 

paragraph (vii) (Winding-up) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, as the case may be.. 

 

If all or some of the Events of Default are specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, holders of 

such Senior Preferred Notes may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such 

Senior Preferred Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount of such 

Senior Preferred Note together with accrued interest to the date of payment shall become immediately due 

and payable. 

 

Procedures of clearing systems 

Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, Notes issued under the Programme may be 

represented by one or more Global Notes and such Global Notes will be deposited with a common 

depositary or (where applicable) common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except 

in the circumstances described in the relevant Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive 

definitive Notes. Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system 

provided in the Final Terms will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes. While 

the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, investors will be able to trade their beneficial 

interests only through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing 

system. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes the relevant Issuer will discharge 

its payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to the common depositary or common 

safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system for 

distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the 

procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system to 

receive payments under the relevant Notes. The relevant Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the 

records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Notes. Holders of 

beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes. 

Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system to appoint appropriate proxies. 
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Modification 

The Issue and Paying Agency Agreement contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to 

consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all 

Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders 

who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor (if 

applicable) may, without the consent of Noteholders, correct (i) any manifest error in the Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes and/or in the Final Terms, (ii) any error of a formal, minor or technical nature in 

the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and/or in the Final Terms or (iii) any inconsistency in the Terms 

and Conditions of the Notes and/or in the Final Terms between the Terms and Conditions of the Notes 

and/or the Final Terms and any other documents prepared in connection with the issue and/or offer of a 

Series of Notes (provided such correction is not materially prejudicial to the holders of the relevant Series 

of Notes). In addition, pursuant to Condition 3(o) (Benchmark replacement) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the English Law Notes and Condition 3(o) (Benchmark replacement) of the Terms and Conditions of 

the Italian Law Notes, certain changes may be made to the interest calculation provisions of the Notes in 

the circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, without the requirement for consent of the 

Noteholders. Any such correction shall be binding on the holders of the relevant Notes and the relevant 

Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable) shall cause such correction to be notified to the holders of the 

Notes as soon as practicable thereafter pursuant to Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of 

the Notes.  

Conflict of Interest 

Investors should note that Notes issued under the Program may be underwritten by Dealers who receive 

in consideration underwriting commissions and selling concessions. The relevant Issuer may also offer 

and sell Notes directly to investors without the involvement of any Dealer. In addition, Mediobanca may 

act as market maker or specialist or perform other similar roles in connection with the Notes: potential 

conflicts of interest may exist between Mediobanca acting in such capacity on the one hand, and investors 

in the Notes on the other. 

Calculation Agent 

The relevant Issuer may appoint a Dealer as Calculation Agent in respect of an issuance of Notes under 

the Programme. In such a case the Calculation Agent is likely to be a member of an international financial 

group that is involved, in the ordinary course of its business, in a wide range of banking activities out of 

which conflicting interests may arise. Whilst such a Calculation Agent will, where relevant, have 

information barriers and procedures in place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other banking 

activities from time to time be engaged in transactions involving an index or related derivatives which 

may affect amounts receivable by Noteholders during the term and on the maturity of the Notes or the 

market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of 

the Noteholders. 

Impossibility to know the amount of the Notes in circulation on the date of issue 

The Notes may be issued and withheld by the relevant Issuer for the progressive sale on the market in 

accordance with investorsô demand. In this context an investor who acquires the Notes does not know at 

the moment of purchase how much of the issued Notes effectively are publicly traded, with the 

consequence that the amount in circulation could be meagre and may not guarantee successively adequate 

liquidity in the Notes. 

Issue of subsequent tranche 

In the event the relevant Issuer decides to issue further Notes having the same terms and conditions as an 

already existing Series of Notes (or in all respects except for the Issue Price, the Issue Date and/or the 

first payment of interest) and so that the further Notes shall be consolidated and form a single series with 

the original Notes, the greater nominal amount in circulation could lead to a greater offer of the relevant 

Notes in the secondary market with a consequent negative impact on the price of the relevant Series of the 

Notes. 
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Reform of EURIBOR and other interest rate index and equity, commodity and foreign exchange rate 

index ñbenchmarksò  

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate (ñEURIBORò) and other indices which are deemed ñbenchmarksò are 

the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some 

of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause 

such ñbenchmarksò to perform differently than in the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other 

consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on 

any Notes linked to a ñbenchmarkò. 

Key international reforms of ñbenchmarksò include IOSCOôs proposed Principles for Financial Market 

Benchmarks (July 2013) (the ñIOSCO Benchmark Principlesò) and Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of 

the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial 

instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds and amending 

Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No. 596/2014 (the ñBenchmarks 

Regulationò). 

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing to a rate 

or index deemed to be a "benchmark", in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the 

ñbenchmarkò are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such 

changes could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the 

volatility of the published rate or level of the ñbenchmarkò. 

Any of the international, national or other reforms or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of 

ñbenchmarksò could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting 

of a ñbenchmarkò and complying with any such regulations or requirements. For example, the 

sustainability of the London interbank offered rate (ñLIBORò) has been questioned as a result of the 

absence of relevant active underlying markets and possible disincentives (including possibly as a result of 

regulatory reforms) for market participants to continue contributing to such ñbenchmarksò. On 27 July 

2017, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority announced that it will no longer persuade or 

compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR ñbenchmarkò after 2021 (the ñFCA 

Announcementò). The FCA Announcement indicated that the continuation of LIBOR on the current 

basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021. The potential elimination of the LIBOR ñbenchmarkò 

or any other ñbenchmarkò, or changes in the manner of administration of any ñbenchmarkò, could require 

an adjustment to the terms and conditions, or result in other consequences, in respect of any Note 

referencing such ñbenchmarkò. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from 

continuing to administer or participate in certain ñbenchmarksò, trigger changes in the rules or 

methodologies used in certain ñbenchmarksò or lead to the disappearance of certain ñbenchmarksò. Any 

of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or 

other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any 

such Notes. 

Following the implementation of any such reforms, the manner of administration of benchmarks may 

change, with the result that they may perform differently than in the past, or the benchmark could be 

eliminated entirely, or there could be other consequences that cannot be predicted. The disappearance of 

a ñbenchmarkò or changes in the manner of administration of a ñbenchmarkò could require or result in 

adjustment to the interest calculation provisions of the Conditions (as described in Condition 3(o) 

(Benchmark replacement) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 3(o) 

(Benchmark replacement) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes or result in adverse 

consequences to holders of any securities linked to such benchmark (including but not limited to 

Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes whose interest rates are linked to LIBOR or any other such 

benchmark that is subject to reform). Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes and 

transitions to alternative reference rates as stated in the FCA Announcement, uncertainty as to the nature 

of such alternative reference rates and as to potential changes to such benchmark may adversely affect 

such benchmark during the term of the relevant Notes, the return on the relevant Notes and the trading 

market for securities based on the same benchmark. 

Even if the rate determination agent is able to determine an appropriate replacement rate for any 

Benchmark, if the replacement of the Benchmark with the replacement rate would result in a 
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MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event or (in the case of Subordinated Notes only) a Regulatory Event, 

the rate of interest will not be changed, but will instead be fixed on the basis of the last available 

quotation of the Benchmark. This could occur if, for example, the switch to the replacement rate would 

create an incentive to redeem the relevant Notes that would be inconsistent with the relevant 

requirements necessary to maintain the regulatory status of the Notes. While this mechanism will ensure 

that the Notes will not become subject to a potential regulatory event-based redemption, it will result in 

the Notes being effectively converted to fixed rate instruments. Investors holding such Notes might 

incur costs from unwinding hedges. Moreover, in a rising interest rate environment, holders of such 

Notes will not benefit from any increase in rates. The trading value of the Notes could as a consequence 

be adversely affected. 

The Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark, such as 

LIBOR, (including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any successor service)) 

becomes unavailable, including the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a 

reference bond rate, a successor rate or an alternative reference rate and that such successor rate or 

alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent 

reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to 

investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark. In certain circumstances the ultimate 

fallback of interest for a particular Interest Period or Reset Period (as applicable) may result in the rate 

of interest for the last preceding Interest Period or Reset Period (as applicable) being used. This may 

result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes (as applicable) 

based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. In addition, due to the 

uncertainty concerning the availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the 

involvement of an Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at 

the relevant time. 

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such 

Notes. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of 

any relevant reference rate could affect the ability of the relevant Issuer to meet its obligations under the 

Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, 

and the amount payable under, the Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes. Investors should consider these 

matters when making their investment decision with respect to the relevant Floating Rate Notes or Reset 

Notes. 

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the 

potential risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation reforms, investigations and licensing issues in 

making any investment decision with respect to the Notes linked to a ñbenchmarkò since the rate of 

interest will be changed in ways which may be adverse to holders of such Notes, without any 

requirement that the consent of such holders be obtained. 

Notes issued with a specific use of proceeds and Green, Social and Sustainability Bonds  

The net proceeds of the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be used for the general corporate purposes of 

the relevant Issuer. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of the proceeds, 

this will be specified in the applicable Final Terms, including in case an amount equivalent to the net 

proceeds of the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be used for the purposes of projects that promote 

climate-friendly and other environmental purposes and/or that promote access to labour market and 

accomplishment of general interest initiatives and/or to finance or refinance a combination of both green 

and social projects (typically known as ñsustainability bondsò). Where it does so, the relevant Final Terms 

may describe the Notes as ñgreen bondsò (ñGreen Bondsò), ñsocial bondsò (ñSocial Bondsò) or 

ñsustainability bondsò (ñSustainability Bondsò), in each case issued in accordance with the principles set 

out by the International Capital Market Association (ñICMAò). 

Prospective investors should have regard to the information in those Final Terms regarding such use of 

proceeds and must: 

(i) determine for themselves the relevance of such information for the purpose of any investment in 

such Notes;  
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(ii)  assess the suitability of that investment in light of their own circumstances; and  

(iii)  make any other investigation they deem necessary.  

In particular, no assurance is given by the Issuers that the use of such proceeds for the funding of any 

green, social or sustainability project will satisfy, either in whole or in part, any present or future investor 

expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or 

its investments are required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations or 

by its own articles of association or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates. In addition, it 

should be noted that there is currently no clearly established definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of 

a ñgreen", "social" or "sustainable" project or other equivalent label nor is there any market consensus as 

to what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be defined as such, and no assurance can 

be given that any clear definition or consensus will develop over time. Accordingly, no assurance can be 

given that any green, social or sustainable project towards which proceeds of the Notes are to be applied 

will meet investor expectations regarding any "green" or "social" or "sustainable" performance objectives 

or that any adverse event will not occur during the implementation of any such project. 

Furthermore, in connection with any Notes that are stated to be Green Bonds, Social Bonds or 

Sustainability Bonds, the Issuer may request a sustainability rating agency or sustainability consulting 

firm to issue a second-party opinion confirming that the relevant green, low carbon, social and/or 

sustainable projects comply with the broad categorisation of eligibility for those projects under the 

principles set out by ICMA and/or a second-party opinion regarding the suitability of the Notes as an 

investment in connection with certain environmental, sustainability or social projects (any such second-

party opinion, a "Second-party Opinion "). A Second-party Opinion may not reflect the potential impact 

of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors discussed above and other factors that 

may affect the value of the Notes or the projects financed or refinanced toward an amount corresponding 

to the net proceeds from the issue of the relevant Notes. A Second-party Opinion would not constitute a 

recommendation to buy, sell or hold the relevant Notes and would only be current as of the date it is 

released. In addition, a withdrawal of the Second-party Opinion may affect the value of such Notes and/or 

have consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in green or social or sustainable 

assets. 

While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply the proceeds of any Social Bonds, Green Bonds or 

Sustainability Bonds in, or substantially in, the manner described in the relevant Final Terms, there can be 

no assurance that any related green, low carbon, social or sustainable projects will be capable of being 

implemented in, or substantially in, such manner and/or in accordance with any timing schedule, and, 

accordingly, neither can it be guaranteed that the proceeds of the relevant Notes will be totally or partially 

disbursed for such projects. Nor can there be any assurance that such green, low carbon, social or 

sustainable projects will be completed within any specified period or at all or with the results or outcome 

as originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer.  

Any such event or failure to apply the proceeds of the issue of the Notes for any green, social or 

sustainable projects may have a material adverse effect on the value of the Notes and/or result in adverse 

consequences for, amongst others, investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for 

a particular purpose. Nevertheless, no such event or failure by the Issuer, including any failure to comply 

with any reporting obligations set out in the relevant Final Terms, will constitute an event of default under 

those Notes. 

(B) RISKS RELATED TO THE MARKET  

The secondary market generally 

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does 

develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at 

prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed 

secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, 

currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been 

structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes 

generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt 

securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes. 
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The relevant Issuer has no obligation to purchase the Notes from the Noteholders. However, should the 

relevant Issuer decide to purchase the Notes, the secondary market pricing that the Issuer may provide on 

the Notes may reflect the unwinding cost of the hedging portfolio (if any) and/or the loss of profit (lucro 

cessante) related to such hedging portfolio. 

Specific Buy Back Provisions 

If Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, investors 

should be aware that the relevant Issuer has issued the Notes also for the purpose of entering into, from 

time to time, certain Underlying Transactions. In this respect, the value of the Notes shall reflect and shall 

be calculated on the basis of the Market Value of such Underlying Transactions. The composition of the 

Underlying Transaction will be made available to the investors in accordance with the method of 

publication indicated in the relevant Final Terms. 

The Underlying Transactions will be selected from time to time by Mediobanca and/or Mediobanca 

International in their reasonable discretion with maturities and notional that can be larger, respectively, 

than the Maturity Date and Notional Amount of the relevant Notes, and the relevant composition is 

subject to change during the life of the Notes. Any changes in the composition of the Underlying 

Transaction could adversely affect the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions and, therefore, the 

value of the Notes. 

The Market Value of the Underlying Transactions, as determined by Mediobanca and/or Mediobanca 

International, acting in its capacity as Calculation Agent, in a fair and commercially reasonable manner 

and with reference to the market, could adversely affect the repurchase price, if any, of the Notes. 

Therefore in the event that an investor requests the relevant Issuer to repurchase the Notes hold by it prior 

to their maturity, and the relevant Issuer accepts such repurchase, the price of the Notes (Buy Back Price) 

will be a price that perfectly reflects the Market Value of such Underlying Transactions. In particular, 

investors should note that the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions could adversely and 

materially affect the Buy Back Price payable to the relevant investor, particularly where the Underlying 

Transactions have maturities and/or notional amounts longer and/or higher, respectively, than the 

Maturity Date and principal amount of the relevant Notes. 

The Specific Buy Back Provisions shall not affect the right of the investors to receive timely payments of 

principal and interest on the Notes. As consideration of the relevant Issuer entering into the Underlying 

Transactions in relation to the Notes, the relevant Issuer will pay an Extra Yield on the Notes. 

The Specific Buy Back Provisions may apply only to Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca 

and/or Mediobanca International and where Mediobanca and/or Mediobanca International are specified as 

Dealers. 

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls 

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest, if any, on the Notes in the Relevant Currency. This 

presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investorôs financial activities are denominated 

principally in a currency or currency unit (the ñInvestorôs Currencyò) other than the Relevant Currency. 

These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation 

of the Relevant Currency or revaluation of the Investorôs Currency or due to the official redenomination 

of the Relevant Currency, and/or Investorôs Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over 

Relevant Currency, and/or the Investorôs Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An 

appreciation in the value of the Investorôs Currency relative to the Relevant Currency would decrease (i) 

the Investorôs Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investorôs Currency equivalent value of the 

principal payable on the Notes, and (iii) the Investorôs Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. 

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that 

could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest, 

principal or other amount than expected, or no interest or principal or other amount. 

Interest rate risks 

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may 

adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes. 
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Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may 

not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, 

and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, 

sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or 

review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to 

determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as 

collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any 

Notes. Each prospective investor should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to 

determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 

Impact of implicit fees on the Issue/Offer Price 

Investors should note that implicit fees (e.g. placement fees, direction fees, structuring fees) may be a 

component of the Issue/Offer Price of Notes, but such fees will not be taken into account for the purposes 

of determining the price of the relevant Notes in the secondary market. 

The relevant Issuer will specify in the relevant Final Terms the type and amount of any implicit fees 

which are applicable from time to time. 

Investors should also take into consideration that if Notes are sold on the secondary market immediately 

following the offer period relating to such Notes, the implicit fees included in the Issue/Offer Price on 

initial subscription for such Notes will be deducted from the price at which such Notes may be sold in the 

secondary market. 

Certain considerations associated with public offers of Notes 

If Notes are distributed by means of a public offer, under certain circumstances indicated in the relevant 

Final Terms, the relevant Issuer and/or other entities specified in the Final Terms may have the right to 

withdraw the offer, which in such circumstances will be deemed to be null and void according to the 

terms indicated in the relevant Final Terms. 

In such case, investors who have already paid or delivered subscription monies for the relevant Notes will 

be entitled to reimbursement of such amounts, but will not receive any remuneration that may have 

accrued in the period between their payment or delivery of subscription monies and the reimbursement of 

the Notes. 

Possible Illiquidity of the Notes in the Secondary Market 

It is not possible to predict the price at which Notes will trade in the secondary market or whether such 

market will be liquid or illiquid. The relevant Issuer may, but is not obliged to, list or admit to trading 

Notes on a stock exchange or market. If the Notes are not listed or admitted to trading on any exchange or 

market, pricing information for the Notes may be more difficult to obtain and the liquidity of the Notes 

may be adversely affected. If the relevant Issuer does list or admit to trading an issue of Notes, there can 

be no assurance that at a later date, the Notes will not be delisted or that trading on such exchange or 

market will not be suspended. In the event of a delisting or suspension of listing or trading on a stock 

exchange or market, the relevant Issuer will use its reasonable efforts to list or admit to trading the Notes 

on another exchange or market. 

The relevant Issuer, or any of its Affiliates may, but is not obliged to, at any time purchase Notes at any 

price in the open market or by tender or private agreement. Any Notes so purchased may be held or resold 

or surrendered for cancellation. The relevant Issuer or any of its Affiliates may, but is not obliged to, be a 

market-maker for an issue of Notes. Even if the Issuer or such other entity is a market-maker for an issue 

of Notes, the secondary market for such Notes may be limited. 
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Investors should note that if an entity is appointed as market-maker or liquidity provider with respect to 

the Notes in the secondary market, this may, in certain circumstances, affect the price of the Notes in the 

secondary market. 

In addition, all or part of the Notes issued under this Programme may be subscribed upon issuance by the 

relevant Issuer itself or by its Affiliate(s) for resales thereafter on the basis of investorsô demand. 

Accordingly, investors subscribing for Notes upon their issuance should be aware that there may not be a 

viable secondary market for the relevant Notes immediately. Even if a market does develop subsequently, 

it may not be very liquid. 

Listing of Notes 

In respect of Notes which are (in accordance with the applicable Final Terms) to be listed on a stock 

exchange, market or quotation system, the relevant Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to maintain 

such listing, provided that if it becomes impracticable or unduly burdensome or unduly onerous to 

maintain such listing, then the relevant Issuer may apply to de-list the relevant Notes, although in this 

case it will use all reasonable endeavours to obtain and maintain (as soon as reasonably practicable after 

the relevant de- listing) an alternative admission to listing, trading and/or quotation by a stock exchange, 

market or quotation system within or outside the European Union, as it may decide. 

If such an alternative admission is not available or is, in the opinion of the relevant Issuer, impracticable 

or unduly burdensome, an alternative admission will not be obtained. 

Combination or ñlayeringò of multiple risk factors may significantly increase risk of loss 

Although the various risks discussed in this Base Prospectus are generally described separately, 

prospective investors in the Notes should consider the potential effects of the interplay of multiple risk 

factors. Where more than one significant risk factor is present, the risk of loss to an investor may be 

significantly increased. There are many other circumstances in which layering of multiple risks with 

respect to the Issuers and /or the Guarantor and/or the Notes may magnify the effect of those risks. 
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE EURO 40,000,000,000 EURO MEDIUM TERM NOTE 

PROGRAMME  

The following is a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25.1(b) of 

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980, to be read in conjunction with the Prospectus 

Regulation. The following overview does not purport to be complete and is qualified by the remainder of 

this Document and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Series (as defined below in 

ñTerms and Conditions of the English Law Notesò and in ñTerms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notesò) of Notes, the applicable Final Terms. Subject as provided in ñTerms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notesò or in ñTerms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notesò, as the case may be, any of 

the following (including, without limitation, the type of Notes which may be issued pursuant to the 

Programme) may be varied or supplemented as agreed between the Issuer, the relevant Dealer(s) and the 

Fiscal Agent (if applicable). Words and expressions defined in ñForms of the Notesò, ñTerms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notesò and ñTerms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notesò shall have 

the same meaning in this overview: 

Issuers: Mediobanca ï Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. and 

Mediobanca International (Luxembourg) S.A. 

Mediobanca - Banca di Credito 

Finanziario S.p.A.: 

Mediobanca was established on 10 April 1946 as a medium-

term credit granting institution in Italy. In 1956, Mediobancaôs 

shares were admitted to the Italian Stock Exchange and since 

then its business has expanded both nationally and 

internationally. 

 Mediobanca is registered at the Companiesô Registry of the 

Chamber of Commerce of Milan-Monza-Brianza-Lodi, Italy 

under registration number 00714490158. Mediobancaôs 

registered office is at Piazzetta E. Cuccia 1, 20121 Milan, Italy, 

telephone number (+39) 0288291. 

 Mediobanca holds a banking licence from the Bank of Italy 

authorising it to carry on all permitted types of banking 

activities in Italy. 

 Mediobanca is a bank organised and existing under the laws of 

Italy, carrying out a wide range of banking, financial and 

related activities throughout Italy. 

 At the date hereof, Mediobancaôs issued share capital totals 

Euro 443,616,723.50, represented by 887,233,446 registered 

shares of a nominal value of Euro 0.50. 

 The Board of Directors of Mediobanca is responsible for the 

ordinary and extraordinary management of Mediobanca. 

Mediobanca International 

(Luxembourg) S.A.: 

Mediobanca International has the form of a société anonyme 

subject to Luxembourg law and has its place of registration in 

Luxembourg. On 15 December 2005, the Luxembourg 

Minister of the Treasury and the Budget, on the 

recommendation of the CSSF, granted Mediobanca 

International a full banking licence pursuant to which its 

operations include raising funds in the international markets 

and lending, consistent with Mediobanca Internationalôs 

articles of association approved by the shareholders in the 

general meeting held on 21 December 2005. 

 Mediobanca International is registered at the Luxembourg 

trade and companies registry under registration number B 

112885. Mediobanca Internationalôs registered office is at 4, 
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Boulevard Joseph II, L-1840 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of 

Luxembourg. 

 As at 30 June 2020, Mediobanca Internationalôs issued and 

authorised fully paid share capital totals Euro 10,000,000 

represented by 1,000,000 registered shares of Euro 10 par 

value. 

 The Board of Directors of Mediobanca International is 

responsible for setting authorisation levels, defining 

organisational structure, defining the system of internal control 

and reviewing it on a regular basis, and approving the bankôs 

accounts and interim statements. Day-to-day management is 

entrusted to two authorised managers. 

Guarantor : Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. with respect 

to Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International 

(Luxembourg) S.A. 

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme. 

Arranger : Mediobanca Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. 

Dealers: Banca Akros S.p.A. Gruppo Banco BPM; Barclays Bank 

Ireland PLC; Barclays Bank PLC; BNP Paribas; Crédit 

Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank; Credit Suisse 

Securities (Europe) Limited; Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.; JP 

Morgan AG; J.P. Morgan Securities plc; MEDIOBANCA - 

Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A; NatWest Markets N.V.; 

Société Générale and UniCredit Bank AG. 

 Each of the Issuers may from time to time terminate the 

appointment of any dealer under the Programme or appoint 

additional dealers either in respect of a single Tranche or in 

respect of the whole Programme. 

Fiscal Agent: BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch will act 

as Fiscal Agent in respect of the Notes except for Notes in 

dematerialised form, which are deposited directly with Monte 

Titoli S.p.A. (ñMonte Titoliò). BNP Paribas Securities 

Services Luxembourg Branch, being part of a financial group 

providing client services with a worldwide network covering 

different time zones, may entrust parts of its operational 

processes to other BNP Paribas Group entities and/or third 

parties, whilst keeping ultimate accountability and 

responsibility in Luxembourg. Further information on the 

international operating model of BNP Paribas Securities 

Services Luxembourg Branch may be provided upon request. 

Italian Paying Agent: Mediobanca ï Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. will act as 

Italian Paying Agent with respect to Notes in dematerialised 

form deposited directly with Monte Titoli (which role will 

include the role of Fiscal Agent with respect to such Notes). 

Size: Up to Euro 40,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other 

currencies at the date of each issue) aggregate principal amount 

of Notes outstanding at any one time. 

Currencies: Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and 

directives, Notes may be issued in any currency or currencies 

as the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable), and 
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the relevant Dealer so agree. 

Maturities/Final Redemption: Any maturity subject to compliance with all relevant laws, 

regulations and directives. Unless previously redeemed, 

purchased and cancelled as provided in accordance with 

Conditions 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reasons), 4(d) 

(Purchases), 4(f) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), 

Condition 4(h) (Redemption at the option of holders of Notes) 

or Condition 4(i) (Redemption by instalments) of the Terms 

and Conditions of the English Law Notes or Conditions 4(c) 

(Redemption for taxation reasons), 4(d) (Purchases), 4(f) 

(Redemption at the option of the Issuer), 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), 4(h) (Redemption at the 

option of holders of Notes) or Condition 4(i) (Redemption by 

instalments) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notes, as the case may be, each Note will be redeemed at its 

Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date. 

 Any Senior Preferred Notes in respect of which the issue 

proceeds are received by the relevant Issuer in the United 

Kingdom and which have a maturity of less than one year from 

the date of issue must (a) have a minimum redemption value of 

£100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and be issued 

only to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in 

acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as 

principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who 

it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose 

of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their 

businesses or (b) be issued in other circumstances which do not 

constitute a contravention of section 19 of the Financial 

Services and Markets Act 2000 by the relevant Issuer. 

 Under applicable laws and regulations at the date of this Base 

Prospectus:  

(i) Senior Non Preferred Notes shall have a minimum 

Maturity Period of twelve months, as provided under 

Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the 

Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing 

regulation which may be enacted for such purposes by 

any Relevant Authority, and may be redeemable only 

after twelve monthsô prior notice to holders of the Senior 

Non Preferred Notes subject to the prior authorisation of 

the Bank of Italy, when required; and 

(ii)  Subordinated Notes shall have a minimum Maturity 

Period of five years, as provided under the Applicable 

Banking Regulations, and may be redeemable only after 

five yearsô prior notice to holders of Subordinated Notes 

subject to Relevant Authority prior authorisation, when 

required.  

Denomination: Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to compliance 

with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank 

requirements and save that the minimum denomination of each 

Note admitted to trading on a regulated market within the 

European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member 

State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which 
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require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus 

Regulation will be ú1,000 (or where the Notes are 

denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent 

amount in such other currency) and that Senior Non Preferred 

Notes issued under the Programme will have a denomination 

of at least ú250,000 (or, where the Senior Non Preferred Notes 

are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent 

amount in such other currency). 

Method of Issue: The Notes may be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated 

basis. The Notes will be issued in one or more Series (which 

may be issued on the same date or which may be issued in 

more than one Tranche on different dates). The Notes may be 

issued in Tranches on a continuous basis with no minimum 

issue size, subject to compliance with all applicable laws, 

regulations and directives. Further Notes may be issued as part 

of an existing Series. 

Consolidation of Notes: Notes of one series may be consolidated with Notes of another 

Series, all as described in Condition 11 (Further Issues and 

Consolidation) of the Terms and Conditions of the English 

Law Notes or Condition 11 (Further Issues and Consolidation) 

of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

Final Terms or Drawdown 

Prospectus: 

Notes issued under the Programme may be issued either (i) 

pursuant to this Base Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms 

or (ii) pursuant to a Drawdown Prospectus. The terms and 

conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are 

the relevant Terms and Conditions of the Notes as completed 

by the relevant Final Terms or, as the case may be, the relevant 

Drawdown Prospectus. 

 References in this General Description of the Euro 

40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme to the 

ñFinal Termsò shall, where applicable, be read as references to 

the Drawdown Prospectus relating to the Notes, as the case 

may be. 

Form of Notes: The Notes may be issued in bearer form only. 

 If the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, the 

relevant Final Terms will specify whether each Global Note is 

to be issued in New Global Note or in Classic Global Note 

form. Each Tranche of Notes will initially be represented by a 

Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note which, in 

each case, will be deposited on or around the Issue Date: (a) in 

the case of Notes intended to be issued in Classic Global Note 

form, with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing 

system and/or deposited directly with Monte Titoli S.p.A. 

and/or any other centralised custodian appointed by the Issuers 

(together, the ñCentralised Custodianò) and (b) in the case of 

Notes intended to be issued in New Global Note form, with a 

common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg. No interest will be payable in respect of a 

Temporary Global Note except as described under ñProvisions 

Relating to the Notes While in Global Formò. 

 Interests in Temporary Global Notes will be exchangeable for 

interests in Permanent Global Notes or, if so stated in the 
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relevant Final Terms for Definitive Notes after the date falling 

40 days after the Issue Date upon certification as to non-U.S. 

beneficial ownership. If specified in the relevant Final Terms, 

interests in Permanent Global Notes will be exchangeable for 

definitive Notes as described under ñProvisions Relating to the 

Notes While in Global Formò. Definitive Notes will, if 

interest-bearing, have interest Coupons attached and, if 

appropriate, a Talon for further Coupons and will, if the 

principal thereof is repayable by instalments, have payment 

Receipts attached. 

 If the Notes are issued and held in book-entry form, the Notes 

will not be represented by paper certificates and the transfer 

and exchange of Notes will take place exclusively through an 

electronic book-entry system managed by Monte Titoli S.p.A. 

or any other Centralised Custodian appointed by the Issuer. 

Accordingly, all Notes of the same tranche shall be deposited 

by their owners with an intermediary participant in the relevant 

Centralised Custodian. The intermediary will in turn deposit 

the Notes with the Centralised Custodian. 

 In such circumstances, it will not possible for a Noteholder to 

obtain physical delivery of certificates representing the Notes. 

Issue Price of the Notes: Issue Price will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Notes 

may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount or 

premium to their principal amount. 

Type of Notes: The Issuer may issue Notes of any kind, including but not 

limited to, Fixed Rate Notes, Reset Notes (in case of the Senior 

Preferred Notes and Subordinated Notes only), Floating Rate 

Notes and Zero Coupon Notes. 

 Notes will be redeemed by way of cash payment. 

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in 

each year specified in the relevant Final Terms. The yield in 

respect of Fixed Rate Notes will be specified in the relevant 

Final Terms and will be calculated as internal rate of return 

(IRR) on the basis of the Issue Price, any Fixed Coupon and/or 

any Broken Amount. 

Reset Notes: If the Senior Preferred Notes and the Subordinated Notes are 

issued as Reset Notes, then such Reset Notes will, in respect of 

an initial period, bear interest at the initial fixed rate of interest 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. Thereafter, the fixed rate 

of interest will be reset on one or more date(s) specified in the 

relevant Final Terms by reference to a mid-market swap rate, 

as adjusted for any applicable margin, in each case, as may be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms.  

 
Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest by reference to the 

benchmark as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

adjusted for any applicable margin/multiplier. 

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their principal amount or 

at a discount or a premium to it and will not bear interest. 

Interest Periods and Interest Rates The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the 

applicable interest rate or its method of calculation may differ 
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for the Notes: from time to time or be constant for any Series. The Senior 

Preferred Notes and the Subordinated Notes may have a 

maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The 

use of interest accrual periods permits the Senior Preferred 

Notes and the Subordinated Notes to bear interest at different 

rates in the same interest period. 

Redemption Amount for the Notes: Notes may be redeemable at par or at such other Redemption 

Amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

Redemption by Instalments for the 

Notes: 

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes which 

are redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the date 

on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be 

redeemed. 

Status of the Notes: Notes may be issued by Mediobanca on a subordinated basis 

(the ñSubordinated Notesò), senior non preferred basis (the 

ñSenior Non Preferred Notesò) or senior preferred basis (the 

ñSenior Preferred Notesò and, together with the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes, the ñSenior Notesò), as specified in the 

relevant Final Terms. Senior Preferred Notes issued by 

Mediobanca International may only be issued on a senior 

preferred basis. 

 (i) Status of the Senior Preferred Notes: 

 The Senior Preferred Notes will constitute direct, 

unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured 

obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank at all 

times at least pari passu without any preference 

among themselves and equally with all other present 

and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations 

of the relevant Issuer, save for certain mandatory 

exceptions of applicable law, it being understood 

moreover that the obligations of the relevant Issuer 

under the Senior Preferred Notes will be subject to the 

Italian Bail-In Power or the Luxembourg Bail-In 

Power, as the case may be. See Condition 2(b) (Status 

of the Senior Preferred Notes) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes or Condition 

2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred Notes) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

 (ii)  Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes: 
 

The Senior Non Preferred Notes will constitute direct, 

unconditional, unsubordinated, unsecured and non 

preferred obligations of Mediobanca and will rank at 

all times pari passu without any preference among 

themselves.  

In the event of a winding up, dissolution, liquidation 

or bankruptcy (including, inter alia, Liquidazione 

Coatta Amministrativa) of Mediobanca, the payment 

obligations of Mediobanca under each Series of Senior 

Non Preferred Notes, and the relative Coupons as the 

case may be, will rank in right of payment (A) after 

unsubordinated creditors (including depositors and 

any holder of Senior Preferred Notes and their 
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respective Coupons) of Mediobanca but (B) at least 

pari passu with all other present and future 

unsubordinated and non preferred obligations 

obligations of Mediobanca which do not rank or are 

not expressed by their terms to rank junior or senior to 

such Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes and (C) in 

priority to any present or future claims ranking junior 

to such Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes 

(including any holder of Subordinated Notes) and the 

claims of shareholders of Mediobanca, in all such 

cases in accordance with the provisions of Article 91, 

paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act 

and any relevant implementing regulation which may 

be enacted for such purposes by any Relevant 

Authority, it being understood moreover that the 

obligations of Mediobanca under the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In 

Power. 

(iii)  Status of the Subordinated Notes: 

  

The Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured 

and subordinated obligations of Mediobanca and will 

at all times rank pari passu and without any 

preference among themselves, all as described in 

Condition 2(d) (Status of the Subordinated Notes) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes or 

Condition 2(d) (Status of the Subordinated Notes) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes 

and the relevant Final Terms. 

 In the event of a winding up, dissolution, liquidation 

or bankruptcy (including, inter alia, Liquidazione 

Coatta Amministrativa) of Mediobanca, the payment 

obligations of Mediobanca under each Series of 

Subordinated Notes, and the related Coupons as the 

case may be, will rank in right of payment (A) after 

unsubordinated creditors (including depositors and 

any holder of Senior Notes and their respective 

Coupons) of Mediobanca as well as subordinated 

creditors which rank or are expressed to rank senior to 

Subordinated Notes but (B) at least pari passu with all 

other subordinated obligations of Mediobanca which 

do not rank or are not expressed by their terms to rank 

junior or senior to such Series of Subordinated Notes 

and (C) in priority to the claims of subordinated 

creditors ranking or expressed to rank junior to the 

Subordinated Notes (including, but not limited to, 

ñAdditional Tier 1 Instrumentsò (as defined in the 

Prudential Regulations for Banks and in the CRR)) 

and of the shareholders of Mediobanca, as described 

in Condition 2 (Status of the Notes and Guarantee) of 

the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes or 

Condition 2 (Status of Notes and Guarantee) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes and 

the relevant Final Terms, it being understood 

moreover that the obligations of Mediobanca under 

the Subordinated Notes will be subject to the Italian 
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Bail-In Power. 

Guarantee: Under the Deed of Guarantee, and in accordance with the 

terms and subject to the limitations thereof, Mediobanca 

unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees payment of all 

amounts due in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by 

Mediobanca International. 

Status of the Guarantee: The payment obligations of the Guarantor under the Deed of 

Guarantee constitute ï in accordance with the terms and 

subject to the limitations thereof ï direct, unconditional, 

unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor 

which will rank at all times at least pari passu without any 

preference among themselves and equally with all other 

present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations 

of the Guarantor, save for certain mandatory exceptions of 

applicable law. See also Condition 2(e) (Status of Guarantee) 

of the the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes or 

Condition 2(e) (Status of Guarantee) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. In particular, pursuant to 

the Deed of Guarantee to the extent under the applicable law in 

force at the relevant time, a cap to the maximum amount to be 

guaranteed is required, the Guarantor shall only be liable up to 

an amount which is the aggregate of 110 per cent. of the 

aggregate principal amount of any Tranche of the Senior 

Preferred Notes (in each case as specified in the applicable 

Final Terms) and 110 per cent. of the interest on such Senior 

Preferred Notes accrued but not paid as at any date on which 

the Guarantorôs liability falls to be determined. In addition, 

pursuant to the Deed of Guarantee, the Guarantor has also 

undertaken to issue an additional guarantee in an amount equal 

to any liability exceeding the maximum amount mentioned 

above in relation to any Tranche of Senior Preferred Notes. 

Cross Default: If specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the 

Senior Preferred Notes will contain a cross default in respect of 

indebtedness for borrowed money of the relevant Issuer and, 

where applicable, the Guarantor, as more fully set out in 

Condition 8(a) (Events of Default of the Senior Preferred 

Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes 

or Condition 8(a) (Events of Default of the Senior Preferred 

Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

Redemption: Notes may be redeemable as specified in the relevant Final 

Terms. 

 For so long as:  

(I) it is required under the MREL/TLAC Requirements, any 

redemption, purchase or modification of the Senior 

Preferred Notes in accordance with the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes or the Terms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes is subject to the 

Issuer giving notice to the Relevant Authority and the 

Relevant Authority granting permission to redeem or 

purchase the relevant Senior Preferred Notes; 

(II)  it is required under Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-

bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any 
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relevant implementing regulation which may be enacted 

for such purposes by any Relevant Authority and/or under 

the MREL/TLAC Requirements, any redemption, 

purchase or modification of the Senior Non Preferred 

Notes in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the 

Italian Law Notes is subject to the Issuer giving notice to 

the Relevant Authority and the Relevant Authority 

granting permission to redeem or purchase the relevant 

Senior Non Preferred Notes; and 

(III)  it is required under Applicable Banking Regulations, any 

redemption, purchase or modification of the Subordinated 

Notes in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the 

Italian Law Notes is subject to: (i) the prior approval of 

the Relevant Authority, as provided under the Applicable 

Banking Regulations; (ii) in the case of any redemption or 

purchase, if and to the extent then required under the 

Applicable Banking Regulations, either (A) Mediobanca 

having replaced the Subordinated Notes with own funds 

instruments of equal or higher quality at terms that are 

sustainable for the income capacity of Mediobanca; or (B) 

Mediobanca having demonstrated to the satisfaction of 

the Relevant Authority that the own funds of Mediobanca 

would, following such redemption or purchase, exceed its 

Regulatory Capital Requirements for the time being; and 

(iii) in the case of any redemption prior to the fifth 

anniversary of the Issue Date, (A) in case of redemption 

for tax reasons, Mediobanca has demonstrated to the 

satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the change in 

tax treatment is material and was not reasonably 

foreseeable as at the Issue Date, or (B) in the case of a 

Regulatory Event, Mediobanca has demonstrated to the 

satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the relevant 

change in the regulatory classification of the Subordinated 

Notes was not reasonably foreseeable as at the Issue 

Datee and the Relevant Authority considers such change 

to be reasonably certain. 

Optional Redemption: Subject to any legal and regulatory requirements, the Final 

Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state 

whether such Notes may be redeemed before their stated 

maturity at the option of the relevant Issuer (either in whole or 

in part) and/or the Noteholders, and if so the terms applicable 

to such redemption and subject to all relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements. 

 If the Notes are:  

(i) Senior Preferred Notes, unless otherwise permitted under 

the MREL/TLAC Requirements, the Optional 

Redemption Date shall be subject to the prior 

authorisation of the Relevant Authority, when required; 

(ii)  Senior Non Preferred Notes, unless otherwise permitted 

by Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of 

the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing 

regulation which may be enacted for such purposes by 
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any Relevant Authority and/or under the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements, the Optional Redemption Date shall not be 

earlier than twelve months after the Issue Date, subject to 

the prior authorisation of the Relevant Authority, when 

required; and 

(iii)  Subordinated Notes, unless otherwise permitted by 

current laws, regulations, directives, and/or the Relevant 

Authorityôs requirements applicable to the issue of 

Subordinated Notes by Mediobanca, the Optional 

Redemption Date shall not be earlier than five years after 

the Issue Date, subject to the Relevant Authority prior 

authorisation when required.  

 Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to 

redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 4(l) 

(Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the 

Italian Law Notes (as the case may be), if Regulatory Call is 

specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Senior Notes and 

the Subordinated Notes may be redeemed at the option of 

Mediobanca, in whole but not in part, at any time (if the Note 

is not a Floating Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date 

(if the Note is a Floating Rate Note): (i) in case of the Senior 

Notes, upon the occurrence of a MREL/TLAC Disqualification 

Event (as defined in Condition 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes or Condition 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes) with respect to 

the relevant Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or Senior 

Non Preferred Notes and (ii) in case of Subordinated Notes, 

the Subordinated Notes cease to qualify (in whole or in part) as 

ñTier II Capitalò, on a consolidated or non consolidated basis, 

as a result of changes after the date of issue of the relevant 

Subordinated Notes in accordance with Applicable Banking 

Regulations. 

Tax Redemption: With respect to Notes, the relevant Final Terms will specify 

whether early redemption will be permitted for tax reasons as 

described in Condition 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reasons) 

of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and of 

the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 

Taxation: All payments in respect of Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the 

Issuer or (as the case may be) the Guarantor under the Deed of 

Guarantee will be made without withholding or deduction for, 

or on account of, any taxes imposed by the Grand Duchy of 

Luxembourg or the Republic of Italy, as the case may be, 

unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In 

that event, the Issuer or (as the case may be) the Guarantor will 

(save as provided in Condition 6 (Taxation) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes and of the Terms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes) pay such additional 

amounts in respect of principal and interest in the case of 

Senior Notes (if permitted by MREL/TLAC Requirements) 

and interest only in the case of Subordinated Notes as will 

result in the holders of Notes, Receipts or Coupons receiving 
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such amounts as they would have received in respect to Notes, 

Receipts or Coupons had no such withholding or deduction 

been required. 

 However, as more fully set out in Condition 6 (Taxation) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and of the 

Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, unless 

otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, neither the 

Issuer nor (as the case may be) the Guarantor will be liable to 

pay any additional amounts to holders of Notes, Receipts or 

Coupons in relation to any payment on any Note, Receipt or 

Coupon with respect to any withholding or deduction for or on 

account of, inter alia, (i) substitute tax (imposta sostitutiva) 

pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996 (as 

subsequently amended ñDecree No. 239ò); (ii) withholding tax 

pursuant to Presidential Decree No. 600 of 29 September 1973 

(ñDecree No. 600ò); and (iii) withholding tax on Notes 

qualifying as atypical securities (titoli atipici) for Italian tax 

purposes, pursuant to Law Decree No. 512 of 30 September 

1983 (ñDecree No. 512ò). 

Rating: The rating of the Notes, if any, to be issued under the 

Programme will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme will be rated or 

unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will 

not necessarily be the same as the rating(s) described above or 

the rating(s) assigned to Notes already issued. Where a 

Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. Whether or not each 

credit rating applied for in relation to a relevant Tranche of 

Notes will be (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in 

the EEA or in the UK and registered under the CRA 

Regulation, or (2) issued by a credit rating agency which is not 

established in the EEA or in the UK but will be endorsed by a 

CRA which is established in the EEA or in the UK and 

registered under the CRA Regulation or (3) issued by a credit 

rating agency which is not established in the EEA or in the UK 

but which is certified under the CRA Regulation will be 

disclosed in the Final Terms. In general, European regulated 

investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory 

purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency 

established in the EEA or in the UK and registered under the 

CRA Regulation unless (1) the rating is provided by a credit 

rating agency not established in the EEA or in the UK but is 

endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA or in 

the UK and registered under the CRA Regulation or (2) the 

rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in 

the EEA or in the UK which is certified under the CRA 

Regulation. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or 

hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or 

withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 

Governing Law: The English Law Notes and the Italian Law Notes and any 

non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with 

the relevant Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed 

in accordance with, respectively, English law or Italian Law, 

also in accordance with the provisions of Regulation (EC) no. 

864/2007 of 11 July 2007 on the law applicable to non-
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contractual obligations (the ñRome II Regulationò) except, (I)  

in case of Notes issued by Mediobanca, Conditions 2(b) 

(Status of the Senior Preferred Notes), 2(c) (Status of the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes), 2(d) (Status of the Subordinated 

Notes), 4(b) (Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption 

for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), 8(b) (Events of 

Default of the Senior Non Preferred Notes), 8(c) (Events of 

Default of the Subordinated Notes) and 16 (Acknowledgment of 

the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) of the Terms and 

Conditions of the English Law Notes, are governed by, and 

shall be construed in accordance with, Italian law; (II)  in case 

of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, 

Conditions 2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred Notes), 4(b) 

(Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) and Condition 16 

(Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) 

of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes or 

Conditions 2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred Notes), 4(b) 

(Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) and Condition 15 

(Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) 

of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, are 

governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 

Luxembourgish law. For the avoidance of doubt, articles 470-3 

to 470-19 of the Luxembourg law on commercial companies 

dated 10 August 1915, as amended from time to time (the 

ñLuxembourg Company Lawò) shall not apply to Senior 

Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International. 

Listing and Admission to Trading: The Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank of 

Ireland as competent authority under the Prospectus 

Regulation. Application has also been made for Notes issued 

under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the 

regulated market of the Euronext Dublin and to be listed on the 

Official List of the Euronext Dublin. 

 Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, 

on other or further stock exchanges or markets as may be 

agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (where 

applicable) and the relevant Dealer in relation to the relevant 

Series. Notes which are neither listed nor admitted to trading 

on any market may also be issued. 

 The Central Bank of Ireland may, at the request of either 

Issuer, send to the competent authority of another European 

Economic Area Member State (i) a copy of this Base 

Prospectus; and (ii) a Certificate of Approval in accordance 

with Article 25 of the Prospectus Regulation. 

 Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if 

any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and 

any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are 

applicable to each Tranche of Notes will be set out in the 

relevant Final Terms which, with respect to Notes to be listed 

on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin, and admitted to 

trading on the regulated market of the Euronext Dublin will be 

delivered to the Euronext Dublin. 
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 The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the 

relevant Notes are to be listed and admitted to trading and, if 

so, on which stock exchanges and markets. 

Selling Restrictions: See ñPlan of Distributionò. 

 



 

 

42 

 

 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORAT ED BY REFERENCE 

The following documents, which have been approved by or filed with the Central Bank of Ireland and the 

Euronext Dublin, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Base 

Prospectus:  

¶ the audited consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years ended 30 June 2020 

and 2019 of Mediobanca;  

¶ the audited non-consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years ended 30 June 

2020 and 2019 of Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (pages 25 - 46) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 11 

January 2007 relating to the Euro 16,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of 

Mediobanca and Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (pages 34 - 56) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 4 

December 2007 relating to the Euro 25,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of 

Mediobanca and Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (pages 37 ï 58) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 12 

December 2008 relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of 

Mediobanca and Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (pages 39 ï 61) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 16 

December 2009 relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of 

Mediobanca and Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (pages 99 ï 133) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 13 

January 2011 relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Issuance Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (pages 105 ï 139) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 30 

November 2011 relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Issuance Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 76 ï 105) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 106 ï 138) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 23 January 2013 

relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 76 ï 105) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 106 ï 137) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 27 January 2014 

relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International; 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 81 ï 111) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 112 ï 143) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 19 December 

2014 relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca 

and Mediobanca International;  

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 85 - 117) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 118 - 150) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 11 December 2015 

relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International;  

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 69 - 96) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 97 - 123) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 22 December 2016 

relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International;  
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¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 83 ï 112) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 113 ï 141) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 24 January 2018 

relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International; and 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes (pages 84 - 122) and the Terms and Conditions of 

the Subordinated Notes (pages 123 - 155) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 21 December 2018 

relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Mediobanca and 

Mediobanca International, 

¶ the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes Notes (pages 48 - 92) and the Terms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes (pages 93 - 137) set out in the Base Prospectus dated 16 

December 2019 relating to the Euro 40,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of 

Mediobanca and Mediobanca International, 

in the case of the above-mentioned financial statements, together with the accompanying notes and 

(where applicable) auditorsô reports, save that any statement contained in this Base Prospectus or in any 

of the documents incorporated by reference in, and forming part of, this Base Prospectus shall be deemed 

to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement 

contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference by way of supplement prepared in 

accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation modifies or supersedes such statement. Where 

only certain sections of a document referred to above are incorporated by reference to this Base 

Prospectus, the parts of the document which are not incorporated by reference are either not relevant for 

prospective investors or are covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus. 

The Issuers will provide, without charge to each person to whom a copy of this Base Prospectus has been 

delivered, upon the request of such person, a copy (by electronic means, unless such person requests hard 

copy) of any or all the documents deemed to be incorporated by reference herein unless such documents 

have been modified or superseded as specified above, in which case the modified or superseded version 

of such document will be provided. Request for such documents should be directed to the Issuers at their 

offices set out at the end of this Base Prospectus. In addition, such documents will be available, without 

charge, at the principal office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg and on the Mediobancaôs website at 

the following link (https://www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/results-presentations/risultati.html 

with respect to the financial information, https://www.mediobanca.com/en/products-

issued/documents/framework-documentation.html with respect to the remaining documents listed above) 

and on the Mediobanca Internationalôs website (https://www.mediobancaint.lu/en/investor-

documentation.html). 

The following table shows where some of the information incorporated by reference this Base Prospectus 

can be found in the above-mentioned documents. Information contained in those documents other than 

the information listed below does not form part of this Base Prospectus and is either not relevant or 

covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus. 

Cross-reference list in respect of the Mediobanca and Mediobanca International financial 

statements  

Mediobanca - Consolidated annual financial 

statements 

  

2020 2019 

Consolidated Balance sheet .................................  Pages 100-101 Pages 86-87 

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account  ...............  

Consolidated Comprehensive Profit and Loss 

Account  ..............................................................  

Pages 102  

Pages 103 
Pages 88 

Pages 89  

Statement of changes in Consolidated Net 

Equity ..................................................................  

Pages 104-105  Pages 90-91  

Consolidated Cash flow Statement Direct 

Method ................................................................  

Page 106 Pages 92  

Notes to the accounts Pages 112-364 Pages 98-345 

Auditorsô reports..................................................  Pages 449-459 Pages 376-385 
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Mediobanca International - Non-

Consolidated annual financial statements 

  

2020 2019 

Statement of financial position ............................  Pages 36-37 Pages 40-41 

Statement of comprehensive income ...................  Pages 38  Page 42  

Statement of changes in equity ............................  Pages 39-40  Pages 43-44  

Cash flow statement ............................................  Page 41  Pages 45-46  

Accounting policies and explanatory notes .........  Pages 43-151 Pages 48-176  

Auditorsô reports..................................................  Pages 29-34 Pages 33-38  
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FINAL TERMS, SUPPLEM ENTS AND FURTHER PROSPECTUSES 

In this section the expression ñnecessary informationò means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the 

information necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, 

financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor and of the rights 

attaching to the Notes and the Guarantee. In relation to the different types of Notes which may be issued 

under the Programme the Issuer and the Guarantor have included in this Base Prospectus all of the 

necessary information except for information relating to the Notes which is not known at the date of this 

Base Prospectus and which can only be determined at the time of an individual issue of a Tranche of 

Notes. 

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Prospectus and which is required 

in order to complete the necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will be contained either 

in the relevant Final Terms or in a Drawdown Prospectus. 

For a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms, those Final Terms will, for the purposes of 

that Tranche only, complete this Base Prospectus and must be read in conjunction with this Base 

Prospectus. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject 

of Final Terms are the Conditions described in the relevant Final Terms. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a 

Drawdown Prospectus will be the Conditions as amended and/or replaced to the extent described in the 

relevant Drawdown Prospectus. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown 

Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the 

relevant Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or 

identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise. 

The Issuer will prepare a replacement prospectus setting out the changes in the operations and financial 

conditions of the Issuer at least every year. 

The Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the 

Programme there is a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the 

information contained in this Base Prospectus which may affect the assessment of the Notes, it shall 

prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use in connection with 

any subsequent offering of the Notes and shall supply to each Dealer a number of copies of such 

supplement as a Dealer may reasonably request. 

In addition, the Issuers and the Guarantor may agree with any Dealer to issue Notes in a form not 

contemplated in the sections of this Base Prospectus entitled ñForm of Final Termsò. To the extent that 

the information relating to that Tranche of Notes constitutes a significant new factor in relation to the 

information contained in this Base Prospectus, a separate prospectus specific to such Tranche (a 

ñDrawdown Prospectusò) will be made available and will contain such information. Each Drawdown 

Prospectus will be constituted either (1) by a single document containing the necessary information 

relating to the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca 

International only) the Guarantor and the relevant Notes or (2) pursuant to Article 6.3 of the Prospectus 

Regulation, by a registration document containing the necessary information relating to the relevant 

Issuer and (in the case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International only) the Guarantor, 

a securities note containing the necessary information relating to the relevant Notes and, if necessary, a 

summary note. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus, 

references in this Base Prospectus to information specified or identified in the Final Terms shall (unless 

the context requires otherwise) be read and construed as information specified or identified in the relevant 

Drawdown Prospectus. 
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FORMS OF THE NOTES 

(A) Temporary or Permanent Global Note 

Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, each Tranche of Notes will initially be in the form 

of either a temporary global note (a ñTemporary Global Noteò), without Coupons, or a permanent global 

note (a ñPermanent Global Noteò), without Coupons, in each case as specified in the relevant Final 

Terms. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, Permanent Global Note (each, a ñGlobal 

Noteò) which is not intended to be issued in a new global note form (a ñClassic Global Noteò or 

ñCGNò), as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the Issue Date of the 

relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV 

(ñEuroclearò) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (ñClearstream, Luxembourgò or ñCBLò) and/or any 

other relevant clearing system and/or deposited directly with Monte Titoli S.p.A. and/or any other 

centralised custodian appointed by the Issuers (together, the ñCentralised Custodianò) and each Global 

Note which is intended to be issued in new global note form (a ñNew Global Noteò or ñNGNò), as 

specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the Issue Date of the relevant 

Tranche of the Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

On 13 June 2006 the European Central Bank (the ñECBò) announced that Notes in NGN form are in 

compliance with the ñStandards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit 

operationsò of the central banking system for the euro (the ñEurosystemò), provided that certain other 

criteria are fulfilled (including denomination in euro and listing on an EU regulated market or on an ECB-

approved non-regulated market). At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes 

in NGN form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and the debt 

securities in global bearer form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 

December 2006 will only be eligible as collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used (and 

if the above-mentioned other criteria are fulfilled). 

The relevant Final Terms will also specify whether United States Treasury Regulation §1.163- 

5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the ñTEFRA C Rulesò) or United States Treasury Regulation Ä1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the 

ñTEFRA D Rulesò) are applicable in relation to the Notes or, if the Notes do not have a maturity of more 

than 365 days, that neither the TEFRA C Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable. 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note 

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being ñTemporary Global Note exchangeable 

for a Permanent Global Noteò, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note 

without Coupons or Receipts (as defined herein), interests in which will be exchangeable, in whole or in 

part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note, without Coupons, not earlier than 40 days after the Issue 

Date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. No 

payments will be made under the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for interests in the Permanent 

Global Note is improperly withheld or refused. In addition, interest payments in respect of the Notes 

cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership. 

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent 

Global Note, the relevant Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the prompt delivery (free of 

charge to the bearer) of such Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or (in 

the case of any subsequent exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note 

in accordance with its terms against: 

(i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to 

the order of the Fiscal Agent; and 

(ii)  receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership, 

within seven days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

The principal amount of the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal 

amounts specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership, provided, however, that in no 
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circumstances shall the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal 

amount of the Temporary Global Note. 

The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Notes in definitive form 

(ñDefinitive Notesò): 

(i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or 

(ii)  at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or 

(iii)  if the relevant Final Terms specifies ñin the limited circumstances described in the Permanent 

Global Noteò, then if (a) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing 

system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal 

holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or (b) any of the 

circumstances described in Condition 8 (Events of Default) of the Terms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notes or Condition 8 (Events of Default) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian 

Law Notes occurs. 

Where interests in the Permanent Global Note are to be exchanged for Definitive Notes in the 

circumstances described in (i) and (ii) above, Notes may only be issued in denominations which are 

integral multiples of the minimum denomination and may only be traded in such amounts, whether in 

global or definitive form. As an exception to the above rule, where the Permanent Global Note may only 

be exchanged in the limited circumstances described in (iii) above, Notes may be issued in denominations 

which represent the aggregate of a minimum denomination of EUR 100,000, plus integral multiples of 

EUR 1,000, provided that such denominations are not less than EUR 100,000 nor more than EUR 

199,000 and that Senior Non Preferred Notes issued under the Programme will have a denomination of at 

least EUR 250,000 (or, where the Senior Non Preferred Notes are denominated in a currency other than 

euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency). For the avoidance of doubt, each holder of Notes of 

such denominations will, upon exchange for Definitive Notes, receive Definitive Notes in an amount 

equal to its entitlement to the principal amount represented by the Permanent Global Note. However, a 

Noteholder who holds an aggregate principal amount of less than the minimum denomination may not 

receive a Definitive Note and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding is 

an integral multiple of the minimum denomination.  

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the relevant Issuer shall 

procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and 

with Coupons, Talons and Receipts attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the 

Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal 

Agent within 45 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes 

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being ñTemporary Global Note exchangeable 

for Definitive Notesò and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that neither the TEFRA 

C Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a 

Temporary Global Note, without Coupons, interests in which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in 

part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the Issue Date of the relevant Tranche of the 

Notes. 

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being ñTemporary Global Note exchangeable 

for Definitive Notesò and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will 

initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note, without Coupons or Receipts, interests in which will 

be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the Issue Date of 

the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest 

payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial 

ownership. 
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Where the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, Notes may only be issued in 

denominations which are integral multiples of the minimum denomination and may only be traded in such 

amounts, whether in global or definitive form. 

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the relevant Issuer shall 

procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and 

with Coupons, Talons and Receipts (as defined herein) attached (if so specified in the relevant Final 

Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to 

the bearer of the Temporary Global Note against the surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the 

order of the Fiscal Agent within 45 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes 

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being ñPermanent Global Note exchangeable 

for Definitive Notesò, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global Note, without 

Coupons or Receipts, interests in which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Definitive 

Notes: 

(i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or 

(ii)  at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or 

(iii)  if the relevant Final Terms specifies ñin the limited circumstances described in the Permanent 

Global Noteò, then if (a) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing 

system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal 

holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or (b) any of the 

circumstances described in Condition 8 (Events of Default) of the Terms and Conditions of the 

English Law Notes or Condition 8 (Events of Default) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian 

Law Notes occurs. 

Where interests in the Permanent Global Note are to be exchanged for Definitive Notes in the 

circumstances described in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, Notes may only be issued in denominations 

which are integral multiples of the minimum denomination and may only be traded in such amounts, 

whether in global or definitive form. As an exception to the above rule, where the Permanent Global Note 

may only be exchanged in the limited circumstances described in paragraph (iii) above, Notes may be 

issued in denominations which represent the aggregate of a minimum denomination of EUR 100,000, 

plus integral multiples of EUR 1,000, provided that such denominations are not less than EUR 100,000 

nor more than EUR 199,000 and that Senior Non Preferred Notes issued under the Programme will have 

denominations of at least EUR 250,000 (or, where the Senior Non Preferred Notes are denominated in a 

currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency). For the avoidance of doubt, each 

holder of Notes of such denominations will, upon exchange for Definitive Notes, receive Definitive Notes 

in an amount equal to its entitlement to the principal amount represented by the Permanent Global Notes. 

However, a Noteholder who holds an aggregate principal amount of less than the minimum denomination 

may not receive a Definitive Note and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its 

holding is an integral multiple of the minimum denomination. 

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the relevant Issuer shall 

procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and 

with Coupons, Talons and Receipts attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the 

Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal 

Agent within 45 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. Where the Notes are listed on the Euronext 

Dublin and its rules so require, the Issuer will give notice of the exchange of the Permanent Global Note 

for Definitive Notes pursuant to Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law 

Notes or Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. 
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Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will consist 

of the terms and conditions set out under ñTerms and Conditions of the English Law Notesò below or 

ñTerms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notesò, as applicable,. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and 

conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under 

ñProvisions relating to the Notes While in Global Formò below. 

Legend concerning United States persons 

In the case of any Tranche of Notes having a maturity of more than 365 days, the Notes in global form, 

the Notes in definitive form and any Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the 

following effect: 

ñAny United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States 

income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal 

Revenue Code.ò 

The sections referred to in such legend provide that a United States person who holds a Note, Coupon, 

Talon or Receipt will generally not be allowed to deduct any loss realised on the sale, exchange or 

redemption of such Note, Coupon, Talon or Receipt and any gain (which might otherwise be 

characterised as capital gain) recognised on such sale, exchange or redemption will be treated as ordinary 

income. 

(B) Book-entry form 

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of the Notes as being ñBook-entry formò, then the Notes 

will not be represented by paper certificates and the transfer and exchange of Notes will take place 

exclusively through an electronic book-entry system managed by Monte Titoli S.p.A. or any other 

Centralised Custodian appointed by the Issuers. Accordingly, all Notes shall be deposited by their owners 

with an intermediary participant in the relevant Centralised Custodian. The intermediary will in turn 

deposit the Notes with the Centralised Custodian. 

To transfer an interest in the Notes, the transferor and the transferee are required to give instructions to 

their respective intermediaries. If the transferee is a client of the transferorôs intermediary, the 

intermediary will simply transfer the Notes from the Transferorôs account to the account of the transferee. 

If, however, the transferee is a client of another intermediary, the transferorôs intermediary will instruct 

the centralised clearing system to transfer the Notes to the account of the transfereeôs intermediary, which 

will then register the Notes on the transfereeôs account. 

Each intermediary maintains a custody account for each of its clients. This account sets out the financial 

instruments of each client and the records of all transfers, interest payments, charges or other 

encumbrances on such instruments. The account holder or any other eligible party may submit a request 

to the intermediary for the issue of a certified account statement. 

In such circumstances, it will not be possible for a Noteholder to obtain physical delivery of Notes 

certificates representing the Notes. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS  OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES 

The following is the text of the terms and conditions of the Notes applicable to each Series of Notes to be 

governed under English Law (respectively, the ñEnglish Law Notesò or the ñNotesò and the ñTerms 

and Conditions of the English Law Notesò or the ñConditionsò) which, as completed by the relevant 

Final Terms, will be endorsed into each Note in final form issued under the Programme. The terms and 

conditions applicable to any Notes in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would 

apply to the Notes whilst in final form to the extent described under ñProvisions relating to the Notes 

While in Global Formò below. 

Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. (ñMediobancaò), Mediobanca International 

(Luxembourg) S.A. (ñMediobanca Internationalò) (each, an ñIssuerò and, together, the ñIssuersò) have 

established an Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the ñProgrammeò) for the issuance of up to Euro 

40,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of senior preferred notes which may be issued by each of 

the Issuers (the ñSenior Preferred Notesò), senior non preferred notes which may be issued by 

Mediobanca only (the ñSenior Non Preferred Notesò and, together with the Senior Preferred Notes, the 

ñSenior Notesò) and subordinated notes which may be issued by Mediobanca only (the ñSubordinated 

Notesò), guaranteed by Mediobanca (in its capacity as guarantor, the ñGuarantorò) in respect of Senior 

Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International only. 

The Notes are issued pursuant to an amended and restated Issue and Paying Agency Agreement dated 18 

December 2020, as amended or supplemented from time to time, (the ñIssue and Paying Agency 

Agreementò) between the Issuers, the Guarantor, BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, 

as fiscal agent and principal paying agent (the ñFiscal Agentò) and Mediobanca in its capacity as Italian 

paying agent (the ñItalian Paying Agentò and together with the Fiscal Agent and any additional or other 

paying agents in respect of the Notes from time to time appointed, the ñPaying Agentsò) and with the 

benefit of deeds of covenant dated 18 December 2020 (each, a ñDeed of Covenantò and, together, the 

ñDeeds of Covenantò), each of them executed by the relevant Issuer in respect of Notes issued by such 

Issuer. The Guarantor has, for the benefit of the holders of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca 

International from time to time, executed and delivered a deed of guarantee (the ñDeed of Guaranteeò) 

dated 18 December 2020 under which it has guaranteed, in accordance with the terms and subject to 

limitations of the Deed of Guarantee, the due and punctual payment of the amounts due by Mediobanca 

International under the Notes and the Deed of Covenant as and when the same shall become due and 

payable (the ñGuarantee of the Notesò). The holders of the Notes (as defined below), the holders of the 

interest coupons (the ñCouponsò) appertaining to interest bearing Notes and, where applicable in the case 

of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the ñTalonsò) and the holders of the instalment receipts (the 

ñReceiptsò) appertaining to the payment of principal by instalments are deemed to have notice of all of 

the provisions of the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement applicable to them. 

Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each, a ñSeriesò) and each Series may comprise 

one or more tranches (each, a ñTrancheò) of Notes. Each Tranche of Notes is the subject of final terms 

(the ñFinal Termsò) which completes these Conditions. The terms and conditions applicable to any 

particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms. In the event 

of any inconsistency between these Conditions and the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. All 

subsequent references in these Conditions to ñNotesò are to the Notes which are the subject of the Final 

Terms. These Conditions apply to Senior Preferred Notes and Senior Non Preferred Notes, only to the 

extent that such Senior Non Preferred Notes are issued by Mediobanca, and are defined as ñstrumenti di 

debito chirografario di secondo livelloò pursuant to and for the purposes of Articles 12-bis and 91, 

paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which 

may be enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority. These Conditions apply also to 

Subordinated Notes which are issued by Mediobanca and are defined as ñTier II Instrumentsò in Part II, 

Chapter 1 of the Prudential Regulations for Banks and in Article 63 of the CRR. Copies of the Final 

Terms are available during normal business hours at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent, the initial 

Specified Office of which is set out below (the ñSpecified Officeò). Certain provisions of these 

Conditions are summaries of the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and are subject to their detailed 

provisions. 

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will specify whether the Issuer is Mediobanca or 

Mediobanca International. In these Conditions, any reference to a statute or regulation shall be construed 
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as a reference to such statute or regulation as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, 

amended or re-enacted. 

Copies of the Deed of Guarantee are available for inspection at the specified office of the Paying Agent. 

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE  

The Notes are issued in bearer form in the currency (the ñSpecified Currencyò) and the 

denominations (the ñSpecified Denomination(s)ò) shown in the Final Terms, provided that 

Senior Non Preferred Notes will have denomination of at least EUR 250,000 (or, where the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent 

amount in such other currency). 

Notes are issued with Coupons (and where appropriate, a Talon) attached save in the case of 

Notes which do not bear interest in which case references to interest (other than in relation to 

interest due after the date specified in the Final Terms as the Maturity Date (as designed below), 

Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Any Note the principal amount of 

which is redeemable in instalments is issued with one or more Receipts attached. 

Title to the Note and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Except as ordered 

by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder of any Note, Receipt, 

Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as the absolute owner of such Note, 

Receipt, Coupon or Talon, as the case may be, for the purpose of receiving payment thereof or on 

account thereof and for all other purposes, whether or not such Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon 

shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership, theft or loss thereof or any writing 

thereon made by anyone. No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of any 

Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 

In these Conditions, ñholderò (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer 

of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon. All capitalised terms which are not defined in these 

Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms, the absence of any 

such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes. Those definitions will be 

endorsed on the definitive Notes. 

2. STATUS OF NOTES AND GUARANTEE 

(a) Definitions: 

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms 

shall have the meanings set out below. 

ñBank of Italyò means the Bank of Italy and/or any other competent authority which at 

a future date carries out the functions which the Bank of Italy performs as at the Issue 

Date. 

ñItalian Banking Actò means Italian Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, 

as amended or supplemented from time to time (including, without limitation, as a 

consequence of the transposition of the Banking Reform Package into Italian law).. 

ñLiquidazione Coatta Amministrativaò means Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa as 

described in Articles 80 to 94 of the Italian Banking Act. 

(b) Status of the Senior Preferred Notes: 

The Senior Preferred Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and 

unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank at all times at least pari passu 

without any preference among themselves and equally with all other present and future 

unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, save for certain mandatory 

exceptions of applicable law, it being understood moreover that the obligations of the 
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relevant Issuer under the Senior Preferred Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In 

Power or the Luxembourg Bail-In Power, as the case may be. 

If waiver of set-off rights is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, each 

holder of a Senior Preferred Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right of 

set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have 

under the laws of any jurisdiction in respect of such Senior Preferred Note. 

(c) Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes: 

The Senior Non Preferred Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated, 

unsecured and non preferred obligations of Mediobanca and will rank at all times pari 

passu without any preference among themselves.  

In the event of a winding up, dissolution, liquidation or bankruptcy (including, inter alia, 

Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa) of Mediobanca, the payment obligations of 

Mediobanca under each Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes, and the relative Coupons 

as the case may be, will rank in right of payment (A) after unsubordinated creditors 

(including depositors and any holder of Senior Preferred Notes and their respective 

Coupons) of Mediobanca but (B) at least pari passu with all other present and future 

unsubordinated and non preferred obligations of Mediobanca which do not rank or are 

not expressed by their terms to rank junior or senior to such Series of Senior Non 

Preferred Notes and (C) in priority to any present or future claims ranking junior to such 

Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes (including any holder of Subordinated Notes) and 

the claims of shareholders of Mediobanca, in all such cases in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any 

relevant implementing regulation which may be enacted for such purposes by any 

Relevant Authority, it being understood moreover that the obligations of Mediobanca 

under the Senior Non Preferred Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In Power. 

Each holder of a Senior Non Preferred Note is deemed unconditionally and irrevocably 

to have waived any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy 

which it might otherwise have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such 

Senior Non Preferred Note. 

(d) Status of the Subordinated Notes:  

The Subordinated Notes and any related Coupons constitute direct, unsecured and 

subordinated obligations of Mediobanca and, subject to the provisions of this Condition 

2, will at all times rank pari passu without any preference among themselves. In relation 

to each Series of Subordinated Notes, all Subordinated Notes of such Series will be 

treated equally and all amounts paid by Mediobanca in respect of principal and interest 

thereon will be paid pro rata on all Notes of such Series. 

In the event of the winding up, dissolution, liquidation or bankruptcy (including, inter 

alia, Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa) of Mediobanca, the payment obligations of 

Mediobanca under each Series of Subordinated Notes, and the relative Coupons as the 

case may be, will rank in right of payment (A) after unsubordinated creditors (including 

depositors and any holder of Senior Notes and their respective Coupons) of Mediobanca 

as well as subordinated creditors which rank or are expressed to rank senior to the 

Subordinated Notes but (B) at least pari passu with all other subordinated obligations of 

Mediobanca which do not rank or are not expressed by their terms to rank junior or 

senior to such Series of Subordinated Notes and (C) in priority to the claims of 

subordinated creditors ranking or expressed to rank junior to the Subordinated Notes 

(including, but not limited to, ñAdditional Tier 1 Instrumentsò (as defined in the 

Prudential Regulations for Banks and in the CRR)) and of the shareholders of 

Mediobanca, it being understood moreover that the obligations of Mediobanca under the 

Subordinated Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In Power.  
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Each holder of a Subordinated Note is deemed unconditionally and irrevocably to have 

waived any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it 

might otherwise have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such Subordinated 

Note. 

(e) Status of Guarantee 

The Guarantee of the Senior Preferred Notes constitutes direct, unconditional, 

unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor pursuant to the terms and 

conditions and subject to the limitations set out in the Deed of Guarantee which will rank 

at all times at least pari passu without any preference among themselves and equally 

with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the 

Guarantor, save for certain mandatory exceptions of applicable law. 

3. INTEREST AND OTHER CALCULATIONS  

(a) Definitions 

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms 

shall have the meanings set out below. 

ñAccrual Yieldò has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñAdditional Business Centre(s)ò means the city or cities specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

ñAdditional Financial Centre(s)ò means the city or cities specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

ñBenchmarks Regulationò means Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial 

instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds 

and amending Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No. 

596/2014. 

ñBroken Amountò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñBusiness Dayò means: 

(i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on 

which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments 

generally in each (if any) Additional Business Centre; and 

(ii)  in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which 

commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in 

London, in the Principal Financial Centre of the relevant currency and in each 

(if any) Additional Business Centre. 

ñCalculation Agentò means Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A., the 

Fiscal Agent or such other Person specified in the relevant Final Terms as the party 

responsible for calculating the Interest Rate(s) and Interest Amount(s) and/or such other 

amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñCalculation Amountò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.  

ñCMSò means the constant maturity swap rate specified as such in the Final Terms. 
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ñDay Count Fractionò means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period 

of time (the ñCalculation Periodò), such day count fraction as may be specified in these 

Conditions or the relevant Final Terms and: 

(a) if ñ1/1ò is specified, 1; 

(b) if ñActual/Actualò or ñActual/Actual (ISDA)ò is specified, the actual number 

of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made 

divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, 

the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period 

falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of days in that 

portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); 

(c) if ñActual/Actual (ICMA)ò is so specified, means: 

(i) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular 

Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the 

Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of 

days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in 

any year; and 

(ii)  where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the 

sum of: 

(A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in 

the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of 

(1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) 

the number of Regular Periods in any year; and 

(B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in 

the next Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual 

number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of 

Regular Periods in any year; 

(d) if ñActual/365 (Fixed)ò is specified, the actual number of days in the 

Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365; 

(e) if ñActual/360ò is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 

in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360; 

(f) if ñ30/360ò, ñ360/360ò or ñBond Basisò is specified, the number of days in the 

Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, 

calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
( ) ( ) ( )
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where: 

ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 
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ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 

is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30; and 

(g) if ñ30E/360ò or ñEurobond Basisò is specified, the number of days in the 

Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, 

calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
( ) ( ) ( )
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where: 

ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in 

which case D2 will be 30; and 

(h) if ñ30E/360 (ISDA)ò is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period 

in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a 

formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
( ) ( ) ( )

360
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where: 

ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in 

which case D1 will be 30; and 
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ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of 

February but not the Termination Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in 

which case D2 will be 30. 

ñEURIBORò means the Euro-zone interbank offered rate specified as such in the Final 

Terms.  

ñFirst Marginò means the margin specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñFirst Reset Dateò means the date specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñFirst Reset Periodò means the period from (and including) the First Reset Date until 

(but excluding) the Second Reset Date or, if no such Second Reset Date is specified in 

the relevant Final Terms, the Maturity Date. 

ñFirst Reset Rate of Interestò means, in respect of the First Reset Period and subject to 

Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) (Fallbacks), the rate of interest 

determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date as the 

sum of the relevant Mid-Swap Rate and the First Margin. 

ñFixed Coupon Amountò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final 

Terms.  

ñInitial Rate of Interestò has the meaning specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInstalment Date(s)ò means the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Accrual Dateò means the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Amountò means: 

a) with respect to the Senior Notes, the amount of interest payable per Calculation 

Amount in respect of any Interest Period and determined according to 

Condition 3(i) (Calculations in respect of the Senior Notes); 

b) with respect to the Subordinated Notes: 

(i) in respect of an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable per 

Calculation Amount for that Interest Period and which, in the case of 

Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified hereon, shall mean the 

Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified in the Final Terms as 

being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period; 

and 

(ii)  in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per 

Calculation Amount for that period. 

ñInterest Commencement Dateò means the Issue Date or such other date as may be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Determination Dateò means the date or the dates specified as such in the 

Final Terms. 

ñInterest Payment Dateò means the date or dates specified as such in the relevant Final 

Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Final Terms, as the 

same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention. 

ñInterest Periodò means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 

Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Accrual Date and 
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each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Accrual Date and ending 

on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Accrual Date. 

ñInterest Rateò means the rate of interest (expressed as a percentage per annum) 

payable from time to time in respect of this Note and which is either specified, or 

calculated in accordance with the provisions, in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Rate Switch Dateò means the date specified as such in the relevant Final 

Terms. 

ñISDA Definitionsò means the 2006 ISDA Definitions as amended and updated as at the 

date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the 

Final Terms) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., 

a copy of which is available on the website of the International Swaps and Derivatives 

Association, Inc. (www.isda.org) and can be obtained from the Issuer. 

ñIssue Dateò means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñIssue Priceò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñLIBID ò means the London interbank bid rate specified as such in the Final Terms. 

ñLIBORò means the London interbank offered rate specified as such in the Final Terms. 

ñLIMEAN ò means the London interbank mid-market rate specified as such in the Final 

Terms. 

ñLinear Interpolationò means the straight-line interpolation by reference to two rates 

based on the Reference Rate or the ISDA Rate, as the case may be, one of which will be 

determined as if the Specified Duration were the period of time for which rates are 

available next shorter than the length of the affected Interest Period and the other of 

which will be determined as if the Specified Duration or the Designated Maturity, as the 

case may be, were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the 

length of such Interest Period. 

ñMarginò means the percentage specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñMid -Market Swap Rateò means for any Reset Period the mean of the bid and offered 

rates for the fixed leg payable with a frequency equivalent to the frequency with which 

scheduled interest payments are payable on the Notes during the relevant Reset Period 

(calculated on the day count basis customary for fixed rate payments in the Specified 

Currency as determined by the Calculation Agent) of a fixed-for-floating interest rate 

swap transaction in the Specified Currency which transaction (i) has a term equal to the 

relevant Reset Period and commencing on the relevant Reset Date, (ii) is in an amount 

that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time 

with an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market and (iii) has a floating 

leg based on the Mid-Swap Floating Leg Benchmark Rate for the Mid-Swap Maturity 

(as specified in the relevant Final Terms) (calculated on the day count basis customary 

for floating rate payments in the Specified Currency as determined by the Calculation 

Agent). 

ñMid -Market Swap Rate Quotationò means a quotation (expressed as a percentage 

rate per annum) for the relevant Mid-Market Swap Rate. 

ñMid -Swap Floating Leg Benchmark Rateò means EURIBOR if the Specified 

Currency is euro or LIBOR for the Specified Currency if the Specified Currency is not 

euro.  

ñMid -Swap Rateò means, in relation to a Reset Determination Date and subject to 

Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) (Fallbacks), either: 

http://www.isda.org/
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(A) if Single Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the rate for 

swaps in the Specified Currency: 

(i) with a term equal to the relevant Reset Period; and 

(ii)  commencing on the relevant Reset Date, 

which appears on the Relevant Screen Page; or 

(B) if Mean Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the arithmetic 

mean (expressed as a percentage rate per annum and rounded, if necessary, to the 

nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the bid and 

offered swap rate quotations for swaps in the Specified Currency: 

(i) with a term equal to the relevant Reset Period; and 

(ii)  commencing on the relevant Reset Date, 

which appear on the Relevant Screen Page, 

in either case, as at approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the 

Specified Currency on such Reset Determination Date, all as determined by the 

Calculation Agent. 

ñMultiplier ò has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñOptional Redemption Amountò means ( )(y)
AY1RP +³  

where: 

ñRPò means the Reference Price; 

ñAYò means the Accrual Yield expressed as a decimal; and 

ñyò is the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms which will be 

either (i) 30/360 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the number of days 

(calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from 

(and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the 

date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note 

becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (ii) Actual/360 (in 

which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and 

including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date 

fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes 

due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (iii) Actual/365 (in which case 

the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue 

Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or 

(as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the 

denominator will be 365). 

ñPayment Business Dayò means: 

(i) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is: 

(A) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation (if 

presentation is required) are open for presentation and payment of 

bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Settlement 

Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried 

on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or 



 

 

59 

 

 

(ii)  if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is: 

(A) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for 

presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in 

foreign currencies; and 

(B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which 

dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal 

Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) 

Additional Financial Centre. 

ñPrincipal Financial Centreò means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial 

centre for that currency provided, however, that: 

(i) in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State 

of the European Communities as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the 

payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and 

(ii)  in relation to Australian dollars, it means either Sydney or Melbourne and, in 

relation to New Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland, in 

each case as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of 

a calculation) by the Calculation Agent. 

ñRate of Interestò means the Initial Rate of Interest, the First Reset Rate of Interest or 

the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest, as applicable. 

ñReference Banksò means, the institutions specified as such in the relevant Final Terms 

or, if none, four (or, if the Relevant Financial Centre is Helsinki, five) major banks 

selected by the Issuer on the advice of an investment bank of international repute. 

ñReference Priceò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñReference Rateò means EURIBOR, LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN, CMS, or the yield on 

securities issued by the Italian Government, as specified in the relevant Final Terms in 

respect of the currency and period specified in the relevant Final Terms and including 

where applicable the relevant yield and issue of securities issued by the Italian 

Government. 

ñReference Rate Multiplierò means the percentage specified as such in the relevant 

Final Terms. 

ñRegular Periodò means: 

(i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of 

regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement 

Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period 

from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest 

Payment Date; 

(ii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is 

scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and 

including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular 

Date, where ñRegular Dateò means the day and month (but not the year) on 

which any Interest Payment Date falls; and 

(iii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first 

Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular 

payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to 

but excluding the next Regular Date, where ñRegular Dateò means the day and 



 

 

60 

 

 

month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the 

Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period. 

ñRelevant Currencyò means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms 

or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated. 

ñRelevant Financial Centreò means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined 

on an Interest Determination Date, the financial centre as may be specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, the financial centre with which the 

relevant Reference Rate is most closely connected or, if none is so connected, London. 

ñRelevant Screen Pageò means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a 

particular information service (including, but not limited to, Reuters) as may be specified 

as the Relevant Screen Page in the relevant Final Terms for the purpose of providing a 

Reference Rate, or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace 

it on that information service or on such other information service, in each case as may 

be nominated by the person or organisation providing or sponsoring the information 

appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to that 

Reference Rate. 

ñRelevant Timeò means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time 

in the Relevant Financial Centre specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is 

specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to 

determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the relevant currency in the 

interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre provided that if the Relevant 

Currency is Euro and the Benchmark is EURIBOR, the Relevant Time shall be 11.00 am 

Brussels time. 

ñReset Dateò means the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date and each Subsequent 

Reset Date (as applicable). 

ñReset Determination Dateò means, in respect of the First Reset Period, the second 

Business Day prior to the First Reset Date, in respect of the first Subsequent Reset 

Period, the second Business Day prior to the Second Reset Date and, in respect of each 

Subsequent Reset Period thereafter, the second Business Day prior to the first day of 

each such Subsequent Reset Period. 

ñReset Periodò means the First Reset Period or a Subsequent Reset Period, as the case 

may be. 

ñSecond Reset Dateò means the date specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSpecified Currencyò has the meaning, if any, given in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSpecified Durationò means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an 

Interest Determination Date, the period specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSubsequent Marginò means the margin specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSubsequent Reset Dateò means the date or dates specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSubsequent Reset Periodò means the period from (and including) the Second Reset 

Date to (but excluding) the next Subsequent Reset Date, and each successive period from 

(and including) a Subsequent Reset Date to (but excluding) the next succeeding 

Subsequent Reset Date. 

ñSubsequent Reset Rate of Interestò means, in respect of any Subsequent Reset Period 

and subject to Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) (Fallbacks), the rate of 

interest determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date 

as the sum of the relevant Mid-Swap Rate and the relevant Subsequent Margin. 
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ñTARGET Systemò means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement 

Express Transfer (TARGET or TARGET2) System or any successor thereto. 

ñTARGET Settlement Dayò means any day on which the TARGET System is open. 

ñYieldò means: 

In relation to any Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes, an indication of the yield in respect of 

such notes will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The yield is calculated at the 

Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price, using the formula below. It is not an indication 

of future yield. 
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Where: 

ñPò is the Issue Price of the Notes; ñCò is the annualised Interest Amount; ñAò is the 

principal amount of Notes due on redemption; ñnò is time to maturity in years; and ñrò is 

the annualised yield. 

(b) Interest Rate and Accrual 

(A) With respect to the Senior Notes, each Senior Note (other than Zero Coupon 

Notes) bears, for each Interest Period, interest on its outstanding principal amount 

at the Interest Rate, such interest being payable as the Interest Amount, in arrear 

and on each Interest Payment Date. Where an Interest Period is a short or long 

Interest Period, then: 

(i) if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable, the Interest Amount payable for that short or long Interest 

Period shall be, unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the 

Broken Amount specified therein;  

(ii)  if (in case of the Senior Preferred Notes only) the Reset Note Provisions are 

specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Interest Amount 

payable for that short or long Interest Period shall be the relevant amount 

specified as such in the relevant Final Terms; and 

(iii)  if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms 

as being applicable, the Interest Rate applicable for that short or long Interest 

Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent using Linear 

Interpolation; 

(B) with respect to the Subordinated Notes, each Subordinated Note bears interest on 

its outstanding principal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the 

Interest Rate, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. 

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note on the last day of the last Interest Period and, 

in any case, on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of 

principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to 

accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the Interest Rate in the manner provided in 

this Condition 3 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 6 (Taxation)). 

(c) Business Day Convention 

If any date referred to in these Conditions which is specified in these Conditions or in the 

relevant Final Terms to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day 

Convention would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the 

Business Day Convention specified is (i) the Following Business Day Convention, such 
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date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day, (ii) the Modified 

Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which 

is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which 

event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or 

(iii) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the 

immediately preceding Business Day. 

(d) Interest Rate on Fixed Rate Notes 

With respect to the Senior Notes, if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the 

relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Interest Rate for each Interest Period shall 

be the fixed rate specified in the relevant Final Terms. The yield of the Fixed Rate Note 

is indicated in the relevant Final Terms and is calculated as the internal rate of return 

(IRR). The yield of the Fixed Rate Notes is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of 

the Issue Price and, if indicated in the relevant Final Terms, the Fixed Coupon and/or the 

Broken Amount. 

With respect to the Subordinated Notes, if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified 

in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the amount of interest payable in respect 

of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if 

the Notes are in more than one Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon 

Amount in respect of the relevant Denomination. The amount of interest payable in 

respect of each Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified 

shall be calculated by applying the Interest Rate to the Calculation Amount of such Note, 

multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction (not adjusted in accordance 

with the Business Day Convention) and rounding the resulting figure in accordance with 

Condition 3(h) (Rounding). Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note 

comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect 

of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner 

provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination 

without any further rounding. The yield of the Fixed Rate Note is indicated in the 

relevant Final Terms and is calculated as the internal rate of return (IRR). The yield of 

the Fixed Rate Notes is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price and, as 

indicated in the relevant Final Terms, the Fixed Coupon and/or the Broken Amount. 

(e) Interest Rate on Reset Notes 

(i) Rates of Interest and Interest Payment Dates 

If, in case of any Notes other than the Senior Non Preferred Notes, the Reset Note 

Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, then such Reset 

Note bears interest:  

(A) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date until (but excluding) the 

First Reset Date at the Initial Rate of Interest;  

(B) from (and including) the First Reset Date until (but excluding) the Second Reset 

Date or, if no such Second Reset Date is specified in the relevant Final Terms, 

the Maturity Date at the rate per annum equal to the First Reset Rate of Interest; 

and  

(C) for each Subsequent Reset Period thereafter (if any), at the relevant Subsequent 

Reset Rate of Interest, 

payable, in each case, in arrear on each Interest Payment Date and on the Maturity Date 

if that does not fall on an Interest Payment Date. The Rate of Interest and the Interest 

Amount payable shall be determined by the Calculation Agent, (i) in the case of the Rate 

of Interest, at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to 

be determined, and (ii) in the case of the Interest Amount in accordance with the 
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provisions for calculating amounts of interest in Condition 3(d) (Interest Rate on Fixed 

Rate Notes). 

(ii)  Fallbacks 

Subject to Condition 3(o) (Benchmark replacement), if on any Reset Determination Date 

the Relevant Screen Page is not available or the Mid-Swap Rate does not appear on the 

Relevant Screen Page, the Issuer or a third party (i.e. a financial adviser or an investment 

bank appointed by the Issuer) shall request each of the Reference Banks (as defined 

below) to provide the Calculation Agent with its Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation as at 

approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the Specified Currency on 

the Reset Determination Date in question. 

If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with Mid-Market 

Swap Rate Quotations, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of 

Interest (as applicable) for the relevant Reset Period shall be the sum of the arithmetic 

mean (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being 

rounded upwards)) of the relevant Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotations and the First 

Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable), all as determined by the Calculation 

Agent. 

If on any Reset Determination Date only one or none of the Reference Banks provides 

the Calculation Agent with a Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation as provided in the 

foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent 

Reset Rate of Interest (as applicable) shall be determined to be the Rate of Interest as at 

the last preceding Reset Date or, in the case of the first Reset Determination Date, the 

First Reset Rate of Interest shall be the Initial Rate of Interest. 

For the purposes of this Condition 3(e)(ii) ñReference Banksò means the principal 

office in the principal financial centre of the Specified Currency of four (or, if the 

Relevant Financial Centre is Helsinki, five) major banks in the swap, money, securities 

or other market most closely connected with the relevant Mid-Swap Rate as selected by 

the Issuer on the advice of an investment bank of international repute. 

For the avoidance of doubts it being understood that the provisions set forth in this 

Condition 3(e) shall apply in respect of any Notes other than the Senior Non Preferred 

Notes. 

(f) Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes 

If the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the Final Terms as being applicable, 

the Interest Rate for each Interest Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent on 

the following basis: 

(i) Screen Rate Determination: if Screen Rate Denomination is specified in the 

relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Interest Rate is to be 

determined, subject to Condition 3(o) (Benchmark replacement), as follow: 

(A) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied 

by one entity, the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate 

which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on 

the relevant Interest Determination Date; 

(B) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic 

mean of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page 

as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date; 

(C) if, in the case of paragraph (A) above, such rate does not appear on that 

page or, in the case of paragraph (B) above, fewer than two such rates 
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appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is 

unavailable: 

(1) the Issuer or a third party (i.e. a financial adviser or an 

investment bank appointed by the Issuer) will request the 

principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the 

Reference Banks to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate 

at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest 

Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial 

Centre interbank market in an amount that is representative for 

a single transaction in that market at that time; and 

(2) the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of 

such quotations; and 

(3) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the 

Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the 

rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as determined by 

the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the Principal 

Financial Centre of the Relevant Currency, selected by the 

Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (local time in 

the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on 

the first day of the relevant Interest Period for loans in the 

Specified Currency to leading European banks for a period 

equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is 

representative for a single transaction in that market at that 

time, 

and the Interest Rate for such Interest Period shall be 

(a) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as not 

being applicable, the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the 

case may be) the arithmetic mean determined in accordance 

with the above provisions (the ñDetermined Rateò); 

(b) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable (i) the sum of the Margin and the relevant 

Determined Rate multiplied by (ii) the Multiplier; 

(c) if ñReference Rate Multiplierò is specified in the relevant 

Final Terms as being applicable, the sum of (i) Margin, and (ii) 

the relevant Determined Rate multiplied by the Reference Rate 

Multiplier, 

provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent is unable to 

determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in 

accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, 

the Interest Rate applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will 

be calculated in accordance with the foregoing, save that the 

Determined Rate shall be the arithmetic mean last determined in 

relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.  

(ii)  ISDA Determination: If, in respect of any Notes other than the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes, ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

the manner in which the Interest Rate(s) is/are to be determined, the Interest 

Rate applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be: 

(a) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as not being 

applicable, the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate; 
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(b) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 

applicable (i) the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate 

multiplied by (ii) the Multiplier; 

(c) if ñReference Rate Multiplierò is specified in the relevant Final Terms 

as being applicable, the sum of (i) Margin, and (ii) the relevant ISDA 

Rate multiplied by the Reference Rate Multiplier, 

where ñISDA Rateò in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the 

Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by 

the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation 

Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction 

under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under 

which: 

(A) the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as 

specified in the relevant Final Terms; 

(B) the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a 

period specified in the relevant Final Terms; and 

(C) the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either 

(1) if the relevant Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-

bank offered rate (LIBOR) for a currency, the first day of that Interest 

Period or (2) in any other case, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

(g) Maximum/Minimum Interest Rates, Instalment Amounts and Redemption 

Amounts 

If any Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount 

is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then any Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or 

Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be, 

provided however that provisions relating to the Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate 

shall not apply to the Senior Non Preferred Notes and shall not be specified at any time 

in the relevant Final Terms. 

(h) Rounding 

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless 

otherwise specified), (i) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, 

if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves 

being rounded up), (ii) all figures will be rounded to seven significant figures (with 

halves being rounded up) and (iii) all currency amounts which fall due and payable will 

be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in 

the case of Yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest Yen. For these purposes 

ñunitò means, with respect to any currency other than Euro, the lowest amount of such 

currency which is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with 

respect to Euro, means one cent. Percentages and amounts reflecting changes over time 

periods relating to financial data are calculated using the tabular presentation of financial 

data (subject to rounding) contained in this Base Prospectus, as applicable. 

(i) Calculations in respect of the Senior Notes 

This Condition 3(i) applies to the Senior Notes only. 

The Interest Amount payable in respect of an Interest Period shall calculated using one 

of the following methods: 

(i) if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable but subject to sub-paragraph (ii) below, the Interest Amount 
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payable for any Interest Period shall be an amount calculated by the Calculation 

Agent by applying the Interest Rate to the Calculation Amount and by 

multiplying the product so obtained by the Day Count Fraction (adjusted or 

unadjusted in accordance with the Business Day Convention, as specified in the 

relevant Final Terms); or 

(ii)  notwithstanding sub-paragraph (i) above, if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are 

specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable and a Fixed Coupon 

Amount and/or Broken Amount is specified in the Final Terms to be payable on 

an Interest Payment Date, the Interest Amount payable for the relevant Interest 

Period shall be the Fixed Coupon Amount and/or Broken Amount so specified; 

or  

(iii)  if the Reset Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 

applicable with respect to Senior Preferred Notes only, the Interest Amount 

payable for any Interest Period shall be an amount calculated by the Calculation 

Agent in accordance with the provisions of Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on 

Reset Notes) (i) (Rates of Interest and Interest Payment Dates) (adjusted or 

unadjusted in accordance with the Business Day Convention, as specified in the 

relevant Final Terms); or 

(iv) if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable, the Interest Amount payable for any Interest Period shall be an 

amount calculated by the Calculation Agent by applying the Interest Rate to the 

Calculation Amount and by multiplying the product so obtained by the Day 

Count Fraction (adjusted or unadjusted in accordance with the Business Day 

Convention, as specified in the relevant Final Terms). 

Each Interest Amount (other than the Fixed Coupon Amount and the Broken Amount) 

shall be rounded in accordance with Condition 3(h) (Rounding). 

(j) Calculations in respect of the Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 3(j) applies to the Subordinated Notes only. 

The amount of interest payable in respect of any Subordinated Note for any period shall 

be calculated by multiplying the product of the Interest Rate and the outstanding 

Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction, save that where an Interest Amount (or 

a formula for its calculation) is specified in respect of such period, the amount of interest 

payable in respect of such Subordinated Note for such period will equal such Interest 

Amount (or be calculated in accordance with a formula). Where the Specified 

Denomination of a Floating Rate Note comprises more than one Calculation Amount, 

the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Subordinated Note shall be the aggregate 

of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount 

comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding. In respect of any 

short or long Interest Period as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation 

Agent will determine the Interest Rate using Linear Interpolation. 

(k) Determination and Publication of Interest Rates, Interest Amounts, Redemption 

Amounts and Instalment Amounts 

After the Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date or such other time on such 

date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any Redemption Amount or 

Instalment Amount, obtain any quote or make any determination or calculation, it will, 

promptly, determine the Interest Rate and calculate the Interest Amount on the principal 

amount of the Notes for the relevant Interest Period, calculate the Redemption Amount 

or Instalment Amount, obtain such quote or make such determination or calculation, as 

the case may be, and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for each Interest 

Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the 

Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the 
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Issuer, the Paying Agent, the holders of the Notes, any other Calculation Agent 

appointed in respect of the Notes which is to make a further calculation upon receipt of 

such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such 

exchange so requires, such exchange promptly after their determination but in no event 

later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to 

such time, in the case of an Interest Rate and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, 

the fourth Business Day after such determination. The Interest Amounts and the Interest 

Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative 

arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or 

shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 

8 (Events of Default), the accrued interest and the Interest Rate payable in respect of the 

Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this 

Condition 3(k) but no publication of the Interest Rate or the Interest Amount so 

calculated need be made. The determination of each Interest Rate, Interest Amount, 

Redemption Amount and Instalment Amount, the obtaining of each quote and the 

making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent shall (in the 

absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties. 

(l) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks 

The Issuer will use its best endeavours to ensure that there shall at all times be four 

Reference Banks (or such other number as may be required) with offices in the Relevant 

Financial Centre and one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in 

the Conditions applicable to the Notes and for so long as any Notes are outstanding. If 

any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to 

continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the Issuer will appoint another Reference Bank 

with an office in the Relevant Financial Centre to act as such in its place. Where more 

than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these 

Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent 

performing its duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or 

unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Interest 

Rate for any Interest Period or to calculate the Interest Amounts or any other 

requirements, the Issuer will appoint the London office of a leading bank engaged in the 

London interbank market to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not 

resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid. 

(m) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes 

If the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 

applicable and the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note is 

improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount 

equal to the sum of: 

(i) the Reference Price; and 

(ii)  the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the 

Reference Price on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and 

including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of (i) the 

day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by 

or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after 

the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in 

respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is 

any subsequent default in payment). 

The calculation of the above amount shall be made (where such calculation is to be made 

for a period which is not a whole number of years) on the basis of such Day Count 

Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purposes of this 

Condition 3(m) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360. 
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(n) Interest Rate Switch 

If so specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, from and including the 

Interest Rate Switch Date, the Interest Rate applicable for the calculation of the Interest 

Amounts due for each remaining Interest Period with respect to the Notes shall be the 

rate specified as applying from and including such Interest Rate Switch Date in the Final 

Terms and the initial Interest Rate applicable to the Notes shall no longer apply. 

(o) Benchmark replacement 

Notwithstanding the provisions in Conditions 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) 

(Fallbacks) and 3(f) (Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes), if the Issuer (in consultation 

with the Calculation Agent (or the person specified in the applicable Final Terms as the 

party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount(s)) 

determines that a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to the relevant Mid-Swap Rate or 

Reference Rate (as applicable) specified in the applicable Final Terms when any Rate of 

Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) remains to be determined by such 

Reference Rate or Mid-Swap Rate, then the following provisions shall apply: 

(1) the Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to appoint, as soon as reasonably 

practicable, an Independent Adviser (as defined below) to determine (acting in 

good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) a Successor Rate (as 

defined below) or, alternatively, if there is no Successor Rate, an Alternative 

Benchmark Rate no later than 3 Business Days prior to the Reset Determination 

Date or Interest Determination Date (as applicable) relating to the next 

succeeding Reset Period or Interest Period (as applicable) (the ñIA 

Determination Cut-off Dateò) for purposes of determining the Rate of Interest 

applicable to the Notes for all future Reset Periods or Interest Periods (as 

applicable) (subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 3(o)); 

 

(2) if the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser, or the Independent 

Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative 

Benchmark Rate prior to the IA Determination Cut-off Date, then the Issuer 

(acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner) may determine a 

Successor Rate or, if there is no Successor Rate, an Alternative Benchmark Rate, 

in accordance with the provisions set out under sub-paragraph (3) below; 

 

(3) if a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Benchmark Rate is 

determined in accordance with the preceding provisions, such Successor Rate or, 

failing which, Alternative Benchmark Rate shall be the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Rate (as applicable) in relation to the Notes for all future Reset Periods or 

Interest Periods (as applicable) (subject to the subsequent operation of this 

Condition 3(o)); provided, however, that if sub-paragraph (2) applies and the 

Issuer is unable to determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative Benchmark Rate 

prior to the Reset Determination Date or Interest Determination Date (as 

applicable) relating to the next succeeding Reset Period or Interest Period (as 

applicable), the Rate of Interest applicable to such next succeeding Reset Period 

or Interest Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation 

to the Notes in respect of a preceding Reset Period or Interest Period as 

applicable (which may be the Initial Rate of Interest) (though substituting, where 

a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Reset Period or Interest Period 

from that which applied to the last preceding Reset Period or Interest Period, the 

Margin relating to the relevant Reset Period or Interest Period, in place of the 

Margin relating to that last preceding Reset Period or Interest Period); for the 

avoidance of doubt, the provison in this sub-paragraph (3) shall apply to the 

relevant Interest Period or Reset Period (as applicable) only and any subsequent 

Interest Periods or Reset Periods (as applicable) are subject to the subsequent 

operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 3(o); 
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(4) if the Independent Adviser or the Issuer determines a Successor Rate or, failing 

which, an Alternative Benchmark Rate in accordance with the above provisions, 

the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as the case may be) may also, following 

consultation with the Calculation Agent (or the person specified in the applicable 

Final Terms as the party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and the 

Interest Amount(s)), specify changes to the Day Count Fraction, Relevant Screen 

Page, Business Day Convention, Business Days, Reset Determination Date, 

Interest Determination Date and/or the definition of Mid-Swap Rate or 

Reference Rate applicable to the Notes, and the method for determining the 

fallback rate in relation to the Notes, in order to follow market practice in 

relation to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate, which changes 

shall apply to the Notes for all future Reset Periods or Interest Periods (as 

applicable) also in compliance with the Issuerôs written plans provided for under 

article 28(2) of the Benchmarks Regulation (subject to the subsequent operation 

of this Condition 3(o)). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the 

Issuer) or the Issuer (as applicable), determines that an Adjustment Spread is 

required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate 

(as applicable) and determines the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for 

determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall be 

applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable). 

If the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) is unable to determine 

the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment 

Spread, then such Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable) 

will apply without an Adjustment Spread. For the avoidance of doubt, the 

relevant Paying Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect 

such consequential amendments to the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and 

these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 3(o). 

No Noteholder consent shall be required in connection with effecting the 

Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable) or such other 

changes, including for the execution of any documents or other steps by the 

relevant Paying Agent (if required));  

 

(5) the Issuer shall promptly following the determination of any Successor Rate or 

Alternative Benchmark Rate give notice thereof and of any changes pursuant to 

subparagraph (4) above to the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders; and 

 

(6) if the provisions relating to the occurrence of, with respect to the Senior Notes, a 

Regulatory Event, or, with respect to the Subordinated Notes only, a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event, in case of a Alternative Benchmark Rate is 

specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the provisions above would 

cause the occurrence of, respectively, a Regulatory Event or a MREL/TLAC 

Disqualification Event, therefore no Alternative Benchmark Rate will be 

adopted, and the Relevant Screen Page on which appears the Reference Rate or 

the relevant Interest Period will be equal to the last Reference Rate available at 

the immediately preceding Interest Period on the Relevant Screen Page as 

determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 

For the purposes of this Condition 3(o): 

ñAdjustment Spreadò means a spread (which may be positive or negative) or formula or 

methodology for calculating a spread, which the Independent Adviser (in consultation 

with the Issuer) or the Issuer (as applicable), determines is required to be applied to the 

Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable) in order to reduce or 

eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic 

prejudice to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Rate (as applicable) with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as 

applicable) and is the spread, formula or methodology which: 
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(i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the 

replacement of the Reference Rate or Mid-Swap Rate (as applicable) with the 

Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or 

 

(ii)  in the case of a Successor Rate for which no such recommendation has been 

made or in the case of an Alternative Benchmark Rate, the Independent Adviser 

(in consultation with the Issuer) or the Issuer (as applicable) determines is 

recognised or acknowledged as being in customary market usage in international 

debt capital markets transactions which reference the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Floating Rate (as applicable), where such rate has been replaced by the 

Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable); or 

 

(iii)  if no such customary market usage is recognised or acknowledged, the 

Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer), determines (acting in good 

faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) to be appropriate. 

 

ñAlternative Benchmark Rateò means the rate that the Independent Adviser or the 

Issuer (as applicable) determines has replaced the relevant Reference Rate or Mid-Swap 

Rate (as applicable) in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets 

for the purposes of determining rates of interest in respect of eurobonds denominated in 

the Specified Currency and of a comparable duration to the relevant Interest Period or 

Reset Period (as applicable), or, if the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) 

determines that there is no such rate, such other rate as the Independent Adviser or the 

Issuer (as applicable) determines in its discretion (acting in good faith and in a 

commercially reasonable manner) is most comparable to the relevant Reference Rate or 

Mid-Swap Rate (as applicable). 

ñBenchmark Eventò means: 

(i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 

Business Days or ceasing to exist or being subject to a material change; 

(ii)  a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it will 

cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in 

circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will 

continue publication of the Original Reference Rate), provided that a Benchmark 

Event will occur on the date which is the later of (a) the date of the public 

statement referenced herein and (b) the date on which the administrator ceases 

publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely; or 

(iii)  a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate, that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or 

indefinitely discontinued, provided that a Benchmark Event will occur on the date 

which is the later of (a) the date of the public statement referenced herein and (b) 

the date on which the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or 

indefinitely discontinued; or 

(iv) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate that the Original Reference Rate is no longer representative of its relevant 

underlying market; or 

(v) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator of the Original 

Reference Rate, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator of 

the Original Reference Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or 

resolution authority over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, which 
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states that the administrator of the Original Reference Rate has ceased or will, 

within a specified period of time, cease to provide the Original Reference Rate 

permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of cessation, there is no 

successor administrator that will continue to provide the Original Reference Rate 

and further provided that a Benchmark Event will occur on the date which is the 

later of (a) the date of the public statement referenced herein and (b) the date on 

which the administrator ceases to provide the Original Reference Rate 

permanently or indefinitely; 

(vi) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited 

from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse 

consequences either generally, or in respect of the Notes, provided that a 

Benchmark Event will occur on the date which is the later of (a) the date of the 

public statement referenced herein and (b) the date on which the Original 

Reference Rate is prohibited from being used or its use is subject to restrictions or 

adverse consequences either generally, or in respect of the Notes; or 

(vii)  it has become unlawful (including, without limitation, under the Benchmark 

Regulations, as amended from time to time, if applicable) for any Paying Agent, 

Calculation Agent or the Issuer to calculate any payments due to be made to any 

Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate. 

ñIndependent Adviserò means an independent financial institution of international 

repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international capital 

markets, in each case appointed by the Issuer at its own expense. 

ñOriginal Reference Rateò means: 

(i) the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) used to 

determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes as 

specified in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(ii)  any Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate which has been determined 

in relation to such benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) pursuant to the 

operation of this Condition 3(o) (Benchmark Replacement). 

 

ñRelevant Nominating Bodyò means, in respect of a reference rate or mid-swap floating 

leg benchmark rate: 

(i) the central bank for the currency to which the reference rate or mid swap floating 

leg benchmark rate relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority 

which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the reference rate or 

mid swap floating leg benchmark rate; or 

 

(ii)  any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or 

constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the 

reference rate or mid swap floating leg benchmark rate relates, (b) any central 

bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the 

administrator of the reference rate or mid-swap floating leg benchmark rate, (c) a 

group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities, or (d) 

the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and 

 



 

 

72 

 

 

ñSuccessor Rateò means the rate that the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as 

applicable) determines is a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Rate (as applicable) which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating 

Body. 

4. REDEMPTION, PURCHASE AND OPTIONS 

(a) Definitions 

In these Conditions, unless the context requires otherwise: 

The expressions ñEarly Redemption Amountò; ñFinal Redemption Amountò, 

ñInstalment Amountò, ñOptional Redemption Amount (Call)ò, and ñOptional 

Redemption Amount (Put)ò mean, in respect of any Note: (A) such amount as may be 

specified in, or determined in accordance with the relevant Final Terms; or (B) if no 

such amount is specified, the principal amount of such Note. 

ñApplicable Banking Regulationsò means at any time the laws, regulations, 

requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy then in effect in the 

Republic of Italy, including, without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the 

BRRD, the BRRD Implementing Regulations, the CRD IV, the Prudential Regulations 

for Banks of the Bank of Italy, the Banking Reform Package, the SRM Regulation and 

those regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy 

then in effect of the Relevant Authority or of the institutions of the European Union 

and/or the Republic of Italy (as defined below) whether or not such requirements, 

guidelines or policies have the force of law and whether or not they are applied 

generally or specifically to the Issuer or the Group; 

ñBanking Reform Packageò means (i) Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Regulation (EU) No. 

575/2013 as regards the leverage ratio, the net stable funding ratio, requirements for 

own funds and eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposure to 

central counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings, large exposures, 

reporting and disclosure requirements, and Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012, (ii) 

Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 

2019 amending Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014 as regards the loss-absorbing and 

recapitalization capacity of credit institutions and investment firms, (iii) Directive (EU) 

2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending 

Directive 2013/36/EU as regards exempted entities, financial holding companies, mixed 

financial holding companies, remuneration, supervisory measures and powers and 

capital conservation measures, and (iv) Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Directive 2014/59/EU as 

regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalization capacity of credit institutions and 

investment firms and Directive 98/26/EC; 

ñCRA Regulationò means Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as amended and 

supplemented.  

ñCRA Regulationò means Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as amended and 

supplemented.  

ñCRD IVò means the CRD IV Directive, the CRR and any CRD IV Implementing 

Measure; 

ñCRD IV Directiveò means the directive 2013/36 of the European Parliament and of 

the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the 

prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 

2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC as amended, 

supplemented or replaced from time to time, including any successor regulations 
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(including, without limitation, as a consequence of the entry into force of the Banking 

Reform Package); 

ñCRD IV Implementing Measureò means any regulatory capital rules implementing 

the CRD IV Directive or the CRR which may from time to time be introduced, 

including, but not limited to, delegated or implementing acts (regulatory technical 

standards) adopted by the European Commission, national laws and regulations, and 

regulations and guidelines issued by the Bank of Italy, the European Banking Authority 

or any other relevant authority, which are applicable to the Issuer (on a standalone 

basis) or the Issuer together with its consolidated subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) 

and which prescribe the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments for 

inclusion in the regulatory capital of the Issuer (on a standalone or consolidated basis); 

ñCRRò means the Regulation No. 575/2013, as amended, of the European Parliament 

and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions 

and investment firms amending Regulation No. 648/2012, supplemented or replaced 

from time to time, including any successor regulations (including, without limitation, as 

a consequence of the entry into force of the Banking Reform Package); 

ñExtraordinary Resolutionò has the meaning given to that term in the Issue and 

Paying Agency Agreement. 

ñItalian Bail -in Powerò means any write-down, conversion, transfer, modification, or 

suspension power existing from time to time under, and exercised in compliance with, 

any laws, regulations, rules or requirements in effect in the Republic of Italy, relating to 

(i) the transposition of the BRRD (in including, but not limited to, Legislative Decrees 

No. 180/2015 and 181/2015) as amended from time to time, (ii) Regulation (EU) 

No.806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014, 

establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit 

institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of the Single Supervisory 

Mechanism and the Single Resolution Fund and amending Regulation (EU) No. 

1093/2010, as amended or superseded from time to time (the ñSRM Regulationò) and 

(iii) the instruments, rules and standards created thereunder, pursuant to which any 

obligation of a regulated entity (as defined below) (or other affiliate of such regulated 

entity) can be reduced, cancelled, modified, or converted into shares, other securities, or 

other obligations of such regulated entity or any other person (or suspended for a 

temporary period); 

ñLuxembourg Bail-in Powerò means any write-down, conversion, transfer, 

modification, or suspension power existing from time to time under, and exercised in 

compliance with, any laws, regulations, rules or requirements in effect in Luxembourg, 

(i) relating to the transposition of the BRRD (including, but not limited to, the 

Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 relative aux mesures de résolution, 

d'assainissement et de liquidation des établissements de crédit et de certaines 

enterprises d'investissement ainsi qu'aux systèmes de garantie des dépôts et 

d'indemnisation des investisseurs, as amended from time to time (the ñLuxembourg 

BRRD Lawò), (ii) relating to the SRM Regulation or (iii) otherwise arising under 

Luxembourg law and (iv) in each case, the instruments, rules and standards created 

thereunder, pursuant to which any obligation of a regulated entity or other affiliate of 

such regulated entity) can be reduced, cancelled, modified, or converted into shares, 

other securities, or other obligations of such regulated entity or any other person (or 

suspended for a temporary period) and any right in a contract governing an obligation of 

a regulated entity may be deemed to have been exercised. For this purpose, a reference 

to a "regulated entity" is to any institution or entity (which includes certain credit 

institutions, investment firms, and certain of their group companies) referred to in points 

(1), (2), (3) or (4) of Article 2(1) of the Luxembourg BRRD Law, and with respect to 

the SRM Regulation to any entity referred to in Article 2 of the SRM Regulation; and 

ñMaturity Dateò means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 
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ñMaturity Periodò means the period from and including the Issue Date to but 

excluding the Maturity Date.  

ñPrudential Regulations for Banksò means the Bank of Italyôs Disposizioni di 

Vigilanza per le Banche, as set out in Bank of Italy Circular No. 285 of 17 December 

2013, as amended and supplemented from time to time, including any successor 

regulations. 

 ñRedemption Amountò means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the 

Instalment Amount, the Early Redemption Amount, the Optional Redemption Amount 

(Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Redemption Amount or such 

other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in the relevant 

Final Terms, provided that such amount is in any case at least equal to the principal 

amount of the relevant Note. 

ñRegulatory Capital Requirementsò means any applicable minimum capital or capital 

requirement specified for banks or financial group by the Relevant Authority. 

ñRelevant Authority ò means the Bank of Italy or such other governamental authority 

in the Republic of Italy (or other country where the Issuer is then domiciliated) or in the 

European Union having primary responsibility for prudential and resolution oversight 

and supervision of the Issuer and/or the Group from time to time and/or, as the context 

may require, the ñresolution authorityò or the ñcompetent authorityò as defined under 

BRRD and/or SRM Regulation. 

(b) Maturities/Final Redemption 

(i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below in 

accordance with Conditions 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reasons), 4(d) 

(Purchases), 4(f) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), Condition 4(h) (Redemption at the 

option of holders of Notes) or Condition 4(i) (Redemption by instalments), each 

Note will be redeemed at its Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date. 

(ii)  Senior Non Preferred Notes shall have a minimum Maturity Period of twelve 

months, as provided under Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of 

the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which may be 

enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority. 

(iii)  Subordinated Notes shall have a minimum Maturity Period of five years, as 

provided under the Applicable Banking Regulations. 

(c) Redemption for taxation reasons 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), if Redemption for taxation reasons is specified in the Final 

Terms as being applicable, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in 

whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date or, if so specified in the relevant 

Final Terms, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 daysô notice to the 

holders of Notes (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount 

(together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) (A) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts 

as provided or referred to in Condition 6 (Taxation) or (B) has or will become subject to 

additional amount of national income taxes (and/or, in the case of Mediobanca, regional 

tax on productive activities ï IRAP) due to partial or entire limitation to the deductibility 

of any payments under the Notes, in either case as a result of (1) any change in, or 

amendment to, the laws or regulations of Luxembourg or any political subdivision 

thereof or any agency or authority thereof or therein having power to tax (in the case of 

payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca International) or the Republic of Italy or 

any political subdivision thereof or any agency or authority thereof or therein having 
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power to tax (in the case of payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca), or (2) any 

change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, or (3) any 

judicial decision, official administrative pronouncement, published or private ruling, 

regulatory procedure, notice or announcement (including any notice or announcement of 

intent to adopt such procedures or regulations) (for purposes of this definition, an 

ñAdministrative Actionò), or (4) any clarification of, or change in the official position 

or the interpretation of such Administrative Action or any interpretation or 

pronouncement that provides for a position with respect to such Administrative Action 

that differs from the generally accepted position, in each case by any legislative body, 

court, governmental, administrative or regulatory authority or body, irrespective of the 

manner in which such clarification or change is made known, which change, 

amendment, Administrative Action or clarification becomes effective on or after the 

Issue Date, and (ii) such obligations/limitations under (A) and (B) above cannot be 

avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures 

available to it which (x) do not require the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) 

to incur material out-of-pocket expenses and (y) would not otherwise be 

disadvantageous to the Issuer or the Guarantor, as determined in their discretion; 

provided that in the case under (A) above no such notice of redemption shall be given 

earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the 

case may be) would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in 

respect of the Notes (or the Guarantee, as the case may be) then be due. Prior to the 

publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 4(c), the Issuer shall 

deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that such Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may 

be) is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing 

that the conditions precedent to the right of such Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case 

may be) so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of 

recognised standing to the effect that there is more than an unsubstantial risk that the 

Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) (A) has or will become obliged to pay such 

additional amounts or (B) has or will become subject to additional amount of taxes, as 

indicated above, due to limitation of the deductibility of payments under the Notes as a 

result of such change, amendment, Administrative Action or clarification (the ñTax 

Eventò). 

(d) Purchases 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), the Issuer, the Guarantor and any of the Guarantorôs 

subsidiaries may purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise at any price provided 

that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons appertaining thereto 

are attached or surrendered therewith. Without prejudice to the foregoing, if so specified 

in the relevant Final Terms the Issuer will be entitled to exercise the option to repurchase 

from the holder(s), at its sole discretion, (1) all (but not part of) the Notes of the relevant 

Series (the ñTotal Repurchase Optionò) or (2) on one or more occasions, any portion of 

the Notes of the relevant Series, provided that in such circumstances the amount of the 

Notes of the relevant Series to be purchased from each holder shall be the same 

proportion that the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series that are 

subject to the relevant Partial Purchase Option bears to the aggregate principal amount of 

all the Notes of the relevant Series then outstanding prior to the exercise of the relevant 

Partial Purchase Option (the ñPartial Repurchase Optionò). The Total Repurchase 

Option and the Partial Repurchase Option can only be exercised by the Issuer at the 

date(s) and the price(s) specified in the Final Terms as the Total Repurchase Option date 

or the Partial Repurchase Option date(s) and the Total Repurchase Option amount or 

Partial Repurchase Option amount(s), respectively. Upon exercise of the Total 

Repurchase Option or the Partial Repurchase Option, the holder(s) shall be obliged to 

sell to the Issuer (or any other entity indicated by the Issuer) all the Notes of the Series in 

relation to which the Total Repurchase Option or the Partial Repurchase Option (as the 

case may be) is exercised. 
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(e) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes, Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes for 

taxation reasons, Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes at the Option of the holder, 

Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes at the option of holders of Notes 

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Redemption Amount payable 

on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an 

amount equal to the sum of: 

(A) the Reference Price; and 

(B) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the 

Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date 

fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note 

becomes due and payable. 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, 

the calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis 

of such Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the 

purposes of this Condition 4(e) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 

30E/360. 

(f) Redemption at the option of the Issuer 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), if the Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable, then the following provisions will apply: 

(1) If European Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

then the Issuer may, on giving irrevocable prior notice to the holders of Notes, ï 

which notice must be received by the holders of Notes no later than the last day 

of the notice period specified in the relevant Final Terms ï redeem all or, if 

ñPartial Redemptionò is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, 

some of the Notes. Any such redemption of Notes shall occur on the relevant 

Optional Redemption Date at their Optional Redemption Amount (Call), 

together with accrued interest (if any) up to such date, unless otherwise 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

(2) If American Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

then the Issuer may, at any time during any exercise period specified in the Final 

Terms (the ñExercise Periodò), elects to redeem all or, if ñPartial Redemptionò 

is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, some of the Notes, by 

sending a notice to the holders of Notes which notice must be received by such 

holders no later than the end of the relevant Exercise Period. Any such 

redemption of Notes shall occur on the relevant Optional Redemption Date at 

their Optional Redemption Amount (Call) together with accrued interest (if any) 

up to such date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

In the case of a Partial Redemption, the notice to holders of Notes shall also contain the 

serial numbers of the Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn in such place 

as the Fiscal Agent may approve and in such manner as it deems appropriate, subject to 

compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange requirements. 

(g) Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call) 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), if Regulatory Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, 

the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer, in whole but not in part, at any 

time (if the Note is not a Floating Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if the 

Note is a Floating Rate Note), on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 daysô notice 

(which notice shall be irrevocable) to the Paying Agent and, in accordance with 
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Condition 12 (Notices), to the holders of the Notes: (i) upon the occurrence of a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event with respect to the relevant Series of Senior 

Preferred Notes and/or Senior Non Preferred Notes (as the case may be), and (ii) to the 

holders of the Subordinated Notes, if the Subordinated Notes cease to qualify (in whole 

or in part) as ñTier II Capitalò, on a consolidated or non consolidated basis, as a result of 

changes after the date of issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes in the standards and 

guidelines of the Bank of Italy or in the applicable legal or regulatory provisions 

(including legal or regulatory provisions adopted by the European Union) (the 

ñRegulatory Eventò). 

ñBRRDò means the directive 2014/59/EU, as amended, providing for the establishment 

of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and 

investment firms as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time (including, 

without limitation, as a consequence of the entry into force of the Banking Reform 

Package). 

ñBRRD Implementing Decreesò means the Legislative Decrees No. 180 and 181 of 16 

November 2015, implementing the BRRD in the Republic of Italy, as amended or 

replaced from time to time (including, without limitation, as a consequence of the 

transposition of the Banking Reform Package into Italian law). 

ñMREL/TLAC Disqualification Event ò means the determination by the Issuer, that as 

a result of a change in Italian and/or EU laws or regulations becoming effective on or 

after the Issue Date of a Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or of Senior Non Preferred 

Notes, which change was not reasonably foreseeable by the Issuer as at the Issue Date of 

the Series, it is likely that all or part of the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of 

such Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or of Senior Non Preferred Notes will be 

excluded from the eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements 

(however called or defined by then applicable regulations) if the Issuer is then subject to 

such requirements, provided that a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event shall not occur 

where such Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or of Senior Non Preferred Notes is 

excluded on the basis (1) that the remaining maturity of such Senior Preferred Notes 

and/or Senior Non Preferred Notes is less than any period prescribed by any applicable 

eligibility criteria under the MREL/TLAC Requirements, or (2) of any applicable limits 

on the amount of eligible liabilities permitted or allowed to meet the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements.  

ñMREL/TLAC Requirementsò means the minimum requirement for own funds and 

eligible liabilities and/or total loss-absorbing capacity requirements applicable to the 

Issuer and/or the Group referred to in the BRRD, any other EU law or regulation and 

relevant implementing legislation and regulation in Italy. 

 

ñTier II Capital ò has the meaning given to it from time to time in the Applicable 

Banking Regulation. 

(h) Redemption at the option of holders of Notes 

This Condition 4(h) applies only to the Senior Notes. 

If the Put Option is specified as being applicable to the Senior Notes in the relevant Final 

Terms, then the following provisions will apply: 

(1) If European Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

the Issuer shall, at the option of the holders of the Senior Notes, redeem all or, if 

ñPartial Redemptionò is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, 

some of the Senior Notes on the relevant Optional Redemption Date at its 

Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with accrued interest (if any) up to 

such date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. To exercise 



 

 

78 

 

 

such option, the holders must deposit such Senior Notes with any Paying Agent 

at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (the 

ñExercise Noticeò) in the form of obtainable from any Paying Agent; the 

Exercise Notice must be deposited with such Paying Agent no later than the last 

day of the notice period specified in the relevant Final Terms. No Senior Note 

so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the 

Issue and Paying Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. 

(2) If American Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

the Issuer shall, at the option of the holders of any the Senior Notes, redeem all 

or, if ñPartial Redemptionò is specified as applicable in the relevant Final 

Terms, some of the Senior Notes on the relevant Optional Redemption Date at 

its Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with accrued interest (if any) up 

to such date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. To exercise 

such option which may be exercised at any time during any exercise period 

specified in the relevant Final Terms (the ñExercise Periodò), the holder must 

deposit such Senior Notes with any Paying Agent at its specified office, together 

with a duly completed option exercise notice (the ñExercise Noticeò) in the 

form obtainable from any Paying Agent; the Exercise Notice must be deposited 

with such Paying Agent no later than the end of the relevant Exercise Period. No 

Note so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided 

in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the 

Issuer.  

In the case of a Partial Redemption, the notice to holders of Senior Notes shall also 

contain the serial numbers of the Senior Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been 

drawn in such place as the Fiscal Agent may approve and in such manner as it deems 

appropriate, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange 

requirements. 

(i) Redemption by instalments 

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled in accordance with Condition 4(f) 

(Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 4(h) (Redemption at the option of 

holders of Notes), each Note which provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment 

Amounts will be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the Instalment Amount 

specified on it, whereupon the outstanding principal amount of such Note shall be 

reduced by the Instalment Amount for all purposes. 

(j) Cancellation 

Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Guarantorôs 

subsidiaries (where applicable) may be surrendered for cancellation, by surrendering 

each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged 

Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, if so surrendered, will, together with all Notes redeemed 

by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons 

and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so 

surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the 

Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) in respect of any such Notes shall be 

discharged. 

(k) Specific Buy Back Provisions 

This Condition 4(k) applies only to the Senior Preferred Notes. 

If Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable Final 

Terms, upon the holder of any Senior Preferred Note giving to the Issuer not less than 5 

Business Daysô notice in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) (which notice shall be 

irrevocable) to early redeem the Senior Preferred Note before its scheduled maturity, the 

Issuer may, at its sole option, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem in whole or in part 
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such Senior Preferred Note paying an amount that can be less than par and that is linked 

to the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions at that moment, together, if 

appropriate, with any accrued but unpaid interest. As specified above, the Issuer has the 

right, in its sole option, to reject the early redemption request and, in particular, if the 

Issuer never replies to the notice, the Issuer is deemed to have rejected the early 

redemption request. 

If Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable Final 

Terms, prior to the Maturity Date the value of the Senior Preferred Notes shall reflect 

and shall be calculated on the basis of the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions. 

The Calculation Agent may, from time to time, calculate the price of the Senior 

Preferred Notes on the basis of the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions and, 

without prejudice to the Issuerôs obligation to pay the Interest Amounts and the 

Redemption Amounts on the Senior Preferred Notes, in the event that a holder requests 

the Issuer to repurchase the Senior Preferred Notes held by it prior to their maturity, and 

the Issuer accepts such repurchase, the price of the Senior Preferred Notes (the ñBuy 

Back Priceò) will be a price that perfectly reflects the Market Value of such Underlying 

Transactions. The Specific Buy Back Provisions may apply only to Senior Preferred 

Notes issued by Mediobanca and/or Mediobanca International and where Mediobanca 

and/or Mediobanca International are specified as Dealers and where the principal 

amount in respect of such Senior Preferred Note is equal to, at least, EUR 100,000 (or its 

equivalent amount in the Specified Currency). 

In addition, if Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable 

Final Terms, the Issuer shall pay an additional remuneration (the ñExtra -Yieldò) on the 

Senior Preferred Notes. More information on the composition of the remuneration 

(unbundling) shall be published by each of the Issuer from time to time together with the 

composition of the Underlying Transactions as described below. 

For the purpose of this Condition 4(k): 

ñBuy-Back Priceò means the repurchase price of the Senior Preferred Notes to be 

calculated by the Calculation Agent on the basis of the Market Value of the Underlying 

Transactions. 

ñMarket Valueò means the close-out amount of the Underlying Transactions, including 

the relevant bid/ask prices for all the Senior Preferred Notes and for any possible funding 

arrangement and/or coupon swap, as determined by the Calculation Agent in a fair and 

commercially reasonable manner. 

ñUnderlying Transactionsò means any possible funding arrangement and/or coupon 

swap and/or any of the following funded or unfunded arbitrage-like financial 

transactions: 

(i) Cash-CDS Arbitrage; 

(ii)  Index-Components Arbitrage; and/or 

(iii)  General Funded Arbitrage, 

where: 

ñCash-CDS Arbitrageò means: 

Long (Short): Cash Instrument + Short (Long): Replicating CDS 

where: 

ñCash Instrumentò means any debt obligation (including any obligation issued by the 

Issuer) or basket of debt obligations, under security or loan format, with maturities and 
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notionals that can be longer and/or higher, respectively, than the Maturity Date and 

aggregate principal amount of the relevant Senior Preferred Notes; 

ñReplicating CDSò means a credit default swap transaction having similar maturity and 

principal amount as the Cash Instrument, and having as a reference entity the Cash 

Instruments issuer or the Cash Instrument guarantor (including the Issuer or the 

Guarantor or the Issuerôs parent or the Issuerôs affiliate), or, in the case of Cash 

Instrument that are asset-backed obligations or credit linked obligations, any credit entity 

or any credit risk embedded in such Cash Instrument. 

ñIndex-Components Arbitrageò means: 

Long (Short): Credit Index + Short (Long): CDS Components 

where: 

ñCredit Indexò means any of the Markit credit default swaps indices, with maturities 

and notionals that can be longer and/or higher, respectively, than the Maturity Date and 

aggregate principal amount of the relevant Senior Preferred Notes, and any successor 

and/or replacement index thereof, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Markit 

iTraxxÈ and Markit CDXÊ indices, as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole and 

absolute discretion. Credit Index may also be a portfolio of credit default swap tranches 

summing up to a full capital structure, i.e. summing up to any such Markit credit default 

swap index. 

ñCDS Componentsò means a basket of single-name credit default swap transactions 

having similar notional, maturity, coupons and reference entity as the components of the 

Credit Index. CDS Components may also be a portfolio of credit default swap tranches 

having similar maturity, aggregate notional, aggregate coupons and aggregate reference 

entities as the components of the Credit Index. 

ñGeneral Funded Arbitrageò means: 

Long (Short): Asset Instruments + Short (Long): Replicating Derivatives 

where: 

ñAsset Instrumentsò means any asset title instrument (including funds or obligations, 

also asset-backed) linked to credit, rates, equities, commodities or currencies, with 

maturities and notionals that can be longer and/or higher, respectively, than the Maturity 

Date and aggregate principal amount of the relevant Senior Preferred Notes.  

ñReplicating Derivativesò means any hedging derivative contract with similar maturity 

and notional as the Asset Instruments, and having as underlying the Asset Instrument 

itself. or any of its underlying financial instruments. For example: commodity certificate 

+ future (ñcash and carry arbitrageò), or convertible bond + CDS + equity option 

(ñconvertible arbitrageò). 

The Underlying Transactions will be selected from time to time by the Calculation Agent in its 

reasonable discretion and the relevant composition is subject to change during the life of the 

Preferred Notes. The composition of the Underlying Transactions (including any possible 

funding arrangement and/or coupon swap) shall be published from time to time by Mediobanca 

or Mediobanca International on their website www.mediobanca.com or on the website of the 

Euronext Dublin or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or on any other means of 

publication, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

(l) Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes 

Any redemption of the Notes in accordance with Condition 4(c) (Redemption for 

taxation reason), Condition 4(f) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), Condition 4(g) 

http://www.mediobanca.com/
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(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), any purchase of the Notes in 

accordance with Condition 4(d) (Purchases), or any modification of the Notes in 

accordance with Conditions 9(a) (Meetings of holders of Notes) and 9(c) (Errors or 

inconsistencies), is subject to, if and to extent then required under Articles 12-bis and 91, 

paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing 

regulation which may be enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority (with 

respect to the Senior Non Preferred Notes only), and/or under the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements (with respect to either the Senior Preferred Notes and the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes), or under the Applicable Banking Regulations (with respect to the 

Subordinated Notes only): 

(i) the Issuer giving notice to the Relevant Authority and the Relevant Authority 

granting permission to redeem or purchase the relevant Senior Notes; 

(ii)  with respect to the Subordinated Notes only: 

(A) in case of any redemption or purchase, either (A) the Issuer having 

replaced the Subordinated Notes with own funds instruments of equal 

or higher quality at terms that are sustainable for the income capacity of 

the Issuer; or (B) the Issuer having demonstrated to the satisfaction of 

the Relevant Authority that the own funds of the Issuer would, 

following such redemption or purchase, exceed its Regulatory Capital 

Requirements for the time being; 

(B) in the case of any such redemption prior to the fifth anniversary of the 

Issue Date, (A) in case of redemption for tax reasons in accordance with 

Condition 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reason), the Issuer has 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the 

change in tax treatment is material and was not reasonably foreseeable 

as at the Issue Date, or (B) in the case of redemption upon the 

occurrence of a Regulatory Event in accordance with Condition 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), the Issuer has 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the 

relevant change in the regulatory classification of the Notes was not 

reasonably foreseeable as at the Issue Date and the Relevant Authority 

considers such change to be reasonably certain. 

To redeem any Notes where such consent has not been granted shall not constitute an event of 

default of the Issuer for any purpose. Notwithstanding the above conditions, if, at the time of any 

redemption or purchase, Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian 

Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which may be enacted for such purposes 

by any Relevant Authority (with respect to the Senior Non Preferred Notes only), and/or the 

MREL/TLAC Requirements (with respect to the Senior Preferred Notes and the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes), or the Applicable Banking Regulations (with respect to the Subrodinated Notes 

only) permit the redemption or purchase only after compliance with one or more alternative or 

additional pre-conditions to those set out above in this Condition 4(l), the Issuer shall comply 

with such other and/or, as appropriate, additional pre-condition(s).  

5. PAYMENTS AND TALONS  

(a) Payments outside the United States 

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Notes will, subject as mentioned below, 

be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of 

payments of Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and 

provided that the Receipts are presented for payment together with their relative Notes), 

Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest as 

specified in Condition 5(e)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in 

Condition 5(e)(ii) ), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent 

outside the United States by a cheque payable in the currency in which such payment is 
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due drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in 

that currency with, a bank in the principal financial centre of that currency; provided 

that in the case of Euro, the transfer may be to a Euro account. 

(b) Payments in the United States 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Notes are denominated in US Dollars, payments in 

respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York 

City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents 

with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such 

Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the 

manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices 

is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on 

payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United 

States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence 

to the Issuer. 

(c) Payments subject to law, etc. 

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations 

and directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6 (Taxation). No 

commission or expenses shall be charged to the holders of Notes or Couponholders in 

respect of such payments. 

(d) Appointment of Agents 

The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the 

Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the 

Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and the 

Guarantor (where applicable) and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency 

or trust for or with any holder. The Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) reserve 

the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other 

Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent or the Registrar and to appoint additional or other 

agents provided that the Issuer will at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a 

Calculation Agent where the Conditions so require one, (iii) Paying Agents having a 

specified office in at least two major European cities (including Ireland so long as the 

Notes are listed on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin), and (iv) such other agents 

as may be required by the rules of any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be 

listed. 

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York in respect of 

any Notes denominated in US Dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 5(b) 

(Payments in the United States) above. 

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office will promptly be given 

to the holders of Notes in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices). 

(e) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons 

(i) Unless the Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to become void upon the 

due date for redemption of those Notes, Notes should be surrendered for 

payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, 

failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured 

Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the 

amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid 

bears to the total principal due) will be deducted from the Redemption Amount 

due for payment. Any amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned 

above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years 

from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such 

Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 7 (Prescription)). 
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(ii)  If the relevant Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any Note, 

unmatured Coupons relating to such Notes (whether or not attached) shall 

become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them. 

(iii)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any unexchanged Talon relating 

to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall 

be delivered in respect of such Talon. 

(iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Note which is redeemable in 

instalments, all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling 

on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no 

payment shall be made in respect of them. 

(v) Where any Note which provides that the relative Coupons are to become void 

upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption 

without all unmatured Coupons and any unexchanged Talon relating to it, and 

where any Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon 

relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provisions of such 

indemnity as the Issuer may require. 

(vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of 

interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or 

the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable 

against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Note. Interest 

accrued on a Note which only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be 

payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note. 

(f) Talons 

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon 

sheet issued in respect of any Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be 

surrendered to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet 

(and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons 

which may have become void pursuant to Condition 7 (Prescription)). 

(g) Non-Business Days 

If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a 

Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the holder shall not be entitled to 

payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding Payment Business 

Day in such place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in 

respect of any such delay. 

In this Condition 5(g): 

ñAdditional Financial Centreò means the city or the cities specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms; and 

ñPayment Business Dayò means: 

(i) with respect to the Senior Notes: 

(A) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is a TARGET 

Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may 

be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or 

(B) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is a day on which 

dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal 

Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) 

Additional Financial Centre; 
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(ii)  with respect to the Subordinated Notes: 

(A) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is: 

(1) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are 

open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and 

for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(2) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET 

Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign 

currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional 

Financial Centre specified in the Final Terms; or 

(B) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is: 

(1) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are 

open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and 

for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(2) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on 

which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the 

Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in 

each (if any) Additional Financial Centre specified in the Final 

Terms. 

6. TAXATION  

(a) Gross Up 

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the 

Coupons by the Issuer or (as the case may be) the Guarantor under the Deed of 

Guarantee will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on the account of, any 

present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature 

imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or any political 

subdivision thereof or any agency or authority therein or thereof having power to tax (in 

the case of payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca International) or the Republic 

of Italy or any political subdivision thereof or any agency or authority therein or thereof 

having power to tax (in the case of payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca), 

unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental 

changes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor 

will pay such additional amounts in respect of, with regard to the Senior Notes only, 

principal and interest (if permitted by MREL/TLAC Requirements), and, with regard to 

the Subordinated Notes only, interest only (and not in respect of principal) as may be 

necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes, Receipts or 

Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of 

principal and interest which would have been received in respect of the Notes, Receipts 

or (as the case may be) Coupons, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; 

except that no additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any payment in 

respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon or (as the case may be) under the Deed of 

Guarantee: 

(i) (A) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is subject to such taxes, 

duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or 

Coupon by reason of its having some connection (otherwise than merely by 

holding the Note, Receipt or Coupon) with (in the case of payments of principal 

and interest under the Senior Notes made by or on behalf of Mediobanca 

International) the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg (including taxes imposed by the 

Luxembourg law of 23 December 2005) or (in the case of payments of principal 

and interest made by or on behalf of Mediobanca and in respect of payments by 

Mediobanca under the Deed of Guarantee) the Republic of Italy; or (B) with 
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respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon presented for payment in the Republic 

of Italy or the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg; or (C) for or on account of imposta 

sostitutiva pursuant to Decree No. 239, Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21 

November 1997 (ñDecree No. 461ò) or related implementing regulations; or (D) 

in all circumstances in which the requirements and procedures of Decree No. 

239 and related implementing rules have not been properly and promptly met or 

complied with (except where due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer, the 

Guarantor or their agents); or (E) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder 

who is entitled to avoid such withholding or deduction in respect of such Note, 

Receipt or Coupon by making a declaration or any other statement, including, 

but not limited to, a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for 

exemption to the relevant taxing authority or intermediary/paying agent, but has 

failed to do so properly and promptly; or 

(ii)  (in the case of payments of principal and interest made by or on behalf of 

Mediobanca and in respect of payments by Mediobanca under the Deed of 

Guarantee) to a holder who is a non-Italian resident or individual or legal entity 

which is resident in any country not allowing for an adequate exchange of 

information with the Italian tax authorities that is not included in the list set by 

Italian Ministerial Decree 4 September 1996, as subsequently amended and 

supplemented from time to time; or 

(iii)  for any Note, Receipt or Coupon presented for payment more than 30 days after 

the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been 

entitled to such additional amount on presenting the same for payment on the 

thirtieth such day; or 

(iv) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to 

avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note, Receipt or 

Coupon to another paying agent in a Member State of the European Union; or 

(v) (in the case of payments of principal and interest made by or on behalf of 

Mediobanca) where withholding or deduction is required by law pursuant to 

Decree No. 600; or 

(vi) (with respect to the Senior Notes only) where such withholding or deductions is 

required by an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 

1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, any regulations or 

agreements thereunder, official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing 

an intergovernmental approach thereto; or 

(vii)  with respect to any Notes qualifying as ñatypicalò securities (titoli ñatipiciò) for 

Italian tax purposes subject to the regime provided for by Decree No. 512, for 

and on account of any withholding or deduction required by law pursuant to 

such decree; or 

(viii)  in any case, where in the Final Terms it is expressly specified under the section 

entitled ñTaxationò that ñGross Upò will not apply with respect to any Note, 

Receipt or Coupon pursuant to this point (viii)  of Condition 6(a) (Taxation ï 

Gross Up), 

without prejudice to the option of the Issuer to redeem the Notes pursuant to, and subject 

to the conditions of, Condition 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reasons). 

(b) Taxing Jurisdiction 

If the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) becomes subject at any time to any 

taxing jurisdiction other than the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or the Republic of Italy 

respectively, references in these Conditions to Luxembourg or Italy shall be construed as 
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references to the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or (as the case may be) the Republic of 

Italy and/or such other jurisdiction. 

As used in these Conditions, ñRelevant Dateò in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon 

means the date on which payment in respect thereof first becomes due or (if any amount 

of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in 

full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on which notice is duly 

given to the holders of Notes in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) that, upon 

further presentation of the Note, Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the 

Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon 

such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) ñprincipalò shall be deemed to 

include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, 

Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of 

principal payable pursuant to Condition 4 (Redemption, Purchase and Options) or any 

amendment or supplement to it, (ii) ñinterestò shall be deemed to include all Interest 

Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 3 (Interest and Other 

Calculations) or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) ñprincipalò and/or 

ñinterestò shall be deemed to include any additional amounts which may be payable 

under this Condition 6. 

7. PRESCRIPTION 

Claims against the Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) for payment in respect of the 

Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which, for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be 

prescribed and become void unless made within ten years (in the case of principal) or five years 

(in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect thereof. 

8. EVENTS OF DEFAULT  

(a) Events of Default of the Senior Preferred Notes 

 

If any of the following events occurs and is continuing (except where one or more of the Events 

of Default (as defined below) are specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms), the 

holder of a Senior Preferred Note of any Series may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its 

specified office that such Senior Preferred Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early 

Redemption Amount of such Senior Preferred Note together with accrued interest to the date of 

payment shall become immediately due and payable: 

 

(i) Default in payment of principal or interest: default is made for a period of five 

Business Days or more in the payment of any principal on any of the Senior Preferred 

Notes or for a period of fifteen Business Days or more in the payment of any interest due 

in respect of the Senior Preferred Notes or any of them; 

(ii)  Failure to perform any other Obligation: the Issuer or the Guarantor (where 

applicable) fails duly to perform any other obligation under or in respect of the Senior 

Preferred Notes, the Deed of Guarantee or the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and 

such failure continues for more than 30 days after the service by a holder of a Senior 

Preferred Note of notice on the Issuer requiring the same to be remedied; 

(iii)  General suspension of payments: the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) 

suspends its payments generally; 

(iv) Bankruptcy, composition or similar event: a court in the country of domicile of the 

Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) institutes bankruptcy proceedings or 

composition proceedings to avert a bankruptcy or the Issuer or the Guarantor (where 

applicable) applies for institution of such proceedings or any event occurs which under 

the laws of the Republic of Italy or Grand Duchy of Luxembourg has an analogous 

effect to such proceedings; 
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(v) Cross-default: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer or the Guarantor 

(where applicable) for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes due and 

payable prior to its stated maturity as a result of any payment default thereon by the 

Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (where applicable), or (ii) any such 

indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within an applicable grace 

period, or (iii) the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) fails to pay when due any 

amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect 

of any moneys borrowed or raised provided that an event of default pursuant to this 

Condition 8(v) shall only occur if: (A) the aggregate amount of the relevant 

indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one of the events 

mentioned in paragraphs (i), (ii) or (iii) above have occurred and is continuing exceeds 

ú35,000,000 and (B) the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) is not contesting in 

good faith in a competent court in a recognised jurisdiction that the relevant 

indebtedness or guarantee and/or indemnity is due and enforceable, as appropriate; 

(vi) Insolvency: either the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) is (or is deemed by law 

or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, proposes or makes a 

general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the 

relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in 

respect of or affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer 

or the Guarantor (where applicable); 

(vii)  Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up or 

dissolution or administration of the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable), or the 

Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) applies or petitions for a winding-up or 

administration order in respect of itself or ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or 

substantially all of its business or operations, in each case except for the purposes of and 

pursuant to or in connection with a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, 

merger, de-merger, consolidation, deconsolidation or disposal or contribution in kind of 

assets or branches of business; 

(viii)  Ownership: in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, 

Mediobanca International ceases to be controlled by Mediobanca (except in the case of a 

reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, consolidation or 

similar transaction by which Mediobanca assumes the payment obligations of 

Mediobanca International under the Senior Preferred Notes). 

(ix) Illegality : it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer or the Guarantor (where 

applicable) to perform or comply with any one or more of its obligations under any of 

the Senior Preferred Notes or the Deed of Guarantee (where applicable); or 

(x) Guarantee: in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, the 

Deed of Guarantee (where applicable) ceases to be a valid and binding obligation of the 

Guarantor or it becomes unlawful for the Guarantor to perform its obligations under the 

Deed of Guarantee or the Deed of Guarantee is claimed by Mediobanca International or 

the Guarantor not to be in full force and effect (except in the case of a reconstruction, 

amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, consolidation or similar transaction by 

which Mediobanca assumes the payment obligations of Mediobanca International under 

the Senior Preferred Notes). 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies that one or more of the Events of Default are not 

applicable, then such relevant Events of Default shall not apply to such Senior Preferred Notes. 

However, in any case a Noteholder may, upon written notice to the Fiscal Agent, cause such 

Senior Preferred Notes to become due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon, if any, 

as of the date on which said notice is received by the Fiscal Agent, upon the occurrence of the 

Event of Default listed in this Condition 8(a), paragraph (vii) (Winding-up). 

(b) Events of Default of the Senior Non Preferred Notes 
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If any of the following events occurs and is continuing, the holder of a Senior Non Preferred 

Note of any Series may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such 

Senior Non Preferred Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount 

of such Senior Non Preferred Note together with accrued interest to the date of payment shall 

become immediately due and payable: 

Winding-up: Mediobanca is wound up or dissolved, except for the purposes of, and pursuant to, 

or in connection with, a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, 

consolidation, deconsolidation or disposal of assets. 

In this Condition 8 ñEvents of Defaultò means any of the events listed in Conditions 8(a) 

(Events of Default of the Senior Preferred Notes) and/or 8(b) (Events of Default of the Senior 

Non Preferred Notes) as the case may be. 

(c) Events of Default of the Subordinated Notes 
 

If any of the following events occurs and is continuing, the holder of a Subordinated Note may 

give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its Specified Office that such Subordinated Note is 

immediately repayable: 

Winding-up: Mediobanca is wound up or dissolved, except for the purposes of, and pursuant to, 

or in connection with, a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, 

consolidation, deconsolidation or disposal of assets, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount 

of such Subordinated Note together with accrued interest to the date of payment shall become 

immediately due and payable. No remedy against Mediobanca other than as specifically 

provided by this Condition 8(c) shall be available to holders of the Subordinated Notes or 

Coupons for the recovery of amounts owing in respect of the Notes or Coupons. 

9. MEETINGS OF HOLDERS OF NOTES AND MODIFICATIONS  

(a) Meetings of holders of Notes 

The Issue and Paying Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of 

holders of Notes to consider any matter affecting their interest, including modification 

by Extraordinary Resolution of the Notes (including these Conditions insofar as the 

same may apply to such Notes). An Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such 

meeting shall be binding on all the holders of Notes, whether present or not and on all 

relevant holders of Coupons, except that any Extraordinary Resolution proposed, inter 

alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes, any Instalment Date 

or any date for payment of interest thereon, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount 

or an Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) 

to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or 

basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating the 

Interest Amount in respect thereof, (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Interest Rate, 

Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is shown in the Final Terms, to reduce any 

such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to change any method of calculating the 

Redemption Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination 

of the Notes, (vii) to modify the provisions contained concerning the quorum required at 

any meeting of holders of Notes or any adjournment thereof or concerning the majority 

required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, (viii) to modify the provisions which 

would have the effect of giving any authority, direction or sanction which under the 

Notes is required to be given pursuant to a meeting of holders of Notes to which the 

special quorum provisions apply, (ix) to take any steps which as specified in the Final 

Terms may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which 

the special quorum provisions apply or (x) to amend the foregoing exceptions in any 

manner, will only be binding if passed at a meeting of the holders of Notes (or at any 

adjournment thereof) at which a special quorum (provided for in the Issue and Paying 

Agency Agreement) is present. 



 

 

89 

 

 

(b) Modification of Issue and Paying Agency Agreement 

The Issuer and the Guarantor shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or 

authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the 

Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be 

prejudicial to the interests of the holders of Notes. 

(c) Errors or inconsistencies 

The Issuer and, with respect to the Senior Preferred Notes only, the Guarantor may, 

without the prior consent of the holders of the Notes correct (i) any manifest and/or 

material error in the Conditions and/or in the Final Terms, (ii) any error of a formal, 

minor or technical nature in the Conditions and/or in the Final Terms or (iii) any 

inconsistency in the Conditions and/or in the Final Terms between the Conditions and/or 

the Final Terms and any other documents prepared in connection with the issue and/or 

offer of a Series of Notes (provided such correction is not materially prejudicial to the 

holders of the relevant Series of Notes). In addition, pursuant to Condition 3(o) 

(Benchmark replacement), certain changes may be made to the interest calculation 

provisions of the Notes in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, 

without the requirement for consent of the Noteholders. Any such correction shall be 

binding on the holders of the relevant Notes and the Issuer and the Guarantor (if 

applicable) shall cause such correction to be notified to the holders of the Notes as soon 

as practicable thereafter pursuant to Condition 12 (Notices). 

(d) Modification following a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event  

With respect to the Senior Notes only, if Modification following a MREL/TLAC 

Disqualification Event is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, where a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer 

may, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, modify the 

terms of the Senior Notes to the extent that such modification is necessary to ensure that 

no such MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event would exist after such modification, 

provided that, following such modification: 

(i) the terms and conditions of the Senior Notes, as so modified (the ñmodified 

Senior Notesò), are no more prejudicial to Noteholders than the terms and 

conditions applicable to the Senior Notes prior to such modification (the 

ñexisting Senior Notesò) provided that any modification may be made in 

accordance with paragraphs (ii)  to (iv) below and any such modification shall 

not constitute a breach of this paragraph (i); and 

(ii)  the person having the obligations of the Issuer under the Senior Notes continues 

to be the Issuer; and 

(iii)  the modified Senior Notes rank at least equal to the existing Senior Notes and 

feature the same tenor, principal amount, interest rates (including applicable 

margins), interest payment dates and first call date as the existing Senior Notes; 

and 

(iv) the modified Senior Notes continue to be listed on a regulated market (for the 

purposes of the MiFID II (Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended)) of an 

internationally recognised stock exchange as selected by the Issuer (provided 

that the existing Senior Notes were so listed prior to the occurrence of such 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event), 

and provided further that : 

(a) Mediobanca obtains approval of the proposed modification from the Relevant 

Authority (if such approval is required) or gives prior written notice (if such 

notice is required to be given) to the Relevant Authority and, following the 
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expiry of all relevant statutory time limits, the Relevant Authority is no longer 

entitled to object or impose changes to the proposed modification; 

(b) the modification does not give rise to a change in any published and solicited 

rating of the existing Senior Notes in effect at such time (to the extent the 

existing Senior Notes were rated prior to the occurrence of such MREL/TLAC 

Disqualification Event); 

(c) the modification does not give rise to any right on the part of the Issuer to 

exercise any option to redeem the Senior Notes prior to their stated maturity, 

without prejudice to the provisions under Condition 4(f) (Redemption at the 

option of the Issuer); and 

(d) the Issuer has delivered to the Fiscal Agent a certificate, substantially in the 

form shown in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, signed by two of the 

Issuerôs executive officers stating that paragraphs (i) to (iv) and (a) to (c) above 

have been complied with, such certificate to be made available for inspection by 

Noteholders. 

In connection with any modification as indicated in this Condition 9(d), the Issuer shall 

comply with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes are then listed or admitted to trading. 

(e) Modification following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event 

With respect to the Subordinated Notes only, if modification following a Regulatory 

Event or a Tax Event is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, where a 

Regulatory Event or a Tax Event has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer may, 

without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, modify the 

terms of the Notes to the extent that such modification is reasonably necessary to ensure 

that no such Regulatory Event or Tax Event would exist after such modification, 

provided that, following such modification: 

(i) the terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes, as so modified (the 

ñmodified Notesò), are no more prejudicial to Noteholders than the terms and 

conditions applicable to the Subordinated Notes prior to such modification (the 

ñexisting Notesò) provided that any modification may be made in accordance 

with paragraphs (ii)  to (iv) below and any such modification shall not constitute 

a breach of this paragraph (i); and 

(ii)  the person having the obligations of the Issuer under the Subordinated Notes 

continues to be the Issuer; and 

(iii)  the modified Subordinated Notes rank at least equal to the existing Subordinated 

Notes and feature the same tenor, principal amount, interest rates (including 

applicable margins), interest payment dates and first call date as the existing 

Subordinated Notes; and 

(iv) the modified Subordinated Notes continue to be listed on a regulated market (for 

the purposes of the MiFID II (Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended)) of an 

internationally recognised stock exchange as selected by the Issuer (provided 

that the existing Notes were so listed prior to the occurrence of such Regulatory 

Event or Tax Event, as applicable), 

and provided further that : 

(a) Mediobanca obtains approval of the proposed modification from the Relevant 

Authority (if such approval is required) or gives prior written notice (if such 

notice is required to be given) to the Relevant Authority and, following the 
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expiry of all relevant statutory time limits, the Relevant Authority is no longer 

entitled to object or impose changes to the proposed modification; 

(b) the modification does not give rise to a change in any published and solicited 

rating of the existing Subordinated Notes in effect at such time (to the extent the 

existing Subordinated Notes were rated prior to the occurrence of such 

Regulatory Event or Tax Event, as applicable); 

(c) the modification does not give rise to any right on the part of the Issuer to 

exercise any option to redeem the Subordinated Notes prior to their stated 

maturity, without prejudice to the provisions under Condition 4(f) (Redemption 

at the option of the Issuer); 

(d) the Issuer has delivered to the Fiscal Agent a certificate, substantially in the 

form shown in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, signed by two of the 

Issuerôs executive officers stating that paragraphs (i) to (iv) and (a) to (c) above 

have been complied with, such certificate to be made available for inspection by 

Noteholders; and 

(e) in the case of any proposed modifications owing to a Tax Event, the Issuer has 

delivered to the Fiscal Agent an opinion of independent legal advisers of 

recognised standing to the effect that the Tax Event can be avoided by the 

proposed modifications. 

In connection with any modification as indicated in this Condition 9(e), the Issuer shall 

comply with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the 

Notes are then listed or admitted to trading. 

(f) Modification to Notes distributed to a Single Noteholder 

In partial derogation to the provisions of Condition 9(a),(b),(c),(d) and (e) above, in case 

the Notes have been distributed to a single holder (the ñSingle Holderò), the approval 

for the amendments under Condition 9(a),(b),(c),(d) and (e) above shall be given by the 

Single Holder by way of binding approval letter with prior delivery of the relevant proof 

of ownership of the relevant Note.  

10. REPLACEMENT OF NOTES, RECEIPTS, COUPONS AND TALONS 

If a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be 

replaced, subject to applicable laws and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office of the 

Fiscal Agent or such other Paying Agent as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for 

the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to holders in accordance with Condition 12 

(Notices), in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection 

therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter 

alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently 

presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there will be 

paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Receipts, 

Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced 

Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

11. FURTHER ISSUES AND CONSOLIDATION  

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the holders of Notes or Coupons create 

and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all 

respects except for the Issue Price, the Issue Date and/or the first payment of interest) and so that 

the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and references in these 

Conditions to ñNotesò shall be construed accordingly. 

The Issuer may also from time to time upon not less than 30 daysô prior notice to Noteholders, 

without the consent of the holders of Notes or Coupons of any Series, consolidate the Notes with 
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Notes of one or more other Series (the ñOther Notesò) issued by it, provided the Notes and the 

Other Notes have been redenominated into Euro (if not originally denominated in Euro), and 

otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and 

conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the Issue Price, the Issue Date 

and/or the first payment of interest). Notice of any such consolidation will be given to the 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices). The Fiscal Agent shall act as the 

consolidation agent. 

With effect from their consolidation, the Notes and the Other Notes will (if listed prior to such 

consolidation) be listed on at least one European stock exchange on which either the Notes or the 

Other Notes were listed immediately prior to such consolidation. 

The Issuer shall in dealing with holders of such Notes following a consolidation pursuant to this 

Condition 11 have regard to the interest of the holders and the holders of the Other Notes, taken 

together as a class, and shall treat them alike. 

12. NOTICES 

Notices to the holders of Notes will be valid if (i) until such time as any Definitive Notes are 

issued, the notice is delivered to the relevant Clearing System(s), for communication by them to 

the holders of Notes; and (ii) if and so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Euronext 

Dublinôs regulated market and listed on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin, the notice is 

published in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Euronext Dublin (which shall 

include publication in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Ireland or on the website 

of the Euronext Dublin (www.ise.ie) or on the website of the relevant Issuer (www.mediobanca.it 

or www.mediobancaint.lu) and the Guarantor (www.mediobanca.it). If any such publication is not 

practicable, notice will be validly given if published in another leading daily English language 

newspaper of general circulation in Europe. 

Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if 

published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided 

above. 

Holders of Coupons shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice 

to the holders of Notes in accordance with this Condition 12. 

13. SUBSTITUTION OF THE ISSUER 

(a) The Issuer and, in case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, 

the Guarantor may at any time, without the consent of the holders of Notes or Coupons, 

substitute Mediobanca in place of Mediobanca International or Mediobanca International 

in place of Mediobanca (each a ñSubstituteò) upon notice by the Issuer, the Guarantor 

(in case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International) and the 

Substitute to be given in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), provided that; 

(i) no payment in respect of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons or the Deed of 

Guarantee (as the case may be) is at the relevant time overdue; 

(ii)  the Substitute shall, by means of a deed poll in the form scheduled to the 

Programme Manual as Schedule 12 (the ñDeed Pollò), agree to indemnify each 

holder of Notes and Coupons against any incremental tax, duty, assessment or 

governmental charge which is imposed on it by (or by any authority in or of) the 

jurisdiction of the country of the Substituteôs residence for tax purposes and, if 

different, of its incorporation with respect to any Note, Receipt, Coupon, Talon 

or the relevant Deed of Covenant and which would not have been so imposed or 

otherwise suffered by any holder of Notes, Receipts or Coupons had the 

substitution not been made, as well as against any tax, duty, assessment or 

governmental charge, and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution; 

http://www.ise.ie/
https://www.mediobanca.it/
http://www.mediobancaint.lu/
https://www.mediobanca.it/
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(iii)  in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, where 

the Substitute is not the Guarantor, the obligations of the Substitute under the 

Deed Poll, the Notes, Receipts, Coupons, Talons and Deed of Covenant shall be 

unconditionally guaranteed by the Guarantor by means of the Deed Poll, in 

accordance with the terms thereof; 

(iv) all actions, conditions and things required to be taken, fulfilled and done 

(including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Deed Poll, 

the Notes, Receipts, Coupons, Talons and Deed of Covenant represent valid, 

legally binding and enforceable obligations of the Substitute and, where 

applicable, of the Guarantor have been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full 

force and effect; 

(v) the Substitute shall have become party to the Issue and Paying Agency 

Agreement, with any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it had been an 

original party to it; 

(vi) legal opinions shall have been delivered to the Fiscal Agent and Dealers from 

lawyers of recognised standing in each jurisdiction referred to in paragraph (ii)  

above, in Italy and in England as to the fulfilment of the requirements of this 

Condition 13 and the other matters specified in the Deed Poll and that the Notes, 

Receipts, Coupons and Talons are legal, valid and binding obligations of the 

Substitute; 

(vii)  each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed shall have confirmed that, 

following the proposed substitution of the Substitute, the Notes will continue to 

be listed on such stock exchange; 

(viii)  if applicable, the Substitute has appointed a process agent as its agent in 

England to receive service of process on its behalf in relation to any legal 

proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes. 

(b) Upon the execution of the Deed Poll and the delivery of the legal opinions, the Substitute 

shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power, of the 

Issuer under the Notes and the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement with the same effect 

as if the Substitute had been named as the Issuer herein, and the Issuer shall be released 

from its obligations under the Notes and under the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement. 

(c) After a substitution pursuant to Condition 13(a), the Substitute may, without the consent 

of any holder, effect a further substitution. All the provisions specified in Conditions 

13(a) and 13(b) shall apply mutatis mutandis, and references in these Conditions to the 

Issuer shall, where the context so requires, be deemed to be or include references to any 

such further Substitute. 

(d) After a substitution pursuant to Condition 13(a) or 13(c) any Substitute may, without the 

consent of any holder, reverse the substitution, mutatis mutandis. 

(e) The Deed Poll and all documents relating to the substitution shall be delivered to, and 

kept by, the Fiscal Agent. Copies of such documents will be available free of charge at 

the specified office of the Paying Agent. 

14. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999  

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the 

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 

15. LAW AND JURISDICTION  

(a) Governing Law: The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 

connection with the relevant Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed in 
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accordance with English law, also in accordance with the provisions of the Rome II 

Regulation, except: (I)  in case of Notes issued by Mediobanca, Conditions 2(b) (Status 

of the Senior Preferred Notes), 2(c) (Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes), (2(d) 

(Status of the Subordinated Notes), 4(b) (Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), 8(b) (Events of Default of the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes), 8(c) (Events of Default of the Subordinated Notes), and 16 

(Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) of these Conditions, are 

governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Italian law; and (II)  in case of 

Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, Conditions 2(b) (Status of 

the Senior Preferred Notes), 4(b) (Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) and Condition 16 (Acknowledgment of the Italian 

/ Luxembourg Bail-in Power) of these Conditions, which are governed by, and shall be 

construed in accordance with, Luxembourgish law. For the avoidance of doubt, articles 

470-3 to 470-19 of the Luxembourg Company Law shall not apply to Senior Preferred 

Notes issued by Mediobanca International. 

(b) Jurisdiction : The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a 

ñDisputeò), arising from or connected with the Notes, whether arising out of or in 

connection with contractual or non-contractual obligations. 

(c) Service of notices/documents: Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor (where applicable) 

agree that the documents which start any proceedings relating to a Dispute 

(ñProceedingsò) and any other documents required to be served in relation to those 

Proceedings may be served on them by being delivered to Mediobanca - Banca di 

Credito Finanziario S.p.A. - London Branch, 4th floor, 62 Buckingham Gate SW1E 6AJ, 

United Kingdom. If such person is not or ceases to be effectively appointed to accept 

service of process on behalf of the Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable), the 

Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) shall, on the written demand of any 

Noteholder addressed and delivered to the Issuer and to the Guarantor (where applicable) 

or to the specified office of the Fiscal Agent appoint a further person in England to 

accept service of process on their behalf and, failing such appointment within 15 days, 

any Noteholder shall be entitled to appoint such a person by written notice addressed to 

the Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) and delivered to the Issuer and the 

Guarantor (where applicable) or to the specified office of the Fiscal Agent. Nothing in 

this Condition 15(c) shall affect the right of any Noteholder to serve process in any other 

manner permitted by law. This Condition 15(c) applies to Proceedings in England and to 

Proceedings elsewhere. 

16. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE ITALI AN / LUXEMBOURG BAIL -IN POWER 

A) Acknowledgment of the Italian Bail-in Power  

Notwithstanding any provision of these Conditions or any other agreements, arrangements, or 

understandings between the Issuers and the Guarantor (where applicable) and any holder, and 

without prejudice to Article 55(1) of the BRRD, by its acquisition of the Notes each holder 

(which, for the purposes of this Condition 16, includes each holder of a beneficial interest in the 

Notes) acknowledges, accepts, consents to and agrees to be bound by: 

(a) the effects of the exercise of the Italian Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority, which 

exercise may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof: (i) 

the reduction of all, or a portion, of the principal amount in respect of the Notes together 

with any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due 

in relation thereto; (ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount in 

respect of the Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and any 

additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto, into ordinary shares, other securities or 

other obligations of the Issuer or another person (and the issue to or conferral on the 

holder of such shares, securities or obligations), including by means of an amendment, 

modification or variation of these Conditions; (iii) the cancellation of the Notes or the 

principal amount in respect of the Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due 
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thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto; and (iv) the 

amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Notes or amendment of the amount of 

interest payable on the Notes, or the date on which the interest becomes payable, 

including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and 

(b) the variation of these Conditions, as deemed necessary by the Relevant Authority, to give 

effect to the exercise of the Italian Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority. 

The exercise of the Italian Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority shall not constitute an event 

of default and these Conditions shall remain in full force and effect save as varied by the 

Relevant Authority in accordance with this Condition 16. 

B) Acknowledgment of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power  

The provisions of this Condition 16(B) applies to Senior Preferred Notes only.  

Notwithstanding any provision of these Conditions or any other agreements, arrangements, or 

understandings between the Issuers and the Guarantor (where applicable) and any holder, and 

without prejudice to Article 55(1) of the BRRD, by its acquisition of the Senior Preferred Notes 

each holder (which, for the purposes of this Condition 16, includes each holder of a beneficial 

interest in the Senior Preferred Notes) acknowledges, accepts, consents to and agrees to be bound 

by: 

(a) the effects of the exercise of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority, 

which exercise may include and result in any of the following, or some combination 

thereof: (i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the principal amount in respect of the 

Senior Preferred Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and 

any additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto; (ii) the conversion of all, or a 

portion, of the principal amount in respect of the Senior Preferred Notes together with 

any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due in 

relation thereto, into ordinary shares, other securities or other obligations of the Issuer 

or another person (and the issue to or conferral on the holder of such shares, securities 

or obligations), including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of these 

Conditions; (iii) the cancellation of the Senior Preferred Notes or the principal amount 

in respect of the Senior Preferred Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest 

due thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto; and (iv) the 

amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Senior Preferred Notes or amendment of 

the amount of interest payable on the Senior Preferred Notes, or the date on which the 

interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and 

(b) the variation of these Conditions, as deemed necessary by the Relevant Authority, to 

give effect to the exercise of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority. 

The exercise of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority shall not constitute an 

event of default and these Conditions shall remain in full force and effect save as varied by the 

Relevant Authority in accordance with this Condition 16. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS  OF THE ITALIAN LAW NOTES 

The following is the text of the terms and conditions of the Notes applicable to each Series of Notes to be 

governed under Italian Law (respectively, the ñItalian Law Notesò or the ñNotesò and the ñTerms and 

Conditions of the Italian Law Notesò or the ñConditionsò) which, as completed by the relevant Final 

Terms, will be endorsed into each Note in final form issued under the Programme. The terms and 

conditions applicable to any Notes in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would 

apply to the Notes whilst in final form to the extent described under ñProvisions relating to the Notes 

While in Global Formò below. 

Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. (ñMediobancaò), Mediobanca International 

(Luxembourg) S.A. (ñMediobanca Internationalò) (each, an ñIssuerò and, together, the ñIssuersò) have 

established an Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the ñProgrammeò) for the issuance of up to Euro 

40,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of senior preferred notes which may be issued by each of 

the Issuers (the ñSenior Preferred Notesò), senior non preferred notes which may be issued by 

Mediobanca only (the ñSenior Non Preferred Notesò and, together with the Senior Preferred Notes, the 

ñSenior Notesò) and subordinated notes which may be issued by Mediobanca only (the ñSubordinated 

Notesò), guaranteed by Mediobanca (in its capacity as guarantor, the ñGuarantorò) in respect of Senior 

Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International only. 

The Notes are issued pursuant to an amended and restated Issue and Paying Agency Agreement dated 18 

December 2020, as amended or supplemented from time to time, (the ñIssue and Paying Agency 

Agreementò) between the Issuers, the Guarantor, BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, 

as fiscal agent and principal paying agent (the ñFiscal Agentò) and Mediobanca in its capacity as Italian 

paying agent (the ñItalian Paying Agentò and together with the Fiscal Agent and any additional or other 

paying agents in respect of the Notes from time to time appointed, the ñPaying Agentsò). The Guarantor 

has, for the benefit of the holders of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International from time 

to time, executed and delivered a deed of guarantee (the ñDeed of Guaranteeò) dated 18 December 2020 

under which it has guaranteed, in accordance with the terms and subject to limitations of the Deed of 

Guarantee, the due and punctual payment of the amounts due by Mediobanca International under the 

Notes as and when the same shall become due and payable (the ñGuarantee of the Notesò). The holders 

of the Notes (as defined below), the holders of the interest coupons (the ñCouponsò) appertaining to 

interest bearing Notes and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the 

ñTalonsò) and the holders of the instalment receipts (the ñReceiptsò) appertaining to the payment of 

principal by instalments are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the Issue and Paying 

Agency Agreement applicable to them. 

Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each, a ñSeriesò) and each Series may comprise 

one or more tranches (each, a ñTrancheò) of Notes. Each Tranche of Notes is the subject of final terms 

(the ñFinal Termsò) which completes these Conditions. The terms and conditions applicable to any 

particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms. In the event 

of any inconsistency between these Conditions and the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. All 

subsequent references in these Conditions to ñNotesò are to the Notes which are the subject of the Final 

Terms. These Conditions apply to Senior Preferred Notes and Senior Non Preferred Notes, only to the 

extent that such Senior Non Preferred Notes are issued by Mediobanca, and are defined as ñstrumenti di 

debito chirografario di secondo livelloò pursuant to and for the purposes of Articles 12-bis and 91, 

paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which 

may be enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority. These Conditions apply only to 

Subordinated Notes which are issued by Mediobanca and are defined as ñTier II Instrumentsò in Part II, 

Chapter 1 of the Prudential Regulations for Banks and in Article 63 of the CRR. Copies of the Final 

Terms are available during normal business hours at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent, the initial 

Specified Office of which is set out below (the ñSpecified Officeò). Certain provisions of these 

Conditions are summaries of the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and are subject to their detailed 

provisions. 

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will specify whether the Issuer is Mediobanca or 

Mediobanca International. In these Conditions, any reference to a statute or regulation shall be construed 

as a reference to such statute or regulation as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, 

amended or re-enacted. 



 

 

97 

 

 

Copies of the Deed of Guarantee are available for inspection at the specified office of the Paying Agent. 

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE  

The Notes are issued in bearer form in the currency (the ñSpecified Currencyò) and the 

denominations (the ñSpecified Denomination(s)ò) shown in the Final Terms, provided that 

Senior Non Preferred Notes will have denomination of at least EUR 250,000 (or, where the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent 

amount in such other currency). 

Notes are issued with Coupons (and where appropriate, a Talon) attached save in the case of 

Notes which do not bear interest in which case references to interest (other than in relation to 

interest due after the date specified in the Final Terms as the Maturity Date (as designed below), 

Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Any Note the principal amount of 

which is redeemable in instalments is issued with one or more Receipts attached. 

Title to the Note and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Except as ordered 

by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder of any Note, Receipt, 

Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as the absolute owner of such Note, 

Receipt, Coupon or Talon, as the case may be, for the purpose of receiving payment thereof or on 

account thereof and for all other purposes, whether or not such Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon 

shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership, theft or loss thereof or any writing 

thereon made by anyone.  

In these Conditions, ñholderò (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer 

of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon. All capitalised terms which are not defined in these 

Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms, the absence of any 

such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes. Those definitions will be 

endorsed on the definitive Notes. 

2. STATUS OF NOTES AND GUARANTEE 

(a) Definitions: 

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms 

shall have the meanings set out below. 

ñBank of Italyò means the Bank of Italy and/or any other competent authority which at 

a future date carries out the functions which the Bank of Italy performs as at the Issue 

Date. 

ñItalian Banking Actò means Italian Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, 

as amended or supplemented from time to time (including, without limitation, as a 

consequence of the transposition of the Banking Reform Package into Italian law).. 

ñLiquidazione Coatta Amministrativaò means Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa as 

described in Articles 80 to 94 of the Italian Banking Act. 

(b) Status of the Senior Preferred Notes: 

The Senior Preferred Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and 

unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank at all times at least pari passu 

without any preference among themselves and equally with all other present and future 

unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, save for certain mandatory 

exceptions of applicable law, it being understood moreover that the obligations of the 

relevant Issuer under the Senior Preferred Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In 

Power or the Luxembourg Bail-In Power, as the case may be. 

If waiver of set-off rights is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, each 

holder of a Senior Preferred Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right of 
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set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have 

under the laws of any jurisdiction in respect of such Senior Preferred Note. 

(c) Status of the Senior Non Preferred Notes: 

The Senior Non Preferred Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated, 

unsecured and non preferred obligations of Mediobanca and will rank at all times pari 

passu without any preference among themselves.  

In the event of a winding up, dissolution, liquidation or bankruptcy (including, inter alia, 

Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa) of Mediobanca, the payment obligations of 

Mediobanca under each Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes, and the relative Coupons 

as the case may be, will rank in right of payment (A) after unsubordinated creditors 

(including depositors and any holder of Senior Preferred Notes and their respective 

Coupons) of Mediobanca but (B) at least pari passu with all other present and future 

unsubordinated and non preferred obligations of Mediobanca which do not rank or are 

not expressed by their terms to rank junior or senior to such Series of Senior Non 

Preferred Notes and (C) in priority to any present or future claims ranking junior to such 

Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes (including any holder of Subordinated Notes) and 

the claims of shareholders of Mediobanca, in all such cases in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any 

relevant implementing regulation which may be enacted for such purposes by any 

Relevant Authority, it being understood moreover that the obligations of Mediobanca 

under the Senior Non Preferred Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In Power. 

Each holder of a Senior Non Preferred Note is deemed unconditionally and irrevocably 

to have waived any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy 

which it might otherwise have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such 

Senior Non Preferred Note. 

(d) Status of the Subordinated Notes:  

The Subordinated Notes and any related Coupons constitute direct, unsecured and 

subordinated obligations of Mediobanca and, subject to the provisions of this Condition 

2, will at all times rank pari passu without any preference among themselves. In relation 

to each Series of Subordinated Notes, all Subordinated Notes of such Series will be 

treated equally and all amounts paid by Mediobanca in respect of principal and interest 

thereon will be paid pro rata on all Notes of such Series. 

In the event of the winding up, dissolution, liquidation or bankruptcy (including, inter 

alia, Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa) of Mediobanca, the payment obligations of 

Mediobanca under each Series of Subordinated Notes, and the relative Coupons as the 

case may be, will rank in right of payment (A) after unsubordinated creditors (including 

depositors and any holder of Senior Notes and their respective Coupons) of Mediobanca 

as well as subordinated creditors which rank or are expressed to rank senior to the 

Subordinated Notes but (B) at least pari passu with all other subordinated obligations of 

Mediobanca which do not rank or are not expressed by their terms to rank junior or 

senior to such Series of Subordinated Notes and (C) in priority to the claims of 

subordinated creditors ranking or expressed to rank junior to the Subordinated Notes 

(including, but not limited to, ñAdditional Tier 1 Instrumentsò (as defined in the 

Prudential Regulations for Banks and in the CRR)) and of the shareholders of 

Mediobanca, it being understood moreover that the obligations of Mediobanca under the 

Subordinated Notes will be subject to the Italian Bail-In Power.  

Each holder of a Subordinated Note is deemed unconditionally and irrevocably to have 

waived any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it 

might otherwise have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such Subordinated 

Note. 

 



 

 

99 

 

 

(e) Status of Guarantee 

The Guarantee of the Senior Preferred Notes constitutes direct, unconditional, 

unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor pursuant to the terms and 

conditions and subject to the limitations set out in the Deed of Guarantee which will rank 

at all times at least pari passu without any preference among themselves and equally 

with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the 

Guarantor, save for certain mandatory exceptions of applicable law. 

3. INTEREST AND OTHER CALCULATIONS  

(a) Definitions 

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms 

shall have the meanings set out below. 

ñAccrual Yieldò has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñAdditional Business Centre(s)ò means the city or cities specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

ñAdditional Financial Centre(s)ò means the city or cities specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

ñBenchmarks Regulationò means Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial 

instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds 

and amending Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No. 

596/2014. 

ñBroken Amountò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñBusiness Dayò means: 

(i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on 

which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments 

generally in each (if any) Additional Business Centre; and 

(ii)  in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which 

commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in 

London, in the Principal Financial Centre of the relevant currency and in each 

(if any) Additional Business Centre. 

ñCalculation Agentò means Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A., the 

Fiscal Agent or such other Person specified in the relevant Final Terms as the party 

responsible for calculating the Interest Rate(s) and Interest Amount(s) and/or such other 

amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñCalculation Amountò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.  

ñCMSò means the constant maturity swap rate specified as such in the Final Terms. 

ñDay Count Fractionò means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period 

of time (the ñCalculation Periodò), such day count fraction as may be specified in these 

Conditions or the relevant Final Terms and: 

(a) if ñ1/1ò is specified, 1; 

(b) if ñActual/Actualò or ñActual/Actual (ISDA)ò is specified, the actual number 

of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made 

divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, 
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the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period 

falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of days in that 

portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); 

(c) if ñActual/Actual (ICMA) ò is so specified, means: 

(i) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular 

Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the 

Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of 

days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in 

any year; and 

(ii)  where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the 

sum of: 

(A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in 

the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of 

(1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) 

the number of Regular Periods in any year; and 

(B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in 

the next Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual 

number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of 

Regular Periods in any year; 

(d) if ñActual/365 (Fixed)ò is specified, the actual number of days in the 

Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365; 

(e) if ñActual/360ò is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 

in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360; 

(f) if ñ30/360ò, ñ360/360ò or ñBond Basisò is specified, the number of days in the 

Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, 

calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
( ) ( ) ( )
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where: 

ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 

is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30; and 
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(g) if ñ30E/360ò or ñEurobond Basisò is specified, the number of days in the 

Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, 

calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
( ) ( ) ( )

360

1
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1
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2
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1
Y

2
Y[360 -+-³+-³

 

where: 

ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in 

which case D2 will be 30; and 

(h) if ñ30E/360 (ISDA)ò is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period 

in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a 

formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
( ) ( ) ( )

360

1
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2
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2
Y[360 -+-³+-³

 

where: 

ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Calculation Period falls; 

ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in 

which case D1 will be 30; and 

ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of 

February but not the Termination Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in 

which case D2 will be 30. 
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ñEURIBORò means the Euro-zone interbank offered rate specified as such in the Final 

Terms.  

ñFirst Marginò means the margin specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñFirst Reset Dateò means the date specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñFirst Reset Periodò means the period from (and including) the First Reset Date until 

(but excluding) the Second Reset Date or, if no such Second Reset Date is specified in 

the relevant Final Terms, the Maturity Date. 

ñFirst Reset Rate of Interestò means, in respect of the First Reset Period and subject to 

Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) (Fallbacks), the rate of interest 

determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date as the 

sum of the relevant Mid-Swap Rate and the First Margin. 

ñFixed Coupon Amountò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final 

Terms.  

ñInitial Rate of Interestò has the meaning specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInstalment Date(s)ò means the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Accrual Dateò means the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Amountò means: 

c) With respect to the Senior Notes, the amount of interest payable per Calculation 

Amount in respect of any Interest Period and determined according to 

Condition 3(i) (Calculations in respect of the Senior Notes); 

d) With respect to the Subordinated Notes: 

(i) In respect of an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable per 

Calculation Amount for that Interest Period and which, in the case of 

Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified hereon, shall mean the 

Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified in the Final Terms as 

being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period; 

and 

(ii)  in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per 

Calculation Amount for that period. 

ñInterest Commencement Dateò means the Issue Date or such other date as may be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñInterest Determination Dateò means the date or the dates specified as such in the 

Final Terms. 

ñInterest Payment Dateò means the date or dates specified as such in the relevant Final 

Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Final Terms, as the 

same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention. 

ñInterest Periodò means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 

Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Accrual Date and 

each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Accrual Date and ending 

on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Accrual Date. 

ñInterest Rateò means the rate of interest (expressed as a percentage per annum) 

payable from time to time in respect of this Note and which is either specified, or 

calculated in accordance with the provisions, in the relevant Final Terms. 
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ñInterest Rate Switch Dateò means the date specified as such in the relevant Final 

Terms. 

ñISDA Definitionsò means the 2006 ISDA Definitions as amended and updated as at the 

date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the 

Final Terms) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., 

a copy of which is available on the website of the International Swaps and Derivatives 

Association, Inc. (www.isda.org) and can be obtained from the Issuer. 

ñIssue Dateò means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñIssue Priceò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñLIBID ò means the London interbank bid rate specified as such in the Final Terms. 

ñLIBORò means the London interbank offered rate specified as such in the Final Terms. 

ñLIMEAN ò means the London interbank mid-market rate specified as such in the Final 

Terms. 

ñLinear Interpolationò means the straight-line interpolation by reference to two rates 

based on the Reference Rate or the ISDA Rate, as the case may be, one of which will be 

determined as if the Specified Duration were the period of time for which rates are 

available next shorter than the length of the affected Interest Period and the other of 

which will be determined as if the Specified Duration or the Designated Maturity, as the 

case may be, were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the 

length of such Interest Period. 

ñMarginò means the percentage specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñMid -Market Swap Rateò means for any Reset Period the mean of the bid and offered 

rates for the fixed leg payable with a frequency equivalent to the frequency with which 

scheduled interest payments are payable on the Notes during the relevant Reset Period 

(calculated on the day count basis customary for fixed rate payments in the Specified 

Currency as determined by the Calculation Agent) of a fixed-for-floating interest rate 

swap transaction in the Specified Currency which transaction (i) has a term equal to the 

relevant Reset Period and commencing on the relevant Reset Date, (ii) is in an amount 

that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time 

with an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market and (iii) has a floating 

leg based on the Mid-Swap Floating Leg Benchmark Rate for the Mid-Swap Maturity 

(as specified in the relevant Final Terms) (calculated on the day count basis customary 

for floating rate payments in the Specified Currency as determined by the Calculation 

Agent). 

ñMid -Market Swap Rate Quotationò means a quotation (expressed as a percentage 

rate per annum) for the relevant Mid-Market Swap Rate. 

ñMid -Swap Floating Leg Benchmark Rateò means EURIBOR if the Specified 

Currency is euro or LIBOR for the Specified Currency if the Specified Currency is not 

euro.  

ñMid -Swap Rateò means, in relation to a Reset Determination Date and subject to 

Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) (Fallbacks), either: 

(A) if Single Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the rate for 

swaps in the Specified Currency: 

(iii)  with a term equal to the relevant Reset Period; and 

(iv) commencing on the relevant Reset Date, 

http://www.isda.org/
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which appears on the Relevant Screen Page; or 

(B) if Mean Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the arithmetic 

mean (expressed as a percentage rate per annum and rounded, if necessary, to the 

nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the bid and 

offered swap rate quotations for swaps in the Specified Currency: 

(iii)  with a term equal to the relevant Reset Period; and 

(iv) commencing on the relevant Reset Date, 

which appear on the Relevant Screen Page, 

in either case, as at approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the 

Specified Currency on such Reset Determination Date, all as determined by the 

Calculation Agent. 

ñMultiplier ò has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñOptional Redemption Amountò means ( )(y)
AY1RP +³  

where: 

ñRPò means the Reference Price; 

ñAYò means the Accrual Yield expressed as a decimal; and 

ñyò is the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms which will be 

either (i) 30/360 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the number of days 

(calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from 

(and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the 

date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note 

becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (ii) Actual/360 (in 

which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and 

including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date 

fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes 

due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (iii) Actual/365 (in which case 

the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue 

Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or 

(as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the 

denominator will be 365). 

ñPayment Business Dayò means: 

(i) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is: 

(A) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation (if 

presentation is required) are open for presentation and payment of 

bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Settlement 

Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried 

on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or 

(ii)  if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is: 

(A) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for 

presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in 

foreign currencies; and 
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(B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which 

dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal 

Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) 

Additional Financial Centre. 

ñPrincipal Financial Centreò means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial 

centre for that currency provided, however, that: 

(i) in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State 

of the European Communities as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the 

payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and 

(ii)  in relation to Australian dollars, it means either Sydney or Melbourne and, in 

relation to New Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland, in 

each case as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of 

a calculation) by the Calculation Agent. 

ñRate of Interestò means the Initial Rate of Interest, the First Reset Rate of Interest or 

the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest, as applicable. 

ñReference Banksò means, the institutions specified as such in the relevant Final Terms 

or, if none, four (or, if the Relevant Financial Centre is Helsinki, five) major banks 

selected by the Issuer on the advice of an investment bank of international repute. 

ñReference Priceò means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñReference Rateò means EURIBOR, LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN, CMS, or the yield on 

securities issued by the Italian Government, as specified in the relevant Final Terms in 

respect of the currency and period specified in the relevant Final Terms and including 

where applicable the relevant yield and issue of securities issued by the Italian 

Government. 

ñReference Rate Multiplierò means the percentage specified as such in the relevant 

Final Terms. 

ñRegular Periodò means: 

(i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of 

regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement 

Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period 

from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest 

Payment Date; 

(ii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is 

scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and 

including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular 

Date, where ñRegular Dateò means the day and month (but not the year) on 

which any Interest Payment Date falls; and 

(iii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first 

Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular 

payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to 

but excluding the next Regular Date, where ñRegular Dateò means the day and 

month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the 

Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period. 

ñRelevant Currencyò means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms 

or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated. 
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ñRelevant Financial Centreò means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined 

on an Interest Determination Date, the financial centre as may be specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, the financial centre with which the 

relevant Reference Rate is most closely connected or, if none is so connected, London. 

ñRelevant Screen Pageò means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a 

particular information service (including, but not limited to, Reuters) as may be specified 

as the Relevant Screen Page in the relevant Final Terms for the purpose of providing a 

Reference Rate, or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace 

it on that information service or on such other information service, in each case as may 

be nominated by the person or organisation providing or sponsoring the information 

appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to that 

Reference Rate. 

ñRelevant Timeò means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time 

in the Relevant Financial Centre specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is 

specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to 

determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the relevant currency in the 

interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre provided that if the Relevant 

Currency is Euro and the Benchmark is EURIBOR, the Relevant Time shall be 11.00 am 

Brussels time. 

ñReset Dateò means the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date and each Subsequent 

Reset Date (as applicable). 

ñReset Determination Dateò means, in respect of the First Reset Period, the second 

Business Day prior to the First Reset Date, in respect of the first Subsequent Reset 

Period, the second Business Day prior to the Second Reset Date and, in respect of each 

Subsequent Reset Period thereafter, the second Business Day prior to the first day of 

each such Subsequent Reset Period. 

ñReset Periodò means the First Reset Period or a Subsequent Reset Period, as the case 

may be. 

ñSecond Reset Dateò means the date specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSpecified Currencyò has the meaning, if any, given in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSpecified Durationò means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an 

Interest Determination Date, the period specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSubsequent Marginò means the margin specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSubsequent Reset Dateò means the date or dates specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

ñSubsequent Reset Periodò means the period from (and including) the Second Reset 

Date to (but excluding) the next Subsequent Reset Date, and each successive period from 

(and including) a Subsequent Reset Date to (but excluding) the next succeeding 

Subsequent Reset Date. 

ñSubsequent Reset Rate of Interestò means, in respect of any Subsequent Reset Period 

and subject to Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) (Fallbacks), the rate of 

interest determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date 

as the sum of the relevant Mid-Swap Rate and the relevant Subsequent Margin. 

ñTARGET Systemò means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement 

Express Transfer (TARGET or TARGET2) System or any successor thereto. 

ñTARGET Settlement Dayò means any day on which the TARGET System is open. 
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ñYieldò means: 

In relation to any Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes, an indication of the yield in respect of 

such notes will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The yield is calculated at the 

Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price, using the formula below. It is not an indication 

of future yield. 

( )( ) ( )n
r1A

n
r11

r

C
P

-
++

-
+-=  

Where: 

ñPò is the Issue Price of the Notes; ñCò is the annualised Interest Amount; ñAò is the 

principal amount of Notes due on redemption; ñnò is time to maturity in years; and ñrò is 

the annualised yield. 

(b) Interest Rate and Accrual 

(A) With respect to the Senior Notes, each Senior Note (other than Zero Coupon 

Notes) bears, for each Interest Period, interest on its outstanding principal amount 

at the Interest Rate, such interest being payable as the Interest Amount, in arrear 

and on each Interest Payment Date. Where an Interest Period is a short or long 

Interest Period, then: 

(i) if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable, the Interest Amount payable for that short or long Interest 

Period shall be, unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the 

Broken Amount specified therein;  

(ii)  if (in case of the Senior Preferred Notes only) the Reset Note Provisions are 

specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Interest Amount 

payable for that short or long Interest Period shall be the relevant amount 

specified as such in the relevant Final Terms; and 

(iii)  if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms 

as being applicable, the Interest Rate applicable for that short or long Interest 

Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent using Linear 

Interpolation; 

(B) with respect to the Subordinated Notes, each Subordinated Note bears interest on 

its outstanding principal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the 

Interest Rate, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. 

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note on the last day of the last Interest Period and, 

in any case, on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of 

principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to 

accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the Interest Rate in the manner provided in 

this Condition 3 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 6 (Taxation)). 

(c) Business Day Convention 

If any date referred to in these Conditions which is specified in these Conditions or in the 

relevant Final Terms to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day 

Convention would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the 

Business Day Convention specified is (i) the Following Business Day Convention, such 

date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day, (ii) the Modified 

Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which 

is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which 

event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or 



 

 

108 

 

 

(iii) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the 

immediately preceding Business Day. 

(d) Interest Rate on Fixed Rate Notes 

With respect to the Senior Notes, if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the 

relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Interest Rate for each Interest Period shall 

be the fixed rate specified in the relevant Final Terms. The yield of the Fixed Rate Note 

is indicated in the relevant Final Terms and is calculated as the internal rate of return 

(IRR). The yield of the Fixed Rate Notes is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of 

the Issue Price and, if indicated in the relevant Final Terms, the Fixed Coupon and/or the 

Broken Amount. 

With respect to the Subordinated Notes, if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified 

in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the amount of interest payable in respect 

of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if 

the Notes are in more than one Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon 

Amount in respect of the relevant Denomination. The amount of interest payable in 

respect of each Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified 

shall be calculated by applying the Interest Rate to the Calculation Amount of such Note, 

multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction (not adjusted in accordance 

with the Business Day Convention) and rounding the resulting figure in accordance with 

Condition 3(h) (Rounding). Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note 

comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect 

of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner 

provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination 

without any further rounding. The yield of the Fixed Rate Note is indicated in the 

relevant Final Terms and is calculated as the internal rate of return (IRR). The yield of 

the Fixed Rate Notes is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price and, as 

indicated in the relevant Final Terms, the Fixed Coupon and/or the Broken Amount. 

(e) Interest Rate on Reset Notes 

(i) Rates of Interest and Interest Payment Dates 

If, in case of any Notes other than the Senior Non Preferred Notes, the Reset Note 

Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, then such Reset 

Note bears interest:  

(D) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date until (but excluding) the 

First Reset Date at the Initial Rate of Interest;  

(E) from (and including) the First Reset Date until (but excluding) the Second Reset 

Date or, if no such Second Reset Date is specified in the relevant Final Terms, 

the Maturity Date at the rate per annum equal to the First Reset Rate of Interest; 

and  

(F) for each Subsequent Reset Period thereafter (if any), at the relevant Subsequent 

Reset Rate of Interest, 

payable, in each case, in arrear on the each Interest Payment Date and on the Maturity 

Date if that does not fall on an Interest Payment Date. The Rate of Interest and the 

Interest Amount payable shall be determined by the Calculation Agent, (i) in the case of 

the Rate of Interest, at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of 

Interest is to be determined, and (ii) in the case of the Interest Amount in accordance 

with the provisions for calculating amounts of interest in Condition 3(d) (Interest Rate 

on Fixed Rate Notes). 

(ii)  Fallbacks 
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Subject to Condition 3(o) (Benchmark replacement), if on any Reset Determination Date 

the Relevant Screen Page is not available or the Mid-Swap Rate does not appear on the 

Relevant Screen Page, the Issuer or a third party (i.e. a financial adviser or an investment 

bank appointed by the Issuer) shall request each of the Reference Banks (as defined 

below) to provide the Calculation Agent with its Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation as at 

approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the Specified Currency on 

the Reset Determination Date in question. 

If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with Mid-Market 

Swap Rate Quotations, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of 

Interest (as applicable) for the relevant Reset Period shall be the sum of the arithmetic 

mean (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being 

rounded upwards)) of the relevant Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotations and the First 

Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable), all as determined by the Calculation 

Agent. 

If on any Reset Determination Date only one or none of the Reference Banks provides 

the Calculation Agent with a Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation as provided in the 

foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent 

Reset Rate of Interest (as applicable) shall be determined to be the Rate of Interest as at 

the last preceding Reset Date or, in the case of the first Reset Determination Date, the 

First Reset Rate of Interest shall be the Initial Rate of Interest. 

For the purposes of this Condition 3(e)(ii) ñReference Banksò means the principal 

office in the principal financial centre of the Specified Currency of four (or, if the 

Relevant Financial Centre is Helsinki, five) major banks in the swap, money, securities 

or other market most closely connected with the relevant Mid-Swap Rate as selected by 

the Issuer on the advice of an investment bank of international repute. 

For the avoidance of doubts it being understood that the provisions set forth in this 

Condition 3(e) shall apply in respect of any Notes other than the Senior Non Preferred 

Notes. 

(f) Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes 

If the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the Final Terms as being applicable, 

the Interest Rate for each Interest Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent on 

the following basis: 

(i) Screen Rate Determination: if Screen Rate Denomination is specified in the 

relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Interest Rate is to be 

determined, subject to Condition 3(o) (Benchmark replacement), as follow: 

(A) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied 

by one entity, the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate 

which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on 

the relevant Interest Determination Date; 

(B) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic 

mean of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page 

as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date; 

(C) if, in the case of paragraph (A) above, such rate does not appear on that 

page or, in the case of paragraph (B) above, fewer than two such rates 

appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is 

unavailable: 

(1) the Issuer or a third party (i.e. a financial adviser or an 

investment bank appointed by the Issuer) will request the 

principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the 
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Reference Banks to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate 

at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest 

Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial 

Centre interbank market in an amount that is representative for 

a single transaction in that market at that time; and 

(2) the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of 

such quotations; and 

(3) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the 

Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the 

rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as determined by 

the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the Principal 

Financial Centre of the Relevant Currency, selected by the 

Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (local time in 

the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on 

the first day of the relevant Interest Period for loans in the 

Specified Currency to leading European banks for a period 

equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is 

representative for a single transaction in that market at that 

time, 

and the Interest Rate for such Interest Period shall be 

(a) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as not 

being applicable, the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the 

case may be) the arithmetic mean determined in accordance 

with the above provisions (the ñDetermined Rateò); 

(b) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable (i) the sum of the Margin and the relevant 

Determined Rate multiplied by (ii) the Multiplier; 

(c) if ñReference Rate Multiplierò is specified in the relevant 

Final Terms as being applicable, the sum of (i) Margin, and (ii) 

the relevant Determined Rate multiplied by the Reference Rate 

Multiplier, 

provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent is unable to 

determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in 

accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, 

the Interest Rate applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will 

be calculated in accordance with the foregoing, save that the 

Determined Rate shall be the arithmetic mean last determined in 

relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.  

(ii)  ISDA Determination: If, in respect of any Notes other than the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes, ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

the manner in which the Interest Rate(s) is/are to be determined, the Interest 

Rate applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be 

(a) if ñMult iplierò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as not being 

applicable, the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate; 

(b) if ñMultiplier ò is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 

applicable (i) the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate 

multiplied by (ii) the Multiplier; 
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(c) if ñReference Rate Multiplierò is specified in the relevant Final Terms 

as being applicable, the sum of (i) Margin, and (ii) the relevant ISDA 

Rate multiplied by the Reference Rate Multiplier, 

where ñISDA Rateò in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the 

Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by 

the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation 

Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction 

under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under 

which: 

(A) the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as 

specified in the relevant Final Terms; 

(B) the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a 

period specified in the relevant Final Terms; and 

(C) the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either 

(1) if the relevant Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-

bank offered rate (LIBOR) for a currency, the first day of that Interest 

Period or (2) in any other case, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

(g) Maximum/Minimum Interest Rates, Instalment Amounts and Redemption 

Amounts 

If any Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount 

is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then any Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or 

Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be, 

provided however that provisions relating to the Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate 

shall not apply to the Senior Non Preferred Notes and shall not be specified at any time 

in the relevant Final Terms. 

(h) Rounding 

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless 

otherwise specified), (i) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, 

if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves 

being rounded up), (ii) all figures will be rounded to seven significant figures (with 

halves being rounded up) and (iii) all currency amounts which fall due and payable will 

be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in 

the case of Yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest Yen. For these purposes 

ñunitò means, with respect to any currency other than Euro, the lowest amount of such 

currency which is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with 

respect to Euro, means one cent. 

(i) Calculations in respect of the Senior Notes 

This Condition 3(i) applies to the Senior Notes only. 

The Interest Amount payable in respect of an Interest Period shall calculated using one 

of the following methods: 

(i) if  the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable but subject to sub-paragraph (ii) below, the Interest Amount 

payable for any Interest Period shall be an amount calculated by the Calculation 

Agent by applying the Interest Rate to the Calculation Amount and by 

multiplying the product so obtained by the Day Count Fraction (adjusted or 

unadjusted in accordance with the Business Day Convention, as specified in the 

relevant Final Terms); or 
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(ii)  notwithstanding sub-paragraph (i) above, if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are 

specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable and a Fixed Coupon 

Amount and/or Broken Amount is specified in the Final Terms to be payable on 

an Interest Payment Date, the Interest Amount payable for the relevant Interest 

Period shall be the Fixed Coupon Amount and/or Broken Amount so specified; 

or  

(iii)  if the Reset Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 

applicable with respect to Senior Preferred Notes only, the Interest Amount 

payable for any Interest Period shall be an amount calculated by the Calculation 

Agent in accordance with the provisions of Condition 3(e) (Interest Rate on 

Reset Notes) (i) (Rates of Interest and Interest Payment Dates) (adjusted or 

unadjusted in accordance with the Business Day Convention, as specified in the 

relevant Final Terms); or 

(iv) if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable, the Interest Amount payable for any Interest Period shall be an 

amount calculated by the Calculation Agent by applying the Interest Rate to the 

Calculation Amount and by multiplying the product so obtained by the Day 

Count Fraction (adjusted or unadjusted in accordance with the Business Day 

Convention, as specified in the relevant Final Terms). 

Each Interest Amount (other than the Fixed Coupon Amount and the Broken Amount) 

shall be rounded in accordance with Condition 3(h) (Rounding). 

(j) Calculations in respect of the Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 3(j) applies to the Subordinated Notes only. 

The amount of interest payable in respect of any Subordinated Note for any period shall 

be calculated by multiplying the product of the Interest Rate and the outstanding 

Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction, save that where an Interest Amount (or 

a formula for its calculation) is specified in respect of such period, the amount of interest 

payable in respect of such Subordinated Note for such period will equal such Interest 

Amount (or be calculated in accordance with a formula). Where the Specified 

Denomination of a Floating Rate Note comprises more than one Calculation Amount, 

the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Subordinated Note shall be the aggregate 

of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount 

comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding. In respect of any 

short or long Interest Period as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation 

Agent will determine the Interest Rate using Linear Interpolation. 

(k) Determination and Publication of Interest Rates, Interest Amounts, Redemption 

Amounts and Instalment Amounts 

After the Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date or such other time on such 

date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any Redemption Amount or 

Instalment Amount, obtain any quote or make any determination or calculation, it will, 

promptly, determine the Interest Rate and calculate the Interest Amount on the principal 

amount of the Notes for the relevant Interest Period, calculate the Redemption Amount 

or Instalment Amount, obtain such quote or make such determination or calculation, as 

the case may be, and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for each Interest 

Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the 

Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the 

Issuer, the Paying Agent, the holders of the Notes, any other Calculation Agent 

appointed in respect of the Notes which is to make a further calculation upon receipt of 

such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such 

exchange so requires, such exchange promptly after their determination but in no event 

later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to 

such time, in the case of an Interest Rate and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, 
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the fourth Business Day after such determination. The Interest Amounts and the Interest 

Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative 

arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or 

shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 

8 (Events of Default), the accrued interest and the Interest Rate payable in respect of the 

Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this 

Condition 3(k) but no publication of the Interest Rate or the Interest Amount so 

calculated need be made. The determination of each Interest Rate, Interest Amount, 

Redemption Amount and Instalment Amount, the obtaining of each quote and the 

making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent shall (in the 

absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties. 

(l) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks 

The Issuer will use its best endeavours to ensure that there shall at all times be four 

Reference Banks (or such other number as may be required) with offices in the Relevant 

Financial Centre and one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in 

the Conditions applicable to the Notes and for so long as any Notes are outstanding. If 

any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to 

continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the Issuer will appoint another Reference Bank 

with an office in the Relevant Financial Centre to act as such in its place. Where more 

than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these 

Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent 

performing its duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or 

unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Interest 

Rate for any Interest Period or to calculate the Interest Amounts or any other 

requirements, the Issuer will appoint the London office of a leading bank engaged in the 

London interbank market to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not 

resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid. 

(m) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes 

If the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 

applicable and the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note is 

improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount 

equal to the sum of: 

(i) the Reference Price; and 

(ii)  the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the 

Reference Price on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and 

including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of (i) the 

day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by 

or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after 

the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in 

respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is 

any subsequent default in payment). 

The calculation of the above amount shall be made (where such calculation is to be made 

for a period which is not a whole number of years) on the basis of such Day Count 

Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purposes of this 

Condition 3(m) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360. 

(n) Interest Rate Switch 

If so specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, from and including the 

Interest Rate Switch Date, the Interest Rate applicable for the calculation of the Interest 

Amounts due for each remaining Interest Period with respect to the Notes shall be the 

rate specified as applying from and including such Interest Rate Switch Date in the Final 

Terms and the initial Interest Rate applicable to the Notes shall no longer apply. 
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(o) Benchmark replacement 

Notwithstanding the provisions in Conditions 3(e) (Interest Rate on Reset Notes) (ii) 

(Fallbacks) and 3(f) (Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes), if the Issuer (in consultation 

with the Calculation Agent (or the person specified in the applicable Final Terms as the 

party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount(s)) 

determines that a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to the relevant Mid-Swap Rate or 

Reference Rate (as applicable) specified in the applicable Final Terms when any Rate of 

Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) remains to be determined by such 

Reference Rate or Mid-Swap Rate, then the following provisions shall apply: 

(1) the Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to appoint, as soon as reasonably 

practicable, an Independent Adviser (as defined below) to determine (acting in 

good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) a Successor Rate (as 

defined below) or, alternatively, if there is no Successor Rate, an Alternative 

Benchmark Rate no later than 3 Business Days prior to the Reset Determination 

Date or Interest Determination Date (as applicable) relating to the next 

succeeding Reset Period or Interest Period (as applicable) (the ñIA 

Determination Cut-off Dateò) for purposes of determining the Rate of Interest 

applicable to the Notes for all future Reset Periods or Interest Periods (as 

applicable) (subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 3(o)); 

 

(2) if the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser, or the Independent 

Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative 

Benchmark Rate prior to the IA Determination Cut-off Date, then the Issuer 

(acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner) may determine a 

Successor Rate or, if there is no Successor Rate, an Alternative Benchmark Rate, 

in accordance with the provisions set out under sub-paragraph (3) below; 

 

(3) if a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Benchmark Rate is 

determined in accordance with the preceding provisions, such Successor Rate or, 

failing which, Alternative Benchmark Rate shall be the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Rate (as applicable) in relation to the Notes for all future Reset Periods or 

Interest Periods (as applicable) (subject to the subsequent operation of this 

Condition 3(o)); provided, however, that if sub-paragraph (2) applies and the 

Issuer is unable to determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative Benchmark Rate 

prior to the Reset Determination Date or Interest Determination Date (as 

applicable) relating to the next succeeding Reset Period or Interest Period (as 

applicable), the Rate of Interest applicable to such next succeeding Reset Period 

or Interest Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation 

to the Notes in respect of a preceding Reset Period or Interest Period as 

applicable (which may be the Initial Rate of Interest) (though substituting, where 

a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Reset Period or Interest Period 

from that which applied to the last preceding Reset Period or Interest Period, the 

Margin relating to the relevant Reset Period or Interest Period, in place of the 

Margin relating to that last preceding Reset Period or Interest Period); for the 

avoidance of doubt, the provison in this sub-paragraph (3) shall apply to the 

relevant Interest Period or Reset Period (as applicable) only and any subsequent 

Interest Periods or Reset Periods (as applicable) are subject to the subsequent 

operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 3(o); 
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(4) if the Independent Adviser or the Issuer determines a Successor Rate or, failing 

which, an Alternative Benchmark Rate in accordance with the above provisions, 

the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as the case may be) may also, following 

consultation with the Calculation Agent (or the person specified in the applicable 

Final Terms as the party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and the 

Interest Amount(s)), specify changes to the Day Count Fraction, Relevant Screen 

Page, Business Day Convention, Business Days, Reset Determination Date, 

Interest Determination Date and/or the definition of Mid-Swap Rate or 

Reference Rate applicable to the Notes, and the method for determining the 

fallback rate in relation to the Notes, in order to follow market practice in 

relation to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate, which changes 

shall apply to the Notes for all future Reset Periods or Interest Periods (as 

applicable) also in compliance with the Issuerôs written plans provided for under 

article 28(2) of the Benchmarks Regulation (subject to the subsequent operation 

of this Condition 3(o)). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the 

Issuer) or the Issuer (as applicable), determines that an Adjustment Spread is 

required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate 

(as applicable) and determines the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for 

determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall be 

applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable). 

If the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) is unable to determine 

the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment 

Spread, then such Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable) 

will apply without an Adjustment Spread. For the avoidance of doubt, the 

relevant Paying Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect 

such consequential amendments to the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and 

these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 3(o). 

No Noteholder consent shall be required in connection with effecting the 

Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable) or such other 

changes, including for the execution of any documents or other steps by the 

relevant Paying Agent (if required));  

 

(5) the Issuer shall promptly following the determination of any Successor Rate or 

Alternative Benchmark Rate give notice thereof and of any changes pursuant to 

subparagraph (4) above to the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders; and 

 

(6) if the provisions relating to the occurrence of, with respect to the Senior Notes, a 

Regulatory Event, or, with respect to the Subordinated Notes only, a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event, in case of a Alternative Benchmark Rate is 

specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the provisions above would 

cause the occurrence of, respectively, a Regulatory Event or a MREL/TLAC 

Disqualification Event, therefore no Alternative Benchmark Rate will be 

adopted, and the Relevant Screen Page on which appears the Reference Rate or 

the relevant Interest Period will be equal to the last Reference Rate available at 

the immediately preceding Interest Period on the Relevant Screen Page as 

determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 

For the purposes of this Condition 3(o): 

ñAdjustment Spreadò means a spread (which may be positive or negative) or formula or 

methodology for calculating a spread, which the Independent Adviser (in consultation 

with the Issuer) or the Issuer (as applicable), determines is required to be applied to the 

Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable) in order to reduce or 

eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic 

prejudice to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Rate (as applicable) with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as 

applicable) and is the spread, formula or methodology which: 
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(i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the 

replacement of the Reference Rate or Mid-Swap Rate (as applicable) with the 

Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or 

 

(ii)  in the case of a Successor Rate for which no such recommendation has been 

made or in the case of an Alternative Benchmark Rate, the Independent Adviser 

(in consultation with the Issuer) or the Issuer (as applicable) determines is 

recognised or acknowledged as being in customary market usage in international 

debt capital markets transactions which reference the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Floating Rate (as applicable), where such rate has been replaced by the 

Successor Rate or the Alternative Benchmark Rate (as applicable); or 

 

(iii)  if no such customary market usage is recognised or acknowledged, the 

Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer), determines (acting in good 

faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) to be appropriate. 

 

ñAlternative Benchmark Rateò means the rate that the Independent Adviser or the 

Issuer (as applicable) determines has replaced the relevant Reference Rate or Mid-Swap 

Rate (as applicable) in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets 

for the purposes of determining rates of interest in respect of eurobonds denominated in 

the Specified Currency and of a comparable duration to the relevant Interest Period or 

Reset Period (as applicable), or, if the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) 

determines that there is no such rate, such other rate as the Independent Adviser or the 

Issuer (as applicable) determines in its discretion (acting in good faith and in a 

commercially reasonable manner) is most comparable to the relevant Reference Rate or 

Mid-Swap Rate (as applicable). 

ñBenchmark Eventò means: 

(i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 

Business Days or ceasing to exist or being subject to a material change; 

(ii)  a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it will 

cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in 

circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will 

continue publication of the Original Reference Rate), provided that a Benchmark 

Event will occur on the date which is the later of (a) the date of the public 

statement referenced herein and (b) the date on which the administrator ceases 

publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely; or 

(iii)  a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate, that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or 

indefinitely discontinued, provided that a Benchmark Event will occur on the date 

which is the later of (a) the date of the public statement referenced herein and (b) 

the date on which the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or 

indefinitely discontinued; or 

(iv) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate that the Original Reference Rate is no longer representative of its relevant 

underlying market; or 

(v) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator of the Original 

Reference Rate, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator of 

the Original Reference Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or 
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resolution authority over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, which 

states that the administrator of the Original Reference Rate has ceased or will, 

within a specified period of time, cease to provide the Original Reference Rate 

permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of cessation, there is no 

successor administrator that will continue to provide the Original Reference Rate 

and further provided that a Benchmark Event will occur on the date which is the 

later of (a) the date of the public statement referenced herein and (b) the date on 

which the administrator ceases to provide the Original Reference Rate 

permanently or indefinitely; 

(vi) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference 

Rate as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited 

from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse 

consequences either generally, or in respect of the Notes, provided that a 

Benchmark Event will occur on the date which is the later of (a) the date of the 

public statement referenced herein and (b) the date on which the Original 

Reference Rate is prohibited from being used or its use is subject to restrictions or 

adverse consequences either generally, or in respect of the Notes; or 

(vii)  it has become unlawful (including, without limitation, under the EU Benchmarks 

Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011), as amended from time to time, if 

applicable) for any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent or the Issuer to calculate any 

payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate. 

 

ñIndependent Adviserò means an independent financial institution of international 

repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international capital 

markets, in each case appointed by the Issuer at its own expense. 

ñOriginal Reference Rateò means: 

(iii)  the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) used to 

determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes as 

specified in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(iv) any Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate which has been determined 

in relation to such benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) pursuant to the 

operation of this Condition 3(o) (Benchmark Replacement). 

 

ñRelevant Nominating Bodyò means, in respect of a reference rate or mid-swap floating 

leg benchmark rate: 

(i) the central bank for the currency to which the reference rate or mid swap floating 

leg benchmark rate relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority 

which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the reference rate or 

mid swap floating leg benchmark rate; or 

 

(ii)  any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or 

constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the 

reference rate or mid swap floating leg benchmark rate relates, (b) any central 

bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the 

administrator of the reference rate or mid-swap floating leg benchmark rate, (c) a 

group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities, or (d) 

the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and 
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ñSuccessor Rateò means the rate that the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as 

applicable) determines is a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate or Mid-

Swap Rate (as applicable) which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating 

Body. 

4. REDEMPTION, PURCHASE AND OPTIONS 

(a) Definitions 

In these Conditions, unless the context requires otherwise: 

The expressions ñEarly Redemption Amountò; ñFinal Redemption Amountò, 

ñInstalment Amountò, ñOptional Redemption Amount (Call)ò, and ñOptional 

Redemption Amount (Put)ò mean, in respect of any Note: (A) such amount as may be 

specified in, or determined in accordance with the relevant Final Terms; or (B) if no 

such amount is specified, the principal amount of such Note. 

ñApplicable Banking Regulationsò means at any time the laws, regulations, 

requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy then in effect in the 

Republic of Italy, including, without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the 

BRRD, the BRRD Implementing Regulations, the CRD IV, the Prudential Regulations 

for Banks of the Bank of Italy, the Banking Reform Package, the SRM Regulation and 

those regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy 

then in effect of the Relevant Authority or of the institutions of the European Union 

and/or the Republic of Italy (as defined below) whether or not such requirements, 

guidelines or policies have the force of law and whether or not they are applied 

generally or specifically to the Issuer or the Group; 

ñBanking Reform Packageò means (i) Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Regulation (EU) No. 

575/2013 as regards the leverage ratio, the net stable funding ratio, requirements for 

own funds and eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposure to 

central counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings, large exposures, 

reporting and disclosure requirements, and Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012, (ii) 

Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 

2019 amending Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014 as regards the loss-absorbing and 

recapitalization capacity of credit institutions and investment firms, (iii) Directive (EU) 

2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending 

Directive 2013/36/EU as regards exempted entities, financial holding companies, mixed 

financial holding companies, remuneration, supervisory measures and powers and 

capital conservation measures, and (iv) Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Directive 2014/59/EU as 

regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalization capacity of credit institutions and 

investment firms and Directive 98/26/EC; 

ñCRA Regulationò means Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as amended and 

supplemented.  

ñCRA Regulationò means Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as amended and 

supplemented.  

ñCRD IVò means the CRD IV Directive, the CRR and any CRD IV Implementing 

Measure; 

ñCRD IV Directiveò means the directive 2013/36 of the European Parliament and of 

the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the 

prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 

2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC as amended, 

supplemented or replaced from time to time, including any successor regulations 
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(including, without limitation, as a consequence of the entry into force of the Banking 

Reform Package); 

ñCRD IV Implementing Measureò means any regulatory capital rules implementing 

the CRD IV Directive or the CRR which may from time to time be introduced, 

including, but not limited to, delegated or implementing acts (regulatory technical 

standards) adopted by the European Commission, national laws and regulations, and 

regulations and guidelines issued by the Bank of Italy, the European Banking Authority 

or any other relevant authority, which are applicable to the Issuer (on a standalone 

basis) or the Issuer together with its consolidated subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) 

and which prescribe the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments for 

inclusion in the regulatory capital of the Issuer (on a standalone or consolidated basis); 

ñCRRò means the Regulation No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the 

Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and 

investment firms amending Regulation No. 648/2012, supplemented or replaced from 

time to time, including any successor regulations (including, without limitation, as a 

consequence of the entry into force of the Banking Reform Package); 

ñExtraordinary Resolutionò has the meaning given to that term in the Issue and 

Paying Agency Agreement. 

ñItalian Bail -in Powerò means any write-down, conversion, transfer, modification, or 

suspension power existing from time to time under, and exercised in compliance with, 

any laws, regulations, rules or requirements in effect in the Republic of Italy, relating to 

(i) the transposition of the BRRD (in including, but not limited to, Legislative Decrees 

No. 180/2015 and 181/2015) as amended from time to time, (ii) Regulation (EU) 

No.806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014, 

establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit 

institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of the Single Supervisory 

Mechanism and the Single Resolution Fund and amending Regulation (EU) No. 

1093/2010, as amended or superseded from time to time (the ñSRM Regulationò) and 

(iii) the instruments, rules and standards created thereunder, pursuant to which any 

obligation of a regulated entity (as defined below) (or other affiliate of such regulated 

entity) can be reduced, cancelled, modified, or converted into shares, other securities, or 

other obligations of such regulated entity or any other person (or suspended for a 

temporary period); 

ñLuxembourg Bail-in Powerò means any write-down, conversion, transfer, 

modification, or suspension power existing from time to time under, and exercised in 

compliance with, any laws, regulations, rules or requirements in effect in Luxembourg, 

(i) relating to the transposition of the BRRD (including, but not limited to, the 

Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 relative aux mesures de résolution, 

d'assainissement et de liquidation des établissements de crédit et de certaines 

enterprises d'investissement ainsi qu'aux systèmes de garantie des dépôts et 

d'indemnisation des investisseurs, as amended from time to time (the ñLuxembourg 

BRRD Lawò), (ii) relating to the SRM Regulation or (iii) otherwise arising under 

Luxembourg law and (iv) in each case, the instruments, rules and standards created 

thereunder, pursuant to which any obligation of a regulated entity or other affiliate of 

such regulated entity) can be reduced, cancelled, modified, or converted into shares, 

other securities, or other obligations of such regulated entity or any other person (or 

suspended for a temporary period) and any right in a contract governing an obligation of 

a regulated entity may be deemed to have been exercised. For this purpose, a reference 

to a "regulated entity" is to any institution or entity (which includes certain credit 

institutions, investment firms, and certain of their group companies) referred to in points 

(1), (2), (3) or (4) of Article 2(1) of the Luxembourg BRRD Law, and with respect to 

the SRM Regulation to any entity referred to in Article 2 of the SRM Regulation; and 

ñMaturity Dateò means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 
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ñMaturity Periodò means the period from and including the Issue Date to but 

excluding the Maturity Date.  

ñPrudential Regulations for Banksò means the Bank of Italyôs Disposizioni di 

Vigilanza per le Banche, as set out in Bank of Italy Circular No. 285 of 17 December 

2013, as amended and supplemented from time to time, including any successor 

regulations. 

 ñRedemption Amountò means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the 

Instalment Amount, the Early Redemption Amount, the Optional Redemption Amount 

(Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Redemption Amount or such 

other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in the relevant 

Final Terms, provided that such amount is in any case at least equal to the principal 

amount of the relevant Note. 

ñRegulatory Capital Requirementsò means any applicable minimum capital or capital 

requirement specified for banks or financial group by the Relevant Authority. 

ñRelevant Authorityò means the Bank of Italy or such other governamental authority 

in the Republic of Italy (or other country where the Issuer is then domiciliated) or in the 

European Union having primary responsibility for prudential and resolution oversight 

and supervision of the Issuer and/or the Group from time to time and/or, as the context 

may require, the ñresolution authorityò or the ñcompetent authorityò as defined under 

BRRD and/or SRM Regulation. 

(b) Maturities/Final Redemption 

(i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below in 

accordance with Conditions 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reasons), 4(d) 

(Purchases), 4(f) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), 4(g) (Redemption for 

regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), Condition 4(h) (Redemption at the 

option of holders of Notes) or Condition 4(i) (Redemption by instalments), each 

Note will be redeemed at its Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date. 

(ii)  Senior Non Preferred Notes shall have a minimum Maturity Period of twelve 

months, as provided under Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of 

the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which may be 

enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority. 

(iii)  Subordinated Notes shall have a minimum Maturity Period of five years, as 

provided under the Applicable Banking Regulations. 

(c) Redemption for taxation reasons 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), if Redemption for taxation reasons is specified in the Final 

Terms as being applicable, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in 

whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date or, if so specified in the relevant 

Final Terms, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 daysô notice to the 

holders of Notes (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount 

(together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) (A) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts 

as provided or referred to in Condition 6 (Taxation) or (B) has or will become subject to 

additional amount of national income taxes (and/or, in the case of Mediobanca, regional 

tax on productive activities ï IRAP) due to partial or entire limitation to the deductibility 

of any payments under the Notes, in either case as a result of (1) any change in, or 

amendment to, the laws or regulations of Luxembourg or any political subdivision 

thereof or any agency or authority thereof or therein having power to tax (in the case of 

payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca International) or the Republic of Italy or 

any political subdivision thereof or any agency or authority thereof or therein having 
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power to tax (in the case of payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca), or (2) any 

change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, or (3) any 

judicial decision, official administrative pronouncement, published or private ruling, 

regulatory procedure, notice or announcement (including any notice or announcement of 

intent to adopt such procedures or regulations) (for purposes of this definition, an 

ñAdministrative Actionò), or (4) any clarification of, or change in the official position 

or the interpretation of such Administrative Action or any interpretation or 

pronouncement that provides for a position with respect to such Administrative Action 

that differs from the generally accepted position, in each case by any legislative body, 

court, governmental, administrative or regulatory authority or body, irrespective of the 

manner in which such clarification or change is made known, which change, 

amendment, Administrative Action or clarification becomes effective on or after the 

Issue Date, and (ii) such obligations/limitations under (A) and (B) above cannot be 

avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures 

available to it which (x) do not require the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) 

to incur material out-of-pocket expenses and (y) would not otherwise be 

disadvantageous to the Issuer or the Guarantor, as determined in their discretion; 

provided that in the case under (A) above no such notice of redemption shall be given 

earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the 

case may be) would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in 

respect of the Notes (or the Guarantee, as the case may be) then be due. Prior to the 

publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 4(c), the Issuer shall 

deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that such Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may 

be) is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing 

that the conditions precedent to the right of such Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case 

may be) so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of 

recognised standing to the effect that there is more than an unsubstantial risk that the 

Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) (A) has or will become obliged to pay such 

additional amounts or (B) has or will become subject to additional amount of taxes, as 

indicated above, due to limitation of the deductibility of payments under the Notes as a 

result of such change, amendment, Administrative Action or clarification (the ñTax 

Eventò). 

(d) Purchases 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), the Issuer, the Guarantor and any of the Guarantorôs 

subsidiaries may purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise at any price provided 

that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons appertaining thereto 

are attached or surrendered therewith. Without prejudice to the foregoing, if so specified 

in the relevant Final Terms the Issuer will be entitled to exercise the option to repurchase 

from the holder(s), at its sole discretion, (1) all (but not part of) the Notes of the relevant 

Series (the ñTotal Repurchase Optionò) or (2) on one or more occasions, any portion of 

the Notes of the relevant Series, provided that in such circumstances the amount of the 

Notes of the relevant Series to be purchased from each holder shall be the same 

proportion that the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series that are 

subject to the relevant Partial Purchase Option bears to the aggregate principal amount of 

all the Notes of the relevant Series then outstanding prior to the exercise of the relevant 

Partial Purchase Option (the ñPartial Repurchase Optionò). The Total Repurchase 

Option and the Partial Repurchase Option can only be exercised by the Issuer at the 

date(s) and the price(s) specified in the Final Terms as the Total Repurchase Option date 

or the Partial Repurchase Option date(s) and the Total Repurchase Option amount or 

Partial Repurchase Option amount(s), respectively. Upon exercise of the Total 

Repurchase Option or the Partial Repurchase Option, the holder(s) shall be obliged to 

sell to the Issuer (or any other entity indicated by the Issuer) all the Notes of the Series in 

relation to which the Total Repurchase Option or the Partial Repurchase Option (as the 

case may be) is exercised. 
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(e) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes, Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes for 

taxation reasons, Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes at the Option of the holder, 

Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes at the option of holders of Notes 

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Redemption Amount payable 

on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an 

amount equal to the sum of: 

(A) the Reference Price; and 

(B) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the 

Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date 

fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note 

becomes due and payable. 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, 

the calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis 

of such Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the 

purposes of this Condition 4(e) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 

30E/360. 

(f) Redemption at the option of the Issuer 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), if the Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as 

being applicable, then the following provisions will apply: 

(1) If European Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

then the Issuer may, on giving irrevocable prior notice to the holders of Notes, ï 

which notice must be received by the holders of Notes no later than the last day 

of the notice period specified in the relevant Final Terms ï redeem all or, if 

ñPartial Redemptionò is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, 

some of the Notes. Any such redemption of Notes shall occur on the relevant 

Optional Redemption Date at their Optional Redemption Amount (Call), 

together with accrued interest (if any) up to such date, unless otherwise 

specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

(2) If American Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

then the Issuer may, at any time during any exercise period specified in the Final 

Terms (the ñExercise Periodò), elects to redeem all or, if ñPartial Redemptionò 

is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, some of the Notes, by 

sending a notice to the holders of Notes which notice must be received by such 

holders no later than the end of the relevant Exercise Period. Any such 

redemption of Notes shall occur on the relevant Optional Redemption Date at 

their Optional Redemption Amount (Call) together with accrued interest (if any) 

up to such date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

In the case of a Partial Redemption, the notice to holders of Notes shall also contain the 

serial numbers of the Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn in such place 

as the Fiscal Agent may approve and in such manner as it deems appropriate, subject to 

compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange requirements. 

(g) Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call) 

Subject to Condition 4(l) (Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or 

modification of the Notes), if Regulatory Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, 

the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer, in whole but not in part, at any 

time (if the Note is not a Floating Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if the 

Note is a Floating Rate Note), on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 daysô notice 

(which notice shall be irrevocable) to the Paying Agent and, in accordance with 
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Condition 12 (Notices), to the holders of the Notes: (i) upon the occurrence of a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event with respect to the relevant Series of Senior 

Preferred Notes and/or Senior Non Preferred Notes (as the case may be), and (ii) to the 

holders of the Subordinated Notes, if the Subordinated Notes cease to qualify (in whole 

or in part) as ñTier II Capitalò, on a consolidated or non consolidated basis, as a result of 

changes after the date of issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes in the standards and 

guidelines of the Bank of Italy or in the applicable legal or regulatory provisions 

(including legal or regulatory provisions adopted by the European Union) (the 

ñRegulatory Eventò). 

ñBRRDò means the directive 2014/59/EU, as amended, providing for the establishment 

of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and 

investment firms as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time (including, 

without limitation, as a consequence of the entry into force of the Banking Reform 

Package). 

ñBRRD Implementing Decreesò means the Legislative Decrees No. 180 and 181 of 16 

November 2015, implementing the BRRD in the Republic of Italy, as amended or 

replaced from time to time (including, without limitation, as a consequence of the 

transposition of the Banking Reform Package into Italian law). 

ñMREL/TLAC Disqualification Event ò means the determination by the Issuer, that as 

a result of a change in Italian and/or EU laws or regulations becoming effective on or 

after the Issue Date of a Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or of Senior Non Preferred 

Notes, which change was not reasonably foreseeable by the Issuer as at the Issue Date of 

the Series, it is likely that all or part of the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of 

such Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or of Senior Non Preferred Notes will be 

excluded from the eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements 

(however called or defined by then applicable regulations) if the Issuer is then subject to 

such requirements, provided that a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event shall not occur 

where such Series of Senior Preferred Notes and/or of Senior Non Preferred Notes is 

excluded on the basis (1) that the remaining maturity of such Senior Preferred Notes 

and/or Senior Non Preferred Notes is less than any period prescribed by any applicable 

eligibility criteria under the MREL/TLAC Requirements, or (2) of any applicable limits 

on the amount of eligible liabilities permitted or allowed to meet the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements.  

ñMREL/TLAC Requirementsò means the minimum requirement for own funds and 

eligible liabilities and/or total loss-absorbing capacity requirements applicable to the 

Issuer and/or the Group referred to in the BRRD, any other EU law or regulation and 

relevant implementing legislation and regulation in Italy. 

ñTier II Capital ò has the meaning given to it from time to time in the Applicable 

Banking Regulation. 

(h) Redemption at the option of holders of Notes 

This Condition 4(h) applies only to the Senior Notes. 

If the Put Option is specified as being applicable to the Senior Notes in the relevant Final 

Terms, then the following provisions will apply: 

(1) If European Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

the Issuer shall, at the option of the holders of the Senior Notes, redeem all or, if 

ñPartial Redemptionò is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, 

some of the Senior Notes on the relevant Optional Redemption Date at its 

Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with accrued interest (if any) up to 

such date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. To exercise 

such option, the holders must deposit such Senior Notes with any Paying Agent 

at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (the 
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ñExercise Noticeò) in the form of obtainable from any Paying Agent; the 

Exercise Notice must be deposited with such Paying Agent no later than the last 

day of the notice period specified in the relevant Final terms. No Senior Note so 

deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the 

Issue and Paying Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. 

(2) If American Style is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, 

the Issuer shall, at the option of the holders of any the Senior Notes, redeem all 

or, if ñPartial Redemptionò is specified as applicable in the relevant Final 

Terms, some of the Senior Notes on the relevant Optional Redemption Date at 

its Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with accrued interest (if any) up 

to such date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. To exercise 

such option which may be exercised at any time during any exercise period 

specified in the relevant Final Terms (the ñExercise Periodò), the holder must 

deposit such Senior Notes with any Paying Agent at its specified office, together 

with a duly completed option exercise notice (the ñExercise Noticeò) in the 

form obtainable from any Paying Agent; the Exercise Notice must be deposit 

with such Paying Agent no later than the end of the relevant Exercise Period. No 

Note so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided 

in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the 

Issuer.  

In the case of a Partial Redemption, the notice to holders of Senior Notes shall also 

contain the serial numbers of the Senior Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been 

drawn in such place as the Fiscal Agent may approve and in such manner as it deems 

appropriate, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange 

requirements. 

(i) Redemption by instalments 

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled in accordance with Condition 4(f) 

(Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 4(h) (Redemption at the option of 

holders of Notes), each Note which provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment 

Amounts will be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the Instalment Amount 

specified on it, whereupon the outstanding principal amount of such Note shall be 

reduced by the Instalment Amount for all purposes. 

(j) Cancellation 

Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Guarantorôs 

subsidiaries (where applicable) may be surrendered for cancellation, by surrendering 

each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged 

Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, if so surrendered, will, together with all Notes redeemed 

by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons 

and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so 

surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the 

Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) in respect of any such Notes shall be 

discharged. 

(k) Specific Buy Back Provisions 

This Condition 4(k) applies only to the Senior Preferred Notes. 

If Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable Final 

Terms, upon the holder of any Senior Preferred Note giving to the Issuer not less than 5 

Business Daysô notice in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) (which notice shall be 

irrevocable) to early redeem the Senior Preferred Note before its scheduled maturity, the 

Issuer may, at its sole option, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem in whole or in part 

such Senior Preferred Note paying an amount that can be less than par and that is linked 

to the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions at that moment, together, if 
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appropriate, with any accrued but unpaid interest. As specified above, the Issuer has the 

right, in its sole option, to reject the early redemption request and, in particular, if the 

Issuer never replies to the notice, the Issuer is deemed to have rejected the early 

redemption request. 

If Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable Final 

Terms, prior to the Maturity Date the value of the Senior Preferred Notes shall reflect 

and shall be calculated on the basis of the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions. 

The Calculation Agent may, from time to time, calculate the price of the Senior 

Preferred Notes on the basis of the Market Value of the Underlying Transactions and, 

without prejudice to the Issuerôs obligation to pay the Interest Amounts and the 

Redemption Amounts on the Senior Preferred Notes, in the event that a holder requests 

the Issuer to repurchase the Senior Preferred Notes held by it prior to their maturity, and 

the Issuer accepts such repurchase, the price of the Senior Preferred Notes (the ñBuy 

Back Priceò) will be a price that perfectly reflects the Market Value of such Underlying 

Transactions. The Specific Buy Back Provisions may apply only to Senior Preferred 

Notes issued by Mediobanca and/or Mediobanca International and where Mediobanca 

and/or Mediobanca International are specified as Dealers and where the principal 

amount in respect of such Senior Preferred Note is equal to, at least, EUR 100,000 (or its 

equivalent amount in the Specified Currency). 

In addition, if Specific Buy Back Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable 

Final Terms, the Issuer shall pay an additional remuneration (the ñExtra -Yieldò) on the 

Senior Preferred Notes. More information on the composition of the remuneration 

(unbundling) shall be published by each of the Issuer from time to time together with the 

composition of the Underlying Transactions as described below. 

For the purpose of this Condition 4(k): 

ñBuy-Back Priceò means the repurchase price of the Senior Preferred Notes to be 

calculated by the Calculation Agent on the basis of the Market Value of the Underlying 

Transactions. 

ñMarket Valueò means the close-out amount of the Underlying Transactions, including 

the relevant bid/ask prices for all the Senior Preferred Notes and for any possible funding 

arrangement and/or coupon swap, as determined by the Calculation Agent in a fair and 

commercially reasonable manner. 

ñUnderlying Transactionsò means any possible funding arrangement and/or coupon 

swap and/or any of the following funded or unfunded arbitrage-like financial 

transactions: 

(i) Cash-CDS Arbitrage; 

(ii)  Index-Components Arbitrage; and/or 

(iii)  General Funded Arbitrage, 

where: 

ñCash-CDS Arbitrageò means: 

Long (Short): Cash Instrument + Short (Long): Replicating CDS 

where: 

ñCash Instrumentò means any debt obligation (including any obligation issued by the 

Issuer) or basket of debt obligations, under security or loan format, with maturities and 

notionals that can be longer and/or higher, respectively, than the Maturity Date and 

aggregate principal amount of the relevant Senior Preferred Notes; 
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ñReplicating CDSò means a credit default swap transaction having similar maturity and 

principal amount as the Cash Instrument, and having as a reference entity the Cash 

Instruments issuer or the Cash Instrument guarantor (including the Issuer or the 

Guarantor or the Issuerôs parent or the Issuerôs affiliate), or, in the case of Cash 

Instrument that are asset-backed obligations or credit linked obligations, any credit entity 

or any credit risk embedded in such Cash Instrument. 

ñIndex-Components Arbitrageò means: 

Long (Short): Credit Index + Short (Long): CDS Components 

where: 

ñCredit Indexò means any of the Markit credit default swaps indices, with maturities 

and notionals that can be longer and/or higher, respectively, than the Maturity Date and 

aggregate principal amount of the relevant Senior Preferred Notes, and any successor 

and/or replacement index thereof, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Markit 

iTraxxÈ and Markit CDXÊ indices, as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole and 

absolute discretion. Credit Index may also be a portfolio of credit default swap tranches 

summing up to a full capital structure, i.e. summing up to any such Markit credit default 

swap index. 

ñCDS Componentsò means a basket of single-name credit default swap transactions 

having similar notional, maturity, coupons and reference entity as the components of the 

Credit Index. CDS Components may also be a portfolio of credit default swap tranches 

having similar maturity, aggregate notional, aggregate coupons and aggregate reference 

entities as the components of the Credit Index. 

ñGeneral Funded Arbitrageò means: 

Long (Short): Asset Instruments + Short (Long): Replicating Derivatives 

where: 

ñAsset Instrumentsò means any asset title instrument (including funds or obligations, 

also asset-backed) linked to credit, rates, equities, commodities or currencies, with 

maturities and notionals that can be longer and/or higher, respectively, than the Maturity 

Date and aggregate principal amount of the relevant Senior Preferred Notes.  

ñReplicating Derivativesò means any hedging derivative contract with similar maturity 

and notional as the Asset Instruments, and having as underlying the Asset Instrument 

itself. or any of its underlying financial instruments. For example: commodity certificate 

+ future (ñcash and carry arbitrageò), or convertible bond + CDS + equity option 

(ñconvertible arbitrageò). 

The Underlying Transactions will be selected from time to time by the Calculation Agent in its 

reasonable discretion and the relevant composition is subject to change during the life of the 

Preferred Notes. The composition of the Underlying Transactions (including any possible 

funding arrangement and/or coupon swap) shall be published from time to time by Mediobanca 

or Mediobanca International on their website www.mediobanca.com or on the website of the 

Euronext Dublin or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or on any other means of 

publication, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

(l) Special provision in relation to redemption, purchase or modification of the Notes 

Any redemption of the Notes in accordance with Condition 4(c) (Redemption for 

taxation reason), Condition 4(f) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), Condition 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), any purchase of the Notes in 

accordance with Condition 4(d) (Purchases), or any modification of the Notes in 

accordance with Conditions 9(a) (Meetings of holders of Notes) and 9(c) (Errors or 

http://www.mediobanca.com/
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inconsistencies), is subject to, if and to extent then required under Articles 12-bis and 91, 

paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Banking Act and any relevant implementing 

regulation which may be enacted for such purposes by any Relevant Authority (with 

respect to the Senior Non Preferred Notes only), and/or under the MREL/TLAC 

Requirements (with respect to either the Senior Preferred Notes and the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes), or under the Applicable Banking Regulations (with respect to the 

Subordinated Notes only): 

(i) the Issuer giving notice to the Relevant Authority and the Relevant Authority 

granting permission to redeem or purchase the relevant Senior Notes; 

(ii)  with respect to the Subordinated Notes only: 

(A) in case of any redemption or purchase, either (A) the Issuer having 

replaced the Subordinated Notes with own funds instruments of equal 

or higher quality at terms that are sustainable for the income capacity of 

the Issuer; or (B) the Issuer having demonstrated to the satisfaction of 

the Relevant Authority that the own funds of the Issuer would, 

following such redemption or purchase, exceed its Regulatory Capital 

Requirements for the time being; 

(B)  in the case of any such redemption prior to the fifth anniversary of the 

Issue Date, (A) in case of redemption for tax reasons in accordance with 

Condition 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reason), the Issuer has 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the 

change in tax treatment is material and was not reasonably foreseeable 

as at the Issue Date, or (B) in the case of redemption upon the 

occurrence of a Regulatory Event in accordance with Condition 4(g) 

(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)), the Issuer has 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the 

relevant change in the regulatory classification of the Notes was not 

reasonably foreseeable as at the Issue Date and the Relevant Authority 

considers such change to be reasonably certain. 

To redeem any Notes where such consent has not been granted shall not constitute an event of 

default of the Issuer for any purpose. Notwithstanding the above conditions, if, at the time of any 

redemption or purchase, Articles 12-bis and 91, paragraph 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian 

Banking Act and any relevant implementing regulation which may be enacted for such purposes 

by any Relevant Authority (with respect to the Senior Non Preferred Notes only), and/or the 

MREL/TLAC Requirements (with respect to the Senior Preferred Notes and the Senior Non 

Preferred Notes), or the Applicable Banking Regulations (with respect to the Subrodinated Notes 

only) permit the redemption or purchase only after compliance with one or more alternative or 

additional pre-conditions to those set out above in this Condition 4(l), the Issuer shall comply 

with such other and/or, as appropriate, additional pre-condition(s).  

5. PAYMENTS AND TALONS  

(a) Payments outside the United States 

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Notes will, subject as mentioned below, 

be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of 

payments of Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and 

provided that the Receipts are presented for payment together with their relative Notes), 

Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest as 

specified in Condition 5(e)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in 

Condition 5(e)(ii) ), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent 

outside the United States by a cheque payable in the currency in which such payment is 

due drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in 

that currency with, a bank in the principal financial centre of that currency; provided 

that in the case of Euro, the transfer may be to a Euro account. 
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(b) Payments in the United States 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Notes are denominated in US Dollars, payments in 

respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York 

City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents 

with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such 

Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the 

manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices 

is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on 

payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United 

States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence 

to the Issuer. 

(c) Payments subject to law, etc. 

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations 

and directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6 (Taxation). No 

commission or expenses shall be charged to the holders of Notes or Couponholders in 

respect of such payments. 

(d) Appointment of Agents 

The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the 

Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the 

Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and the 

Guarantor (where applicable) and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency 

or trust for or with any holder. The Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) reserve 

the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other 

Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent or the Registrar and to appoint additional or other 

agents provided that the Issuer will at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a 

Calculation Agent where the Conditions so require one, (iii) Paying Agents having a 

specified office in at least two major European cities (including Ireland so long as the 

Notes are listed on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin), and (iv) such other agents 

as may be required by the rules of any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be 

listed. 

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York in respect of 

any Notes denominated in US Dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 5(b) 

(Payments in the United States) above. 

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office will promptly be given 

to the holders of Notes in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices). 

(e) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons 

(i) Unless the Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to become void upon the 

due date for redemption of those Notes, Notes should be surrendered for 

payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, 

failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured 

Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the 

amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid 

bears to the total principal due) will be deducted from the Redemption Amount 

due for payment. Any amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned 

above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years 

from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such 

Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 7 (Prescription)). 

(ii)  If the relevant Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any Note, 

unmatured Coupons relating to such Notes (whether or not attached) shall 

become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them. 
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(iii)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any unexchanged Talon relating 

to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall 

be delivered in respect of such Talon. 

(iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Note which is redeemable in 

instalments, all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling 

on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no 

payment shall be made in respect of them. 

(v) Where any Note which provides that the relative Coupons are to become void 

upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption 

without all unmatured Coupons and any unexchanged Talon relating to it, and 

where any Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon 

relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provisions of such 

indemnity as the Issuer may require. 

(vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of 

interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or 

the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable 

against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Note. Interest 

accrued on a Note which only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be 

payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note. 

(f) Talons 

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon 

sheet issued in respect of any Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be 

surrendered to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet 

(and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons 

which may have become void pursuant to Condition 7 (Prescription)). 

(g) Non-Business Days 

If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a 

Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the holder shall not be entitled to 

payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding Payment Business 

Day in such place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in 

respect of any such delay. 

In this Condition 5(g): 

ñAdditional Financial Centreò means the city or the cities specified as such in the 

relevant Final Terms; and 

ñPayment Business Dayò means: 

(i) with respect to the Senior Notes: 

(A) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is a TARGET 

Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may 

be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or 

(B) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is a day on which 

dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal 

Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) 

Additional Financial Centre; 

(ii)  with respect to the Subordinated Notes: 

(A) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is: 
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(1) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are 

open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and 

for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(2) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET 

Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign 

currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional 

Financial Centre specified in the Final Terms; or 

(B) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is: 

(1) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are 

open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and 

for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(2) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on 

which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the 

Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in 

each (if any) Additional Financial Centre specified in the Final 

Terms. 

6. TAXATION  

(a) Gross Up 

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the 

Coupons by the Issuer or (as the case may be) the Guarantor under the Deed of 

Guarantee will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on the account of, any 

present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature 

imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or any political 

subdivision thereof or any agency or authority therein or thereof having power to tax (in 

the case of payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca International) or the Republic 

of Italy or any political subdivision thereof or any agency or authority therein or thereof 

having power to tax (in the case of payments made by or on behalf of Mediobanca), 

unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental 

changes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor 

will pay such additional amounts in respect of, with regard to the Senior Notes only, 

principal and interest (if permitted by MREL/TLAC Requirements), and, with regard to 

the Subordinated Notes only, interest only (and not in respect of principal) as may be 

necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes, Receipts or 

Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of 

principal and interest which would have been received in respect of the Notes, Receipts 

or (as the case may be) Coupons, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; 

except that no additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any payment in 

respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon or (as the case may be) under the Deed of 

Guarantee: 

(i) (A) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is subject to such taxes, 

duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or 

Coupon by reason of its having some connection (otherwise than merely by 

holding the Note, Receipt or Coupon) with (in the case of payments of principal 

and interest under the Senior Notes made by or on behalf of Mediobanca 

International) the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg (including taxes imposed by the 

Luxembourg law of 23 December 2005) or (in the case of payments of principal 

and interest made by or on behalf of Mediobanca and in respect of payments by 

Mediobanca under the Deed of Guarantee) the Republic of Italy; or (B) with 

respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon presented for payment in the Republic 

of Italy or the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg; or (C) for or on account of imposta 

sostitutiva pursuant to Decree No. 239, Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21 

November 1997 (ñDecree No. 461ò) or related implementing regulations; or (D) 
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in all circumstances in which the requirements and procedures of Decree No. 

239 and related implementing rules have not been properly and promptly met or 

complied with (except where due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer, the 

Guarantor or their agents); or (E) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder 

who is entitled to avoid such withholding or deduction in respect of such Note, 

Receipt or Coupon by making a declaration or any other statement, including, 

but not limited to, a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for 

exemption to the relevant taxing authority or intermediary/paying agent, but has 

failed to do so properly and promptly; or 

(ii)  (in the case of payments of principal and interest made by or on behalf of 

Mediobanca and in respect of payments by Mediobanca under the Deed of 

Guarantee) to a holder who is a non-Italian resident or individual or legal entity 

which is resident in any country not allowing for an adequate exchange of 

information with the Italian tax authorities that is not included in the list set by 

Italian Ministerial Decree 4 September 1996, as subsequently amended and 

supplemented from time to time; or 

(iii)  for any Note, Receipt or Coupon presented for payment more than 30 days after 

the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been 

entitled to such additional amount on presenting the same for payment on the 

thirtieth such day; or 

(iv) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to 

avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note, Receipt or 

Coupon to another paying agent in a Member State of the European Union; or 

(v) (in the case of payments of principal and interest made by or on behalf of 

Mediobanca) where withholding or deduction is required by law pursuant to 

Decree No. 600; or 

(vi) (with respect to the Senior Notes only) where such withholding or deductions is 

required by an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 

1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, any regulations or 

agreements thereunder, official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing 

an intergovernmental approach thereto; or 

(vii)  with respect to any Notes qualifying as ñatypicalò securities (titoli ñatipiciò) for 

Italian tax purposes subject to the regime provided for by Decree No. 512, for 

and on account of any withholding or deduction required by law pursuant to 

such decree; or 

(viii)  in any case, where in the Final Terms it is expressly specified under the section 

entitled ñTaxationò that ñGross Upò will not apply with respect to any Note, 

Receipt or Coupon pursuant to this point (viii)  of Condition 6(a) (Taxation ï 

Gross Up), 

without prejudice to the option of the Issuer to redeem the Notes pursuant to, and subject 

to the conditions of, Condition 4(c) (Redemption for taxation reasons). 

(b) Taxing Jurisdiction 

If the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) becomes subject at any time to any 

taxing jurisdiction other than the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or the Republic of Italy 

respectively, references in these Conditions to Luxembourg or Italy shall be construed as 

references to the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or (as the case may be) the Republic of 

Italy and/or such other jurisdiction. 
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As used in these Conditions, ñRelevant Dateò in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon 

means the date on which payment in respect thereof first becomes due or (if any amount 

of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in 

full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on which notice is duly 

given to the holders of Notes in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) that, upon 

further presentation of the Note, Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the 

Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon 

such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) ñprincipalò shall be deemed to 

include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, 

Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of 

principal payable pursuant to Condition 4 (Redemption, Purchase and Options) or any 

amendment or supplement to it, (ii) ñinterestò shall be deemed to include all Interest 

Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 3 (Interest and Other 

Calculations) or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) ñprincipalò and/or 

ñinterestò shall be deemed to include any additional amounts which may be payable 

under this Condition 6. 

7. PRESCRIPTION 

Claims against the Issuer and the Guarantor (where applicable) for payment in respect of the 

Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which, for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be 

prescribed and become void unless made within ten years (in the case of principal) or five years 

(in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect thereof. 

8. EVENTS OF DEFAULT  

(a) Events of Default of the Senior Preferred Notes 

 

If any of the following events occurs and is continuing (except where one or more of the Events 

of Default (as defined below) are specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms), the 

holder of a Senior Preferred Note of any Series may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its 

specified office that such Senior Preferred Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early 

Redemption Amount of such Senior Preferred Note together with accrued interest to the date of 

payment shall become immediately due and payable: 

 

(i) Default in payment of principal or interest: default is made for a period of five 

Business Days or more in the payment of any principal on any of the Senior Preferred 

Notes or for a period of fifteen Business Days or more in the payment of any interest due 

in respect of the Senior Preferred Notes or any of them; 

(ii)  Failure to perform any other Obligation: the Issuer or the Guarantor (where 

applicable) fails duly to perform any other obligation under or in respect of the Senior 

Preferred Notes, the Deed of Guarantee or the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and 

such failure continues for more than 30 days after the service by a holder of a Senior 

Preferred Note of notice on the Issuer requiring the same to be remedied; 

(iii)  General suspension of payments: the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) 

suspends its payments generally; 

(iv) Bankruptcy, composition or similar event: a court in the country of domicile of the 

Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) institutes bankruptcy proceedings or 

composition proceedings to avert a bankruptcy or the Issuer or the Guarantor (where 

applicable) applies for institution of such proceedings or any event occurs which under 

the laws of the Republic of Italy or Grand Duchy of Luxembourg has an analogous 

effect to such proceedings; 

(v) Cross-default: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer or the Guarantor 

(where applicable) for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes due and 

payable prior to its stated maturity as a result of any payment default thereon by the 

Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (where applicable), or (ii) any such 
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indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within an applicable grace 

period, or (iii) the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) fails to pay when due any 

amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect 

of any moneys borrowed or raised provided that an event of default pursuant to this 

Condition 8(v) shall only occur if: (A) the aggregate amount of the relevant 

indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one of the events 

mentioned in paragraphs (i), (ii) or (iii) above have occurred and is continuing exceeds 

ú35,000,000 and (B) the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) is not contesting in 

good faith in a competent court in a recognised jurisdiction that the relevant 

indebtedness or guarantee and/or indemnity is due and enforceable, as appropriate; 

(vi) Insolvency: either the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) is (or is deemed by law 

or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, proposes or makes a 

general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the 

relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in 

respect of or affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer 

or the Guarantor (where applicable); 

(vii)  Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up or 

dissolution or administration of the Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable), or the 

Issuer or the Guarantor (where applicable) applies or petitions for a winding-up or 

administration order in respect of itself or ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or 

substantially all of its business or operations, in each case except for the purposes of and 

pursuant to or in connection with a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, 

merger, de-merger, consolidation, deconsolidation or disposal or contribution in kind of 

assets or branches of business; 

(viii)  Ownership: in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, 

Mediobanca International ceases to be controlled by Mediobanca (except in the case of a 

reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, consolidation or 

similar transaction by which Mediobanca assumes the payment obligations of 

Mediobanca International under the Senior Preferred Notes). 

(ix) Illegality : it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer or the Guarantor (where 

applicable) to perform or comply with any one or more of its obligations under any of 

the Senior Preferred Notes or the Deed of Guarantee (where applicable); or 

(x) Guarantee: in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, the 

Deed of Guarantee (where applicable) ceases to be a valid and binding obligation of the 

Guarantor or it becomes unlawful for the Guarantor to perform its obligations under the 

Deed of Guarantee or the Deed of Guarantee is claimed by Mediobanca International or 

the Guarantor not to be in full force and effect (except in the case of a reconstruction, 

amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, consolidation or similar transaction by 

which Mediobanca assumes the payment obligations of Mediobanca International under 

the Senior Preferred Notes). 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies that one or more of the Events of Default are not 

applicable, then such relevant Events of Default shall not apply to such Senior Preferred Notes. 

However, in any case a Noteholder may, upon written notice to the Fiscal Agent, cause such 

Senior Preferred Notes to become due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon, if any, 

as of the date on which said notice is received by the Fiscal Agent, upon the occurrence of the 

Event of Default listed in this Condition 8(a), paragraph (vii) (Winding-up). 

(b) Events of Default of the Senior Non Preferred Notes 
 

If any of the following events occurs and is continuing, the holder of a Senior Non Preferred 

Note of any Series may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such 

Senior Non Preferred Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount 
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of such Senior Non Preferred Note together with accrued interest to the date of payment shall 

become immediately due and payable: 

Winding-up: Mediobanca is wound up or dissolved, except for the purposes of, and pursuant to, 

or in connection with, a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, 

consolidation, deconsolidation or disposal of assets. 

In this Condition 8 ñEvents of Defaultò means any of the events listed in Conditions 8(a) 

(Events of Default of the Senior Preferred Notes) and/or 8(b) (Events of Default of the Senior 

Non Preferred Notes) as the case may be. 

(c) Events of Default of the Subordinated Notes 
 

If any of the following events occurs and is continuing, the holder of a Subordinated Note may 

give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its Specified Office that such Subordinated Note is 

immediately repayable: 

Winding-up: Mediobanca is wound up or dissolved, except for the purposes of, and pursuant to, 

or in connection with, a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, de-merger, 

consolidation, deconsolidation or disposal of assets, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount 

of such Subordinated Note together with accrued interest to the date of payment shall become 

immediately due and payable. No remedy against Mediobanca other than as specifically 

provided by this Condition 8(c) shall be available to holders of the Subordinated Notes or 

Coupons for the recovery of amounts owing in respect of the Notes or Coupons. 

9. MEETINGS OF HOLDERS OF NOTES AND MODIFICATIONS  

(a) Meetings of holders of Notes 

The Issue and Paying Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of 

holders of Notes to consider any matter affecting their interest, including modification 

by Extraordinary Resolution of the Notes (including these Conditions insofar as the 

same may apply to such Notes). An Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such 

meeting shall be binding on all the holders of Notes, whether present or not and on all 

relevant holders of Coupons, except that any Extraordinary Resolution proposed, inter 

alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes, any Instalment Date 

or any date for payment of interest thereon, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount 

or an Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) 

to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or 

basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating the 

Interest Amount in respect thereof, (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Interest Rate, 

Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is shown in the Final Terms, to reduce any 

such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to change any method of calculating the 

Redemption Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination 

of the Notes, (vii) to modify the provisions contained concerning the quorum required at 

any meeting of holders of Notes or any adjournment thereof or concerning the majority 

required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, (viii) to modify the provisions which 

would have the effect of giving any authority, direction or sanction which under the 

Notes is required to be given pursuant to a meeting of holders of Notes to which the 

special quorum provisions apply, (ix) to take any steps which as specified in the Final 

Terms may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which 

the special quorum provisions apply or (x) to amend the foregoing exceptions in any 

manner, will only be binding if passed at a meeting of the holders of Notes (or at any 

adjournment thereof) at which a special quorum (provided for in the Issue and Paying 

Agency Agreement) is present. 

(b) Modification of Issue and Paying Agency Agreement 

The Issuer and the Guarantor shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or 

authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the 
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Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be 

prejudicial to the interests of the holders of Notes. 

(c) Errors or inconsistencies 

The Issuer and, with respect to the Senior Preferred Notes only, the Guarantor may, 

without the prior consent of the holders of the Notes correct (i) any manifest and/or 

material error in the Conditions and/or in the Final Terms, (ii) any error of a formal, 

minor or technical nature in the Conditions and/or in the Final Terms or (iii) any 

inconsistency in the Conditions and/or in the Final Terms between the Conditions and/or 

the Final Terms and any other documents prepared in connection with the issue and/or 

offer of a Series of Notes (provided such correction is not materially prejudicial to the 

holders of the relevant Series of Notes). In addition, pursuant to Condition 3(o) 

(Benchmark replacement), certain changes may be made to the interest calculation 

provisions of the Notes in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, 

without the requirement for consent of the Noteholders. Any such correction shall be 

binding on the holders of the relevant Notes and the Issuer and the Guarantor (if 

applicable) shall cause such correction to be notified to the holders of the Notes as soon 

as practicable thereafter pursuant to Condition 12 (Notices). 

(d) Modification following a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event  

With respect to the Senior Notes only, if Modification following a MREL/TLAC 

Disqualification Event is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, where a 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer 

may, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, modify the 

terms of the Senior Notes to the extent that such modification is necessary to ensure that 

no such MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event would exist after such modification, 

provided that, following such modification: 

(i) the terms and conditions of the Senior Notes, as so modified (the ñmodified 

Senior Notesò), are no more prejudicial to Noteholders than the terms and 

conditions applicable to the Senior Notes prior to such modification (the 

ñexisting Senior Notesò) provided that any modification may be made in 

accordance with paragraphs (ii)  to (iv) below and any such modification shall 

not constitute a breach of this paragraph (i); and 

(ii ) the person having the obligations of the Issuer under the Senior Notes continues 

to be the Issuer; and 

(iii)  the modified Senior Notes rank at least equal to the existing Senior Notes and 

feature the same tenor, principal amount, interest rates (including applicable 

margins), interest payment dates and first call date as the existing Senior Notes; 

and 

(iv) the modified Senior Notes continue to be listed on a regulated market (for the 

purposes of the MiFID II (Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended)) of an 

internationally recognised stock exchange as selected by the Issuer (provided 

that the existing Senior Notes were so listed prior to the occurrence of such 

MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event), 

and provided further that : 

(a) Mediobanca obtains approval of the proposed modification from the Relevant 

Authority (if such approval is required) or gives prior written notice (if such 

notice is required to be given) to the Relevant Authority and, following the 

expiry of all relevant statutory time limits, the Relevant Authority is no longer 

entitled to object or impose changes to the proposed modification; 
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(b) the modification does not give rise to a change in any published and solicited 

rating of the existing Senior Notes in effect at such time (to the extent the 

existing Senior Notes were rated prior to the occurrence of such MREL/TLAC 

Disqualification Event); 

(c) the modification does not give rise to any right on the part of the Issuer to 

exercise any option to redeem the Senior Notes prior to their stated maturity, 

without prejudice to the provisions under Condition 4(f) (Redemption at the 

option of the Issuer); and 

(d) the Issuer has delivered to the Fiscal Agent a certificate, substantially in the 

form shown in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, signed by two of the 

Issuerôs executive officers stating that paragraphs (i) to (iv) and (a) to (c) above 

have been complied with, such certificate to be made available for inspection by 

Noteholders. 

In connection with any modification as indicated in this Condition 9(d), the Issuer shall 

comply with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the 

Senior Non Preferred Notes are then listed or admitted to trading. 

(e) Modification following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event 

With respect to the Subordinated Notes only, if modification following a Regulatory 

Event or a Tax Event is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, where a 

Regulatory Event or a Tax Event has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer may, 

without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, modify the 

terms of the Notes to the extent that such modification is reasonably necessary to ensure 

that no such Regulatory Event or Tax Event would exist after such modification, 

provided that, following such modification: 

(i) the terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes, as so modified (the 

ñmodified Notesò), are no more prejudicial to Noteholders than the terms and 

conditions applicable to the Subordinated Notes prior to such modification (the 

ñexisting Notesò) provided that any modification may be made in accordance 

with paragraphs (ii)  to (iv) below and any such modification shall not constitute 

a breach of this paragraph (i); and 

(ii)  the person having the obligations of the Issuer under the Subordinated Notes 

continues to be the Issuer; and 

(iii)  the modified Subordinated Notes rank at least equal to the existing Subordinated 

Notes and feature the same tenor, principal amount, interest rates (including 

applicable margins), interest payment dates and first call date as the existing 

Subordinated Notes; and 

(iv) the modified Subordinated Notes continue to be listed on a regulated market (for 

the purposes of the MiFID II (Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended)) of an 

internationally recognised stock exchange as selected by the Issuer (provided 

that the existing Notes were so listed prior to the occurrence of such Regulatory 

Event or Tax Event, as applicable), 

and provided further that : 

(a) Mediobanca obtains approval of the proposed modification from the Relevant 

Authority (if such approval is required) or gives prior written notice (if such 

notice is required to be given) to the Relevant Authority and, following the 

expiry of all relevant statutory time limits, the Relevant Authority is no longer 

entitled to object or impose changes to the proposed modification; 
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(b) the modification does not give rise to a change in any published and solicited 

rating of the existing Subordinated Notes in effect at such time (to the extent the 

existing Subordinated Notes were rated prior to the occurrence of such 

Regulatory Event or Tax Event, as applicable); 

(c) the modification does not give rise to any right on the part of the Issuer to 

exercise any option to redeem the Subordinated Notes prior to their stated 

maturity, without prejudice to the provisions under Condition 4(f) (Redemption 

at the option of the Issuer); 

(d) the Issuer has delivered to the Fiscal Agent a certificate, substantially in the 

form shown in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, signed by two of the 

Issuerôs executive officers stating that paragraphs (i) to (iv) and (a) to (c) above 

have been complied with, such certificate to be made available for inspection by 

Noteholders; and 

(e) in the case of any proposed modifications owing to a Tax Event, the Issuer has 

delivered to the Fiscal Agent an opinion of independent legal advisers of 

recognised standing to the effect that the Tax Event can be avoided by the 

proposed modifications. 

In connection with any modification as indicated in this Condition 9(e), the Issuer shall 

comply with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the 

Notes are then listed or admitted to trading. 

(f) Modification to Notes distributed to a Single Noteholder 

In partial derogation to the provisions of Condition 9(a),(b),(c),(d) and (e) above, in case 

the Notes have been distributed to a single holder (the ñSingle Holderò), the approval 

for the amendments under Condition 9(a),(b),(c),(d) and (e) above shall be given by the 

Single Holder by way of binding approval letter with prior delivery of the relevant proof 

of ownership of the relevant Note.  

10. REPLACEMENT OF NOTES, RECEIPTS, COUPONS AND TALONS 

If a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be 

replaced, subject to applicable laws and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office of the 

Fiscal Agent or such other Paying Agent as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for 

the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to holders in accordance with Condition 12 

(Notices), in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection 

therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter 

alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently 

presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there will be 

paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Receipts, 

Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced 

Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

11. FURTHER ISSUES AND CONSOLIDATION  

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the holders of Notes or Coupons create 

and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all 

respects except for the Issue Price, the Issue Date and/or the first payment of interest) and so that 

the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and references in these 

Conditions to ñNotesò shall be construed accordingly. 

The Issuer may also from time to time upon not less than 30 daysô prior notice to Noteholders, 

without the consent of the holders of Notes or Coupons of any Series, consolidate the Notes with 

Notes of one or more other Series (the ñOther Notesò) issued by it, provided the Notes and the 

Other Notes have been redenominated into Euro (if not originally denominated in Euro), and 

otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and 
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conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the Issue Price, the Issue Date 

and/or the first payment of interest). Notice of any such consolidation will be given to the 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices). The Fiscal Agent shall act as the 

consolidation agent. 

With effect from their consolidation, the Notes and the Other Notes will (if listed prior to such 

consolidation) be listed on at least one European stock exchange on which either the Notes or the 

Other Notes were listed immediately prior to such consolidation. 

The Issuer shall in dealing with holders of such Notes following a consolidation pursuant to this 

Condition 11 have regard to the interest of the holders and the holders of the Other Notes, taken 

together as a class, and shall treat them alike. 

12. NOTICES 

Notices to the holders of Notes will be valid if (i) until such time as any Definitive Notes are 

issued, the notice is delivered to the relevant Clearing System(s), for communication by them to 

the holders of Notes; and (ii) if and so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Euronext 

Dublinôs regulated market and listed on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin, the notice is 

published in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Euronext Dublin (which shall 

include publication in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Ireland or on the website 

of the Euronext Dublin (www.ise.ie) or on the website of the relevant Issuer (www.mediobanca.it 

or www.mediobancaint.lu) and the Guarantor (www.mediobanca.it). If any such publication is not 

practicable, notice will be validly given if published in another leading daily English language 

newspaper of general circulation in Europe. 

Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if 

published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided 

above. 

Holders of Coupons shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice 

to the holders of Notes in accordance with this Condition 12. 

13. SUBSTITUTION OF THE ISSUER 

(a) The Issuer and, in case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, 

the Guarantor may at any time, without the consent of the holders of Notes or Coupons, 

substitute Mediobanca in place of Mediobanca International or Mediobanca International 

in place of Mediobanca (each a ñSubstituteò) upon notice by the Issuer, the Guarantor 

(in case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International) and the 

Substitute to be given in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), provided that; 

(i) no payment in respect of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons or the Deed of 

Guarantee (as the case may be) is at the relevant time overdue; 

(ii)  the Substitute shall, by means of a deed poll in the form scheduled to the 

Programme Manual as Schedule 12 (the ñDeed Pollò), agree to indemnify each 

holder of Notes and Coupons against any incremental tax, duty, assessment or 

governmental charge which is imposed on it by (or by any authority in or of) the 

jurisdiction of the country of the Substituteôs residence for tax purposes and, if 

different, of its incorporation with respect to any Note, Receipt, Coupon or 

Talon and which would not have been so imposed or otherwise suffered by any 

holder of Notes, Receipts or Coupons had the substitution not been made, as 

well as against any tax, duty, assessment or governmental charge, and any cost 

or expense, relating to the substitution; 

(iii)  in respect of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca International, where 

the Substitute is not the Guarantor, the obligations of the Substitute under the 

Deed Poll, the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall be unconditionally 

http://www.ise.ie/
https://www.mediobanca.it/
http://www.mediobancaint.lu/
https://www.mediobanca.it/
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guaranteed by the Guarantor by means of the Deed Poll, in accordance with the 

terms thereof; 

(iv) all actions, conditions and things required to be taken, fulfilled and done 

(including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Deed Poll, 

the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons represent valid, legally binding and 

enforceable obligations of the Substitute and, where applicable, of the Guarantor 

have been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force and effect; 

(v) the Substitute shall have become party to the Issue and Paying Agency 

Agreement, with any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it had been an 

original party to it; 

(vi) legal opinions shall have been delivered to the Fiscal Agent and Dealers from 

lawyers of recognised standing in each jurisdiction referred to in paragraph (ii)  

above, in Italy and in England as to the fulfilment of the requirements of this 

Condition 13 and the other matters specified in the Deed Poll and that the Notes, 

Receipts, Coupons and Talons are legal, valid and binding obligations of the 

Substitute; 

(vii)  each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed shall have confirmed that, 

following the proposed substitution of the Substitute, the Notes will continue to 

be listed on such stock exchange; 

(viii)  if applicable, the Substitute has appointed a process agent as its agent in 

England to receive service of process on its behalf in relation to any legal 

proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes. 

(b) Upon the execution of the Deed Poll and the delivery of the legal opinions, the Substitute 

shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power, of the 

Issuer under the Notes and the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement with the same effect 

as if the Substitute had been named as the Issuer herein, and the Issuer shall be released 

from its obligations under the Notes and under the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement. 

(c) After a substitution pursuant to Condition 13(a), the Substitute may, without the consent 

of any holder, effect a further substitution. All the provisions specified in Conditions 

13(a) and 13(b) shall apply mutatis mutandis, and references in these Conditions to the 

Issuer shall, where the context so requires, be deemed to be or include references to any 

such further Substitute. 

(d) After a substitution pursuant to Condition 13(a) or 13(c) any Substitute may, without the 

consent of any holder, reverse the substitution, mutatis mutandis. 

(e) The Deed Poll and all documents relating to the substitution shall be delivered to, and 

kept by, the Fiscal Agent. Copies of such documents will be available free of charge at 

the specified office of the Paying Agent. 

14. LAW AND JURISDICTION  

(a) Governing Law: The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 

connection with the relevant Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed in 

accordance with Italian law, also in accordance with the provisions of the Rome II 

Regulation, except in case of Senior Preferred Notes issued by Mediobanca 

International, Conditions 2(b) (Status of the Senior Preferred Notes), 4(b) 

(Maturities/Final Redemption), 4(g) (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory 

Call)) and Condition 15 (Acknowledgment of the Italian / Luxembourg Bail-in Power) of 

these Conditions, which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 

Luxembourgish law. For the avoidance of doubt, articles 470-3 to 470-19 of the 

Luxembourg Company Law shall not apply to Senior Preferred Notes issued by 

Mediobanca International. 
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(b) Jurisdiction : The courts of Milan have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a 

ñDisputeò), arising from or connected with the Notes, whether arising out of or in 

connection with contractual or non-contractual obligations. 

15. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE ITALIAN / LUXEMBOURG BAIL -IN POWER 

A) Acknowledgment of the Italian Bail-in Power  

Notwithstanding any provision of these Conditions or any other agreements, arrangements, or 

understandings between the Issuers and the Guarantor (where applicable) and any holder, and 

without prejudice to Article 55(1) of the BRRD, by its acquisition of the Notes each holder 

(which, for the purposes of this Condition 15, includes each holder of a beneficial interest in the 

Notes) acknowledges, accepts, consents to and agrees to be bound by: 

(c) the effects of the exercise of the Italian Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority, which 

exercise may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof: (i) 

the reduction of all, or a portion, of the principal amount in respect of the Notes together 

with any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due 

in relation thereto; (ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount in 

respect of the Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and any 

additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto, into ordinary shares, other securities or 

other obligations of the Issuer or another person (and the issue to or conferral on the 

holder of such shares, securities or obligations), including by means of an amendment, 

modification or variation of these Conditions; (iii) the cancellation of the Notes or the 

principal amount in respect of the Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due 

thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto; and (iv) the 

amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Notes or amendment of the amount of 

interest payable on the Notes, or the date on which the interest becomes payable, 

including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and 

(d) the variation of these Conditions, as deemed necessary by the Relevant Authority, to give 

effect to the exercise of the Italian Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority. 

The exercise of the Italian Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority shall not constitute an event 

of default and these Conditions shall remain in full force and effect save as varied by the 

Relevant Authority in accordance with this Condition 15. 

B) Acknowledgment of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power  

The provisions of this Condition 15(B) applies to Senior Preferred Notes only.  

Notwithstanding any provision of these Conditions or any other agreements, arrangements, or 

understandings between the Issuers and the Guarantor (where applicable) and any holder, and 

without prejudice to Article 55(1) of the BRRD, by its acquisition of the Senior Preferred Notes 

each holder (which, for the purposes of this Condition 15, includes each holder of a beneficial 

interest in the Senior Preferred Notes) acknowledges, accepts, consents to and agrees to be bound 

by: 

(c) the effects of the exercise of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority, 

which exercise may include and result in any of the following, or some combination 

thereof: (i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the principal amount in respect of the 

Senior Preferred Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due thereon and any 

additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto; (ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, 

of the principal amount in respect of the Senior Preferred Notes together with any accrued 

but unpaid interest due thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due in relation 

thereto, into ordinary shares, other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another 

person (and the issue to or conferral on the holder of such shares, securities or 

obligations), including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of these 

Conditions; (iii) the cancellation of the Senior Preferred Notes or the principal amount in 

respect of the Senior Preferred Notes together with any accrued but unpaid interest due 
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thereon and any additional amounts (if any) due in relation thereto; and (iv) the 

amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Senior Preferred Notes or amendment of 

the amount of interest payable on the Senior Preferred Notes, or the date on which the 

interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and 

(d) the variation of these Conditions, as deemed necessary by the Relevant Authority, to give 

effect to the exercise of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority. 

The exercise of the Luxembourg Bail-in Power by the Relevant Authority shall not constitute an 

event of default and these Conditions shall remain in full force and effect save as varied by the 

Relevant Authority in accordance with this Condition 15. 
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PROVISIONS RELATING T O THE NOTES WHILE IN  GLOBAL FORM  

Clearing System Accountholders 

Each Global Note will be in bearer form. Consequently, in relation to any Tranche of Notes represented 

by a Global Note, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to ñNoteholderò are references to 

the bearer of the relevant Global Note which, for so long as the Global Note is held by a depositary or a 

common depositary (in the case of a CGN) or a common safekeeper (in the case of an NGN) for 

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that 

depositary or common depositary or, as the case may be, common safekeeper. 

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other 

relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note (each, an ñAccountholderò) 

must look solely to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system 

(as the case may be) for such Accountholderôs share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of 

such Global Note and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Note. The extent to which, 

and the manner in which, Accountholders may exercise any rights arising under the Global Note will be 

determined by the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any 

other relevant clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by the 

Global Note, Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due 

under the Notes and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of the 

Global Note. 

Exchange of Temporary Global Notes 

Whenever any interest in a Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent 

Global Note, the relevant Issuer shall procure: 

(a) in the case of first exchange, the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Permanent 

Global Note, duly authenticated and (in the case of an NGN) effectuated, to the bearer of the 

Temporary Global Note; or 

(b) in the case of any subsequent exchange, an increase in the principal amount of such Permanent 

Global Note in accordance with its terms, 

in each case in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in 

the certificates issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing 

system and received by the Fiscal Agent against presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender 

of the Temporary Global to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 7 days of the bearer requesting such 

exchange. 

Whenever a Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the relevant Issuer shall 

procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and 

with Coupons, Talons and Receipts attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the 

Temporary Global Note against the surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the 

Fiscal Agent within 45 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

If:  

(a) a Permanent Global Note has not been delivered or the principal amount thereof increased by 

5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the seventh day after the bearer of a Temporary Global Note 

has requested exchange of an interest in the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a 

Permanent Global Note; or 

(b) Definitive Notes have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the forty-fifth day 

after the bearer of a Temporary Global Note has requested exchange of the Temporary Global 

Note for Definitive Notes; or 
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(c) a Temporary Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with 

the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of a Temporary Global 

Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with 

all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note in 

accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment, 

then the Temporary Global Note (including the obligation to deliver a Permanent Global Note or increase 

the principal amount thereof or deliver Definitive Notes, as the case may be) will become void at 5.00 

p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such seventh day (in the case of paragraph (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. 

(Luxembourg time) on such forty-fifth day (in the case of paragraph (b) above) or at 5.00 p.m. 

(Luxembourg time) on such due date (in the case of paragraph (c) above) and the bearer of the Temporary 

Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of 

the Temporary Global Note or others may have under the Deeds of Covenant. Under the Deeds of 

Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other 

relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Temporary Global Note will acquire directly 

against the relevant Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before 

the Temporary Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of 

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. 

Where the Notes are listed on the Euronext Dublin and its rules so require, the Issuer will give notice of 

the exchange of the Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes pursuant to Condition 12 (Notices) of the 

Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions 

of the Italian Law Notes, as the case may be. 

Exchange of Permanent Global Notes 

Whenever a Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the relevant Issuer shall 

procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated 

and, where applicable, with Coupons, Talons and Receipts attached (if so specified in the relevant Final 

Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to 

the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the 

order of the Fiscal Agent within 45 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

If:  

(a) Definitive Notes have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the forty-fifth day 

after the bearer of a Permanent Global Note has duly requested exchange of the Permanent 

Global Note for Definitive Notes; or 

(b) a Permanent Global Note (or any part of it) has become due and payable in accordance with the 

Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Notes has occurred 

and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest 

thereon has not been made to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with the 

terms of the Permanent Global Note on the due date for payment, 

then the Permanent Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 

5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such forty-fifth day (in the case of paragraph (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. 

(Luxembourg time) on such due date (in the case of paragraph (b) above) and the bearer of the Permanent 

Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of 

the Permanent Global Note or others may have under the Deeds of Covenant). Under the relevant Deed of 

Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other 

relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Permanent Global Note will acquire directly 

against the relevant Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before 

the Permanent Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of 

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. 

Where the Notes are listed on the Euronext Dublin and its rules so require, the relevant Issuer will give 

notice of the exchange of the Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes pursuant to Condition 12 
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(Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms 

and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, as the case may be. 

Conditions applicable to Global Notes 

Each Global Note will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as they 

apply to the Global Note. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions: 

Payments: All payments in respect of the Global Note will be made against presentation and (in the case 

of payment of principal in full with all interest accrued thereon) surrender of the Global Note to or to the 

order of any Paying Agent and will be effective to satisfy and discharge the corresponding liabilities of 

the relevant Issuer in respect of the Notes. On each occasion on which a payment of principal or interest 

is made in respect of the Global Note, the relevant Issuer shall procure that, in respect of a CGN, the 

payment is noted on a schedule thereto and, in respect of an NGN, the payment is entered pro rata in the 

records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Exercise of put option: In order to exercise the option contained in Condition 4(h) (Redemption at the 

option of holders of Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 4(h) 

(Redemption at the option of holders of Notes) of the Italian Law Notes, the bearer of the Permanent 

Global Note must, within the period specified in the relevant Conditions for the deposit of the relevant 

Note and Put Option Notice, give written notice of such exercise to the Fiscal Agent specifying the 

principal amount of Notes in respect of which such option is being exercised. Any such notice will be 

irrevocable and may not be withdrawn. 

Partial exercise of call option: In connection with an exercise of the option contained in Condition 4(f) 

(Redemption at the option of the Issuer) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and 

Condition 4(f) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law 

Notes, as the case may be, in relation to some only of the Notes, the Permanent Global Note may be 

redeemed in part in the principal amount specified by the relevant Issuer in accordance with the relevant 

Conditions and the Notes to be redeemed will not be selected as provided in the Conditions but in 

accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other 

relevant clearing system (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg 

and/or any other relevant clearing system, at their discretion, as either a pool factor or a reduction in 

principal amount). 

Notices: Notwithstanding Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes 

and Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes, as the case may be, 

while all the Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note (or by a Permanent Global Note and/or a 

Temporary Global Note) and the Permanent Global Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or the 

Temporary Global Note are) deposited with a depositary, common depositary or common safekeeper (as 

the case may be) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing 

system, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and, in any case, such notices shall 

be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms 

and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the 

Italian Law Notes, as the case may be, on the date of delivery to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system; provided, however, that, so long as the Notes 

are listed on the Official List of the Euronext Dublin and its rules so require, notices will also be 

published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Ireland or on the website of the Euronext 

Dublin (www.ise.ie).  

http://www.ise.ie/
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

General Funding and Regulatory Capital 

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the net proceeds from each Tranche of Notes will 

be used by the Issuer for its general funding purposes and to improve the regulatory capital structure of 

the Issuer.  

Green, Social or Sustainability Bonds 

If the Tranche of the Notes to be issued is described as Green Bonds and/or Social Bonds and/or 

Sustainability Bonds, the relevant Final Terms will describe the relevant projects to which the net 

proceeds of the Tranche of Notes will be applied, including by reference to the relevant bond framework 

and where further details of the relevant projects will be available. In accordance with the relevant 

definition criteria set out by the International Capital Market Association (ñICMAò) from time to time:  

(a) only Tranches of Notes financing or refinancing Eligible Green Projects will be denominated 

ñGreen Bondsò;  

(b) only Tranches of Notes financing or refinancing Eligible Social Projects will be denominated 

ñSocial Bondsò; and 

(c) only Tranches of Notes financing or refinancing Eligible Sustainability Projects will be 

denominated ñSustainability Bondsò.  

In the event of a project divestment or if a project no longer meets the eligibility criteria, an amount equal 

to the net proceeds of the ñGreen Bondsò, ñSocial Bondò or ñSustainability Bondsò will be used to 

finance or refinance other projects qualifying as Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or 

Eligible Sustainability Projects, as the case may be.  

Green Bonds 

Eligible Green Projects have been defined in accordance with the broad categorisation of eligibility for 

green projects set out in the Green Bond Principles published by ICMA. For the purpose of this section, 

ñEligible Green Projectsò include projects aimed at addressing the key climate change concerns referred 

to in the ñMediobanca Green and Sustainable Bond Frameworkò published in the relevant section of the 

Issuerôs website 

https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.p

df. 

Social Bonds 

Eligible Social Projects have been defined in accordance with the broad categorisation of eligibility for 

social projects set out in the Social Bond Principles published by ICMA. For the purpose of this section, 

ñEligible Social Projectsò include projects aimed at providing and/or promoting the social projects 

referred to in the ñMediobanca Green and Sustainable Bond Frameworkò published in the relevant 

section of the Issuerôs website 

https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.p

df.  

Sustainability Bonds 

For the purpose of this section, ñEligible Sustainability  Projectsò means projects with positive 

environmental and social outcomes, in accordance with the applicable Sustainability Bond Guidelines 

published by ICMA (involving a combination of its Green Bond Principles and Social Bond Principles), 

as further specified in the ñMediobanca Green and Sustainable Bond Frameworkò published in the 

relevant section of the Issuerôs website 

https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.pdf
https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.pdf
https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.pdf
https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.pdf
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https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.p

df. 

Second-party Opinion 

Where the Final Terms specify that the proceeds to the Notes will be used to finance or refinance Eligible 

Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainability Projects (in whole or in part), the Issuer 

may appoint consultants and/or institutions with recognised expertise in environmental sustainability to 

issue a second-party opinion (a ñSecond-party Opinionò) attesting that the relevant projects have been 

defined in accordance with the broad categorisation of eligibility for those projects set out by ICMA. 

The Final Terms relating to such Notes will specify (to the extent known at the relevant date):  

(i) further details of the Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainability 

Projects selected by the Issuer for financing and/or refinancing with the net proceeds of the issue 

of the Notes;  

(ii)  where a list of the relevant projects is or will be available for viewing by Noteholders; and 

(iii)  details of periodic updates, including an updated list of the relevant projects financed and/or 

refinanced with the net proceeds of the Notes, the amounts allocated and their expected impact, 

any ongoing process of verification, information on key performance indicators relating to such 

projects and where that information will be made available for viewing by Noteholders. 

 

 

https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.pdf
https://www.mediobanca.com/static/upload_new/med/mediobanca_green_sustainable_bond_framework.pdf
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INFORMATION ON MEDIO BANCA - BANCA DI CRE DITO FINANZIARIO S.P .A. 

This section of the Base Prospectus reflects the contents of certain information contained in the audited 

consolidated annual financial statements of Mediobanca and the audited non-consolidated annual 

financial statements of Mediobanca International as at and for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.  

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF MEDIOBANCA  

Legal status and information 

Mediobanca ï Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. was set up on 10 April 1946 by virtue of a notarial 

deed drawn up by Notary public Arturo Lovato, file no. 3041/52378. Mediobanca is a joint stock 

company incorporated under Italian law registered in the Milan-Monza-Brianza-Lodi Companiesô 

Register under Registration no. 00714490158 having its registered office and administrative headquarters 

in Piazzetta Enrico Cuccia 1, 20121 Milan, Italy, tel. No.: (0039) 02-88291. The LEI code of Mediobanca 

is: PSNL19R2RXX5U3QWHI44. Mediobanca operates under Italian law, and the court of Milan has 

jurisdiction over any disputes arising against it. 

Important events in Mediobancaôs recent history  

Neither Mediobanca nor any company in the Group have carried out transactions that have materially 

affected or that might be reasonably expected to materially affect, Mediobancaôs ability to meet its 

obligations towards third parties. 

On 12 November 2019, the Board of Directors of Mediobanca has approved and published the 2019/2023 

strategic plan, setting out certain objectives to be achieved within June 2023, based on the growth of 

highly-profitable banking activities and the development of all the Mediobanca Group divisions (Wealth 

Management, Consumer Banking and Corporate & Investment Banking). 

Following the downgrade by Fitch of the Republic of Italyôs sovereign ratings announced on 28 April 

2020, as at 5 June 2020, Fitch rated Mediobanca F3 (short-term Issuer Default Rating ñIDRò), BBB- 

(long-term IDR) and stable (outlook) ï see www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-

rating/rating.html. 

As at 29 October 2020, S&P rated Mediobanca A-2 (short-term Issuer Credit Rating ñICRò), BBB (long-

term ICR), BBB (long-term ICR) and negative (outlook) ï see www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-

relations/financing-rating/rating.html. 

As at 14 October 2020 Moodyôs rated Mediobanca P-2 (short-term Counterparty Risk and Deposits 

Rating), Baa1 (long-term Counterparty Risk and Deposits Rating) and stable (outlook) ï see 

www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-rating/rating.html.  

 

For an explanation of the rating given by S&P please see below the S&P rating scale: 

LONG TERM  
obligations with an original maturity of more than 

one year 

SHORT TERM  

obligations with an original maturity of no more 

than one year 

Investment grade 

AAA  

The obligorôs capacity to meet its financial 

commitment on the obligation is extremely strong. 

 

AA 

Investment grade 

A-1 

The obligorôs capacity to meet its financial 

commitment on the obligation is strong. Within this 

category, certain obligations are designated with a 

plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligorôs 

capacity to meet its financial commitment on these 

obligations is extremely strong. 

http://www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-rating/rating.html
http://www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-rating/rating.html
http://www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-rating/rating.html
http://www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-rating/rating.html
http://www.mediobanca.com/en/investor-relations/financing-rating/rating.html
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The obligorôs capacity to meet its financial 

commitment on the obligation is very strong. An 

obligation rated óAAô differs from the highest-

rated obligations only to a small degree. 

A 

The obligation is somewhat more susceptible to the 

adverse effects of changes in circumstances and 

economic conditions than obligations in higher-

rated categories. However, the obligorôs capacity 

to meet its financial commitment on the obligation 

is still strong. 

BBB 

The obligation exhibits adequate protection 

parameters. However, adverse economic 

conditions or changing circumstances are more 

likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor 

to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. 

A-2 

The obligation is somewhat more susceptible to the 

adverse effects of changes in circumstances and 

economic conditions than obligations in higher 

rating categories. However, the obligorôs capacity 

to meet its financial commitment on the obligation 

is satisfactory. 

A-3 

The obligation exhibits adequate protection 

parameters. However, adverse economic conditions 

or changing circumstances are more likely to lead 

to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its 

financial commitment on the obligation. 

(Source: Standard & Poorôs) 

 

LONG TERM  
obligations with an original maturity of more than 

one year 

SHORT TERM  

obligations with an original maturity of less than 

one year 

Speculative grade 

BB 

The obligation is less vulnerable to nonpayment 

than other speculative issues. However, it faces 

major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse 

business, financial, or economic conditions which 

could lead to the obligorôs inadequate capacity to 

meet its financial commitment on the obligation. 

B 

The obligation is more vulnerable to nonpayment 

than obligations rated óBBô, but the obligor 

currently has the capacity to meet its financial 

commitment on the obligation. Adverse business, 

financial, or economic conditions will likely impair 

the obligorôs capacity or willingness to meet its 

financial commitment on the obligation. 

CCC 

The obligation is currently vulnerable to 

nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable 

business, financial, and economic conditions for 

the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the 

obligation. In the event of adverse business, 

financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is 

not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial 

Speculative grade 

B 

The obligation is regarded as having significant 

speculative characteristics. The obligor currently 

has the capacity to meet its financial commitment 

on the obligation; however, it faces major ongoing 

uncertainties which could lead to the obligorôs 

inadequate capacity to meet its financial 

commitment on the obligation. 

B -1 

The obligation is regarded as having significant 

speculative characteristics, but the obligor has a 

relatively stronger capacity to meet its financial 

commitments over the short-term compared to 

other speculative-grade obligors. 

B -2 

The obligation is regarded as having significant 

speculative characteristics, and the obligor has an 

average speculative-grade capacity to meet its 

financial commitments over the short-term 

compared to other speculative-grade obligors. 

B -3 

The obligation is regarded as having significant 
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commitment on the obligation. 

CC 

The obligation is currently highly vulnerable to 

nonpayment. 

C 

A óCô rating is assigned to obligations that are 

currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, 

obligations that have payment arrearages allowed 

by the terms of the documents, or obligations of an 

issuer that is the subject of a bankruptcy petition or 

similar action which have not experienced a 

payment default. 

D 

The obligation is in payment default. The óDô 

rating category is used when payments on an 

obligation, including a regulatory capital 

instrument, are not made on the date due even if 

the applicable grace period has not expired, unless 

Standard & Poorôs believes that such payments 

will be made during such grace period. 

speculative characteristics, and the obligor has a 

relatively weaker capacity to meet its financial 

commitments over the short-term compared to 

other speculative-grade obligors. 

C 

The obligation is currently vulnerable to 

nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable 

business, financial, and economic conditions for the 

obligor to meet its financial commitment on the 

obligation. 

D 

The obligation is in payment default. The óDô rating 

category is used when payments on an obligation, 

including a regulatory capital instrument, are not 

made on the date due even if the applicable grace 

period has not expired, unless Standard & Poorôs 

believes that such payments will be made during 

such grace period 

NB:  ratings from ñAAò to ñCCCò inclusive can be modified by adding the ñ+ò or ñ-ò minus sign to 

specify the position. 

 

For an explanation of the rating given by Fitch please see below the Fitch rating scale: 

LONG TERM  
obligations with an original maturity of more than 

one year 

SHORT TERM  

obligations with an original maturity of no more 

than one year 

Investment grade 

AAA  

Denote the lowest expectation of default risk. They 

are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong 

capacity for payment of financial commitments. 

This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely 

affected by foreseeable events. 

AA 

Denote expectations of very low default risk. They 

indicate very strong capacity for payment of 

financial commitments. This capacity is not 

significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events. 

A 

Denote expectations of low default risk. The 

capacity for payment of financial commitments is 

considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, 

be more vulnerable to adverse business or 

Investment grade 

F-1 

Indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely 

payment of financial commitments; may have an 

added ñ+ò to denote any exceptionally strong credit 

feature. 

F-2 

Good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of 

financial commitments. 

F-3 

The intrinsic capacity for timely payment of 

financial commitments is adequate. 
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economic conditions than is the case for higher 

ratings 

BBB 

Indicate that expectations of default risk are 

currently low. The capacity for payment of 

financial commitments is considered adequate but 

adverse business or economic conditions are more 

likely to impair this capacity. 

(Source: Fitch Ratings) 

 

LONG TERM  
obligations with an original maturity of more than 

one year 

SHORT TERM  

obligations with an original maturity of less than 

one year 

Speculative grade 

BB 

Indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, 

particularly in the event of adverse changes in 

business or economic conditions over time; 

however, business or financial flexibility exists 

which supports the servicing of financial 

commitments. 

B 

Indicate that material default risk is present, but a 

limited margin of safety remains. Financial 

commitments are currently being met; however, 

capacity for continued payment is vulnerable to 

deterioration in the business and economic 

environment. 

CCC 

Default is a real possibility. 

CC 

Default of some kind appears probable. 

C 

Default is imminent or inevitable, or the issuer is in 

standstill. 

RD 

Indicate an issuer that in Fitch Ratingsô opinion has 

entered into bankruptcy filings, administration, 

receivership, liquidation or other formal winding-

up procedure, or which has otherwise ceased 

business. 

Speculative grade 

B 

Minimal capacity for timely payment of financial 

commitments, plus heightened vulnerability to near 

term adverse changes in financial and economic 

conditions. 

C 

Default is a real possibility. 

RD 

Indicates an entity that has defaulted on one or 

more of its financial commitments, although it 

continues to meet other financial obligations. 

Applicable to entity ratings only. 

D 

Indicates a broad-based default event for an entity, 

or the default of a short-term obligation. 
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For an explanation of the rating given by Moody's please see below the Moody's rating scale: 

LONG TERM  
obligations with an original maturity of more than one year 

Aaa  

Obligations rated Aaa are judged to be of the highest quality, subject to the lowest level of credit risk. 

Aa 

Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.  

A  

Obligations rated A are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.  

Baa  

Obligations rated Baa are judged to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may 

possess certain speculative characteristics.  

Ba  

Obligations rated Ba are judged to be speculative and are subject to substantial credit risk.  

B  

Obligations rated B are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.  

Caa  

Obligations rated Caa are judged to be speculative of poor standing and are subject to very high credit 

risk.  

Ca  

Obligations rated Ca are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of 

recovery of principal and interest.  

C  

Obligations rated C are the lowest rated and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of 

principal or interest. 

Note: Moodyôs appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 
indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and 

the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category. Additionally, a ñ(hyb)ò indicator is appended to 

all ratings of hybrid securities issued by banks, insurers, finance companies, and securities firms. 

(Source: Moodyôs) 

S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited (formerly, Standard & Poorôs Credit Market Services Italy S.r.l.) 

(ñS&Pò), Fitch Italia S.p.A. (ñFitchò) and Moodyôs Investors Service Ltd. (ñMoodyôsò) are credit rating 

agencies which are established in the European Community and have been registered in accordance with 

Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as subsequently amended and supplemented) (the ñCRAò). As such, 

S&P, Fitch and Moodyôs are included in the latest list of credit rating agencies published by the European 

Securities and Markets Authority on its website in accordance with the CRA ï see 

www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/creditrating-agencies/risk.  

http://www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/creditrating-agencies/risk
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW   

Principal activities 

As provided in Article 3 of the companyôs Articles of Association, the purpose of the company is to raise 

funds and provide credit in any of the forms permitted, especially medium- and long-term credit to 

corporates. 

In complying with the regulatory provisions in force, the company may perform all banking, financial and 

brokerage operations and services, and any other operation instrumental or otherwise related to the 

achievement of its corporate purpose. 

The Mediobanca Groupôs are segmented as follows: 

¶ Wealth Management (WM): this division brings together all asset management activities provided 

to clients in the following segments: 

¶ Affluent & Premier, served by CheBanca!; 

¶ Private & HNWI, served in Italy by Mediobanca Private Banking, and in the Principality of 

Monaco by Compagnie Monégasque de Banque, including fiduciary activities performed by 

Spafid, Spafid Family Office SIM and Spafid Trust; 

¶ Asset Management, the principal entities in which are the product factories Cairn Capital 

(alternative AM), RAM Active Investments (alternative AM), Mediobanca Management 

Company and Mediobanca SGR. 

¶ Corporate & Investment Banking (CIB): this division brings together all services provided to 

corporate clients: 

¶ Wholesale Banking (WB): Client Business (lending, advisory, and capital market activities) and 

proprietary trading performed by Mediobanca, Mediobanca International, Mediobanca Securities 

and Messier Maris & Associés; 

¶ Specialty Finance, which comprises factoring and credit management (including acquisition and 

management of NPL portfolios) performed by MBFACTA, MB Credit Solutions and the newly-

set up MBContact Solutions. 

¶ Consumer Banking (CB): this division provides retail clients with the full range of consumer credit 

products, ranging from personal loans to salary-backed finance (Compass and Futuro). It also 

includes Compass RE, which reinsures risks linked to the insurance policies sold to clients, and the 

newly-established Compass Rent, which rents out moveable assets, in particular second-hand 

vehicles; 

¶ Principal Investing (PI): this division brings together the Groupôs portfolio of equity investments 

and holdings, including the stake in Assicurazioni Generali ; 

¶ Holding Functions: this division houses, in addition to SelmaBipiemme Leasing, MIS, Spafid 

Connect, Ricerche e Studi and Prominvestment, the Groupôs centralized cost centres, including the 

Groupôs Treasury and ALM activities (with the objective of optimizing funding and liquidity 

management on a consolidated basis, including securities held as part of the banking book), 

operations, support functions (planning and financial reporting, corporate affairs, investor relations, 
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etc.), senior company management and the control units (Risk Management, Group Audit and 

Compliance) for the share not attributable to the other business lines. 

As at 30 June 2020, Mediobanca had a market capitalization of approx. ú5.7bn. 

Consolidated financial data as at 30/6/2020 

Profit and loss 

account (úm) 

Corporate & 

Investment 

Banking 

Consumer Wealth 

Management 

Principal 

investing 

Holding 

Functions 

Total 

Net interest 

income 

271.4 948 271.0 -7.1 -55.0 1,442.2 

Total income 575.1 1,070.6 583.8 312.8 -6.9 2,513.0 

Profit before tax 275.4 438.0 113.8 297.6 -259.3 795.3 

Net profit 180.7 296.6 80.4 295.0 -183.7 600.4 

*  Source: Mediobanca audited consolidated annual financial statement as at and for the 

year ended on 30 June 2020ò 

Affluent & Premier ï CheBanca! 

Mediobanca operates in retail banking through its subsidiary CheBanca!. This subsidiary, launched in 

2008, effectively served as retail deposit gatherer for the Mediobanca Group throughout the financial 

crisis. In the last six it has developed a distribution model which is innovative, transparent and with high 

technology content, while at the same time refocusing its mission from deposit gatherer to wealth 

manager), and now has TFAs of ú27.8bn. 

Today CheBanca! is distinguished by its: 

¶ High brand recognition; 

¶ Effective, innovative multi-channel distribution (internet, 192 own branches/POS, 414 FAs and 454 

relationship managers); 

¶ Substantial customer base (approx. 880,000 clients); 

¶ Strong commercial results: ú15.3bn in deposits, ú12.5bn in AUM, and a loan book of ú10.2bn in 

mortgage lending. 

At 30 June 2020, the company employed a total of 1,430 staff. 

Private & HNWIs 

The product/service offering to clients is split between: 

¶ MB Private Banking offers private banking services through its 85 bankers and nine branch offices, 

working to help develop asset management activities and the mid-cap platform. The Mediobanca 

Private Banking product offering for high net worth clients includes portfolio management, advisory 

and financing services. Independence, operational autonomy, focus on private banking activities, and 

excellence and quality of service, are the hallmarks of a bank which has approx. ú15bn in in assets 

under management at its branches in Bergamo, Bologna, Brescia, Cesena, Florence, Genoa, Milan, 

Padua, Parma, Rome, Turin and Treviso. 

¶ Compagnie Monégasque de Banque ("CMB") is 100%-owned by Mediobanca. Compagnie 

Monégasque de Banque, a market leader in the private banking sector in the Principality of Monaco, 

has assets under management of approximately ú11bn. Its geographical position, indepth knowledge 
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of markets and absolute independence make it a player of primary importance, able to provide 

exclusive services to its clientèle, ranging from loans to asset management. 

¶ Spafid, 100%-owned by Mediobanca, this company provides fiduciary administration services for 

equity investments, stock market investments and fiduciary services for issuers. 

MB Asset Management 

The product factories forming part of the Wealth Management division include Cairn Capital, RAM 

Active Investments and MB SGR. 

¶ Cairn Capital, a 51% stake in which was completed in December 2015 (the percentage stake 

currently owned is 70.9%1), is an asset manager and advisor based in London, specializing in credit 

products. 

¶ RAM A ctive Investments, a 69% stake in which was acquired in March 2018, is one of the leading 

European systematic asset managers, offering alternative funds to a vast range of institutional and 

professional investors.  

¶ Mediobanca SGR, set up in 2017 following the merger of Banca Esperia into Mediobanca S.p.A., 

plays a key role in defining investment strategies and developing innovative products.  

Consumer Credit ï Compass Banca (Compass) 

Mediobanca has operated in the consumer credit sector since the 1960s through its subsidiary Compass. 

Compass today is one of the leading consumer credit operators on the Italian market, with a market share 

of approx. 12%. 

Compass offers a wide range of products (personal loans, special purpose loans for acquisition of 

consumer durable goods, credit cards and salary-backed finance), using a highly diversified distribution 

network consisting of 172 own branches, branches run by agents (41) and Compass Quinto branches (48), 

distribution agreements with banking partners and retailers (including BancoPosta). 

In the financial year ended 30 June 2020, Compass reported a loan book of approx. ú13bn and a 

headcount of 1,441 staff. 

Wholesale Banking 

Mediobanca seeks to provide its corporate clients with advisory services and financial services to help 

them grow and develop. 

The Wholesale Banking division consists of two divisions of its own: Client Business and Proprietary 

Trading. 

The Wholesale Banking Client Business division comprises three units: Corporate Finance, Lending and 

Structured Finance, and Capital Markets. 

. 

1. Corporate finance 

Mediobanca is a leader in Italy, and has an increasingly significant role at the European level in financial 

advisory services through its branch offices in London, Paris, Frankfurt and Madrid, and through Messier 

                                                           
1  In December 2019, Cairn Capital Group Limited implemented a capital increase, in which Mediobanca subscribed to the amount allocated to it pro rata, and also the 

rights not taken up by the other shareholders. As a result, the Bankôs investment in Cairn Capital increased to 63.5%, and certain call options were exercised, further 

increasing its investment to 70.93%. 
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Maris & Associés, in which it holds a 66.4% stake. A client-based approach is adopted, backed by 

indepth knowledge of the financial issues and a consolidated track record in executing deals. The 

operating unit is organized into different industry teams covering individual industries to provide more 

effective specialization. 

Corporate finance is structured into the following activities: 

¶ Defining strategic objectives for companies and identifying extraordinary financing transactions in 

order to help meet them; 

¶ Extraordinary financing transactions: mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and partnerships, 

disposals and spinoffs; 

¶ Liability restructuring: earnings/financial analysis of companies/groups undergoing restructuring; 

working out financial rebalancing scenarios; negotiating with key creditors; 

¶ Corporate restructuring: LBOs, MBOs, spinoffs and tax-/inheritance-related issues; 

¶ Company valuations, on a standalone basis and for purposes of setting exchange ratios; 

¶ Relations with authorities: assistance in handling relations with market authorities, primarily Consob 

and Borsa Italiana. 

Messier Maris & Associés 

Founded at year-end 2010, Messier Maris & Associés is today one of the leading corporate finance 

boutiques in France, with a loyal customer base at international as well as domestic level. 

MMA specializes in M&A advisory services to large and medium-sized companies and financial 

sponsorsô activity. The company also has operations in debt and capital advisory and debt restructuring. It 

is headquartered in Paris, with offices in New York, and currently employs around 40 professionals. 

2. Lending & Structured Finance 

The Financing teams serve Mediobancaôs Italian and international customers, through the branch offices 

located in Paris, Frankfurt, London and Madrid, to offer: 

¶ Advice in evaluating possible capital structures and financing solutions available from among a vast 

series of debt products, including considering possible implications in terms of rating; 

¶ Structuring and executing lending transactions; 

¶ Access to the international syndicated loans market; 

¶ Facility and security agent services for corporate and structured lending transactions. 

The principal Lending & Structured Finance area products are: 

¶ Corporate lending (bilateral loans, club deals and syndicated loans): corporate loans aimed at 

supporting customersô financial requirements generated by investments or related to their companiesô 

growth; the financial solutions offered are aimed primarily at medium-/large-sized firms operating on 

domestic and international markets, in industrial and service-based sectors. 
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¶ Structured finance (acquisition finance, loans for LBOs/MBOs, project finance, infrastructure 

finance, real estate finance): financial support to corporate counterparties and institutional investors 

as part of leveraged transactions to acquire stakes in listed and unlisted companies; a wide range of 

lending transactions are developed, arranged, structured, underwritten and executed based on 

complex structures, and because of their size these are often syndicated on the international market. 

On the back of its solid track record in various sectors, customers are provided with advisory services 

covering the entire process of structuring deals to support investment and infrastructure or industrial 

projects, including offering strategies, selection of the most effective debt instruments, hedging 

strategies, financial modelling and structuring contracts. 

Mediobanca International 

Mediobanca Internationalôs business is focused primarily on corporate lending (bilateral loans, club deals, 

and syndicated loans) and structured finance (acquisition finance, LBOs/MBOs, project finance, 

infrastructure finance and real estate finance). These activities are financed through funds raised on 

International markets by specific programmes of issuance (notes, structured notes, certificates, warrants, 

European tradable commercial paper, Euro commercial paper, etc.), short-term and medium-term, the 

majority of which are guaranteed by Mediobanca S.p.A. 

3. Capital Markets 

Mediobanca operates on both the primary and secondary markets, trading equities and fixed-income 

securities, foreign exchange products and credit risk, interest rate and exchange rate derivatives. 

In the equity market (primary and secondary), activity is divided into the following areas: 

¶ Equity capital markets: Mediobanca is the Italian leader and has a role of increasing importance 

internationally in structuring, co-ordinating and executing equity capital markets transactions, such as 

IPOs, rights issues, secondary offerings and ABOs, and bonds convertible into equity solutions 

(equity derivatives to manage investments and treasury shares): this unit structures and implements 

extraordinary financing transactions involving equity investments and treasury shares; using a 

dedicated trading platform, the team offers customers innovative, high value-added solutions, and 

also handles any legal, accounting, tax and regulatory issues; 

¶ Equity derivatives institutional marketing: a range of equity-linked investments are offered to 

banks, insurances, asset managers and family offices, from synthetic replications of simple 

underlying assets to sophisticated protection mechanisms and solutions for increasing the return on 

portfolios, funded or unfunded; 

¶ MB Securities: this is Mediobancaôs equity brokerage division, offering global access to equity 

markets and research on the Italian market (over 100 companies are covered), plus a pan-European 

focus on the financials sector (banks and insurances); a dedicated team also offers corporate broking 

services. 

As for the debt market, the activity is divided into the following areas of operation: 

¶ Debt capital market: this team originates, structures, executes and places corporate and financial 

bond issues, covered bonds and securitizations to meet its customersô financing needs; 

¶ CMS: this area structures solutions based on interest rates, credit and alternative products; it targets 

corporate clients, banks and institutional investors who need to restructure their investment 

portfolios, increase asset liquidity and diversify their sources of funding. Advisory services and 

structuring ad hoc solutions for alternative investments targets institutional investors; 
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4. Proprietary trading 

Proprietary trading: consists of two units: 

¶ Trading portfolio (HFT Credit, HFT Fixed income, xVA, Globa l Macro) : this unit is responsible 

for the bond trading portfolio and for centralized management of cross value adjustments, supporting 

both the strategic portfolio & ALM and the Group companies; 

¶ Equity & Derivatives Trading : this unit is responsible for the Bankôs trading activities in various 

equity market products (equities and derivatives products). 

5. Specialty Finance 

Our Specialty Finance activities include managing and financing credit and working capital. We have 

operations in factoring with MBFACTA and in the credit management sector with MBCredit Solutions. 

¶ MBCredit Solutions has for many years performed credit recovery activities (on behalf of the Group 

companies and third parties) and NPL portfolio acquisitions. 

¶ MBFACTA  provides trade receivables sale and discount services (with and without recourse, 

maturity, supply credit) to refinance corporate working capital. As well as the financial benefits, this 

service can also include an insurance component (guarantee against insolvency or delays in 

payments) and/or a management component (portfolio management, accounting, collection and 

recovery). The factoring platformôs factoring offering is tailored specifically to developing the Mid 

Corporate segment in synergy with the other services offered by CIB to this category of firm. 

Principal investing 

Mediobanca has an equity portfolio of investments made over time, consisting of minority stakes in 

leading Italian and international companies, most of which are listed. As a result of the recent 

introduction of tighter regulations on regulatory capital and the Bankôs desire to concentrate more on 

highly-specialized banking activities, this portfolio of investments is in the process of being reduced. The 

Bankôs investment in Assicurazioni Generali is assigned to the Principal Investing division, in view of its 

size and the value option which the investment represents for the Group in terms of available, liquid 

resources that can be activated in the event of growth acquisitions materializing. 

Company Sector % of share capital Book value as at 

30/6/20 

   úm 

Assicurazioni 

Generali 
Insurance 12.9% 3,163.4 

 

Leasing 

Mediobanca owns a direct 60% stake in SelmaBipiemme Leasing, with the other 40% held by the Banca 

Popolare di Milano. The group operates in financial leasing. 

Treasury 

The Groupôs Treasury and ALM units are centralized at parent company level with the objective of 

optimizing funding and liquidity management. The Proprietary Funding division is responsible for 

structuring, issuing and placing debt products, the proceeds from which are used to finance the Bankôs 

activities. Funding operations, supported by Mediobancaôs high credit rating, take the form primarily of 
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the issuance of securities, both plain vanilla and structured. Securities are placed with retail investors 

through public offerings (implemented via the CheBanca! proprietary network, through individual third-

party banking networks ï including BancoPosta ï either on an exclusive basis or via groups of banks 

operating as syndicates), and direct sales on the MOT bond market operated by Borsa Italiana. Demand 

from institutional investors is met via public offerings of securities on the Euromarket and by private 

placements of bespoke products tailored to meet the investorôs specific requirements. 

 

New products or new activities 

Without prejudice to the contents hereof (section 5.1), no significant new products and/or services have 

been introduced that are worth being recorded or disclosed publicly. 

 

Principal markets 

The Mediobanca Groupôs activities are principally focused on the domestic market (from a geographical 

standpoint Italy accounts for approx. 80% of the Groupôs loan book). In particular: 

¶ Corporate & Investment Banking (CIB): half the revenues and loan book for this division is 

originated by the Italian market, the other half by other countries (notably France, Germany, Spain 

and the United Kingdom): the division employs some 630 staff, around 155 of whom are based 

outside Italy; 

¶ Consumer Banking: activities focus exclusively on the Italian market, and employ approx. 1,441 

staff at 261 branches/agencies; 

¶ Wealth Management (WM): this divisionôs activity is focused primarily on the Italian market, with 

the exception of CMB (which operates in the Principality of Monaco), RAM AI (which operates 

throughout Europe from its headquarters in Switzerland), and Cairn Capital (which operates in the 

United Kingdom); and employs 2,021 staff, with approx. 1,000 FAs/relationship managers, and 117 

branches; 

¶ Leasing activities chiefly target the domestic market. 

With reference to other markets, on 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom officially withdrew from the 

European Union, whose effectiveness is suspended until 31 December 2020. During the transitional 

period, Mediobanca will continue to implement the plan to adapt to the new scenario which, in 

accordance with the recommendations provided by the European Central Bank and in light of the Group's 

relatively contained activity in the UK (approximately 3% of total revenues), envisages the return to the 

EU territory (mainly in the Milan, Paris and Madrid offices) of 15 employees belonging to front office 

functions, including key figures. The Group will continue to operate in Great Britain through the 

subsidiary of Mediobanca S.p.A. (based on a different authorization regime) and the subsidiary Cairn 

Capital, subject to further changes that may arise in the course of negotiations, which are continuously 

monitored by an internal working group within the Issuer in collaboration with the competent Supervisory 

Authorities. 
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE  

Description of organizational structure of group headed up by Mediobanca 

Mediobanca is the parent company of the Mediobanca Banking Group.  

The Mediobanca Group is registered as a banking group in the register instituted by the Bank of Italy. 

The following diagram illustrates the structure of the Mediobanca Group as at the date hereof. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Subsidiaries and main investee companies 






















































































































































































